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Building for the future



Our purpose

We are dedicated 
to securing 
the future for 
every one of our 
policyholders.

Rothesay refers to Rothesay Limited and its subsidiaries, together, the Group.

This document does not constitute or form part of, and should not be construed as, an offer for sale or subscription of, or solicitation of any offer or invitation or advice 
or recommendation to subscribe for, underwrite or otherwise acquire or dispose of any securities (including share options and debt instruments) of Rothesay Limited (the 
Company) nor any other body corporate nor should it or any part of it form the basis of, or be relied on in connection with, any contract or commitment whatsoever which 
may at any time be entered into by the recipient or any other person, nor does it constitute an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity under Section 21 
of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA). This document does not constitute an invitation to effect any transaction with the Company or to make use of any 
services provided by the Company. Forward-looking statements contained in this document involve risk and uncertainty as they depend on circumstances that may or may 
not occur and the Company expressly disclaims any obligations or undertakings to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained 
in this document. Past performance cannot be relied on as a guide to future performance. 
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 Insurance 
company 
acquisitions

 Back book 
acquisitions

 Pension buy-in/
buy-out

9%

30%61% £39.2bn
Net insurance liabilities

 Government 
securities and 
cash

 Corporate bonds 
and infrastructure

 Secured bonds 
and mortgages

35%

34%

31%

£47.3bn
Assets under management

Securing pension annuities from  
pension schemes and other insurers 

Backed by high quality investments 
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Who we are
Rothesay is the UK’s largest specialist pensions  
insurer, purpose-built to protect pension schemes 
and their members’ pensions. Our singular focus is 
to secure pension annuities for the future, providing 
certainty as well as genuine service excellence for wall 
our policyholders.

Our careful approach to investment and prudent 
underwriting mean we are trusted by the pension 
schemes of some of the UK’s best known companies 
to provide pension solutions, including Asda, British 
Airways, Cadbury, the Civil Aviation Authority, 
the Co-operative Bank, William Hill, National Grid, 
Morrisons, Post Office and telent.

Underpinned by sophisticated risk management, 
our expert in-house investment team is continually 
developing new ways to drive predictable, dependable 
returns that reduce risk and create real security.

Today, we manage over £47bn in assets, secure the 
pensions of over 825,000 people, and pay out, on
average, over £200m in pension payments each 
month. We are securing the future for every one of
our clients and policyholders, and providing value to 
our shareholders over the long term.

Purpose-built to protect 
pension schemes and 
their members’ pensions
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Gold 
standard
Re-accredited with the Gold 
standard by the Pensions 
Administration Standards 

Association.

2022 
awards

Insurance Company of the 
Year at the Insurance Asset 
Management Awards and 
Pensions Insurance Firm of  

the Year from European 
Pensions Awards. 

7% 
reduction
Second annual Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) 
report shows a 7% reduction  

in the carbon intensity of  
Rothesay’s investment  

portfolio.

Over 
£8bn 

Invested over £8bn of assets 
according to our long-term 

investment strategy including 
new lifetime mortgages of 

£1.6bn.

£6.4bn 

Market consistent embedded 
value (MCEV) APM of £6.4bn 

(2021: £7.1bn) as gains from new 
business and operating profits 

were more than offset by  
the impact of credit spread 

widening and rising  
long-term interest  

rates.

255% 

Solvency capital requirement 
(SCR) APM coverage of 255% 
(269% on a pro forma basis1) 

(2021: 226%), giving us significant 
capital for future growth 

opportunities.

2022 performance

£3.3bn 

New business premiums 
of £3.3bn (2021: £3.0bn). We  

are also exclusive on a further 
£4.4bn of business.

£170m
Record operating profit APM 
of £1,016m (2021: £904m). 

IFRS profit before tax of 
£170m (2021: £913m).

A2 
rating

Upgraded to A2  
by Moody’s Investors 

Service. 

1  In order to provide flexibility in transitioning assets to our long-term investment strategy, some Matching Adjustment eligible new business was 
written into the non-Matching Adjustment fund. Adjusting for this on a pro forma basis would increase solvency coverage from 255% to 269%.



2020: £2.8bn

2020: 847,839

2022: £2.9bn

2022: 825,466

2021: £3.0bn

2021: £2.9bn

2021: 837,721

2020: £7.0bn

2022: £3.3bn
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£3.3bn

£2.9bn

825,466

New business  
premium (APM)1

Paid to policyholders 
in the year 

Number of policies

Performance at a glance

1 (APM) – Alternative Performance Measure; please see page 32 
for further details.



2020: 201%

2020: 95% 2020: £1,469m

2020: £576m

2020: 87%

2022: 255%

2022: 95% 2022: 

2022: £239m

2022: 89%

2022: £6.4bn

2022: £47.3bn

2021: £7.1bn

2021: £62.5bn

2020: £7.0bn

2020: £62.0bn

2021: 226%

2021: 94% 2021: £913m

2021: £243m

2021: 84%

£170m
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255% 89%

95% £170m

£6.4bn

£47.3bn

£239m

Longevity reinsured 
(APM)

Group solvency capital requirement 
(SCR) coverage (APM)

IFRS profit before tax

Market consistent embedded 
value (APM)

Assets under management 
(APM)

MCEV new business profit (APM)

Customer satisfaction  
(APM)

A glossary of terms used can be found on page 194.



 

 

Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 20226

Section

1
Strategic 
Report
Chairman’s statement 8
Q&A with the Chief Executive Officer 10
Chief Executive’s statement 12
Our markets 16
Our business model 18
Why we are successful 20
Our investments 22
Our strategy and KPIs: Measuring progress 26
Financial review 30
Risk management 42
Introduction 54
The environment 55
Our customers 66
Pension trustees 70
Our strategic business partners 71
Our people 72
The community 76
Summer cheer and winter warming 79
Stakeholder engagement 80
Supporting the future of British tennis  84



 

 

7Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 2022

Every decision that we make is informed by 
our cautious approach to risk management, 

conservative investment philosophy and 
sophisticated technology platform. We challenge 
ourselves to think originally and creatively so that 

our business model is best placed to meet the 
needs of our clients and policyholders.
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Financial resilience in 
the face of challenging 

conditions.
Naguib Kheraj

Chairman
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Our Chairman reflects on 2022

2022 proved to be another 
year of good overall 
progress for Rothesay, 
despite extremely volatile 
and challenging market 
conditions.
During 2022 we saw a lifting of the UK Government’s 
COVID-19 restrictions and the slow return to more 
normal conditions. Like most organisations, we have 
implemented a degree of flexibility for staff to work 
from home, but the vast majority of employees are 
now back in the office most of the time. Being together 
in the office has had a positive impact on morale 
and cross team collaboration which is an important 
contributor to our success as a business. 

Whilst the pandemic pressures eased, markets 
were extremely turbulent. The impact of the war in 
Ukraine has resulted in significant global inflationary 
pressures; as central banks started to tighten 
monetary conditions and raise interest rates and 
geopolitical events affected global markets, equity, 
bond and currency markets were very volatile. In the 
UK, there were extreme movements in markets in 
response to changes in fiscal policy in the second half 
of the year. Many UK pension schemes faced liquidity 
pressures as rates rose and their leveraged inflation-
linked investment strategies required them to make 
substantial margin calls. 

As a business, Rothesay is designed to protect 
pensions through even the most difficult times and this 
year’s economic conditions have again shown the value 
of Rothesay’s robust risk management framework and 
our purpose-built risk management systems. We were 
able to manage through the volatile market conditions 
without major strain on our liquidity position and were 
able to invest assets at attractive levels.

We have maintained our disciplined approach to 
new business, remaining patient in a competitive 
environment. New business activity led to us taking 
on a further £3.3bn of liabilities in 2022 with a further 
£4.4bn of business under exclusivity going into 2023. 
The rise in interest rates has improved the funding 
position of many pension schemes; as a consequence 
the level of interest we are seeing in pursuing risk 
transfers to the insurance sector is at an all time high. 

We ended the year with a strong capital position, with 
SCR coverage of 255% (2021: 226%), substantially 
above our normal target range. This means that we are 
well positioned for the significant pension risk transfer 
opportunities anticipated for 2023 and beyond. 
 
Our own operations are carbon neutral and, as a 
member of the UN-convened Net-Zero Asset Owner 
Alliance (NZAOA), we are focused on reducing the 
carbon intensity of our investment portfolio. Over the 
last year, the carbon intensity of our publicly traded 
corporate debt fell by 17% and by 7% over the portfolio 
as a whole. We also continued to allocate capital to the 
Rothesay Foundation as a means to channel a portion 
of our earnings to support important and relevant 
charitable and community endeavours.

In September 2022, Rothesay’s Founder and Chief 
Executive Officer, Addy Loudiadis retired after 
fifteen years leading the business. Addy has built an 
exceptional business over this period and put in place 
a strong management team. There was a seamless 
transition to appoint Tom Pearce as Chief Executive 
Officer; Tom was a co-founder of the business and 
this was a succession plan that had been anticipated. 
I am pleased to say that Addy has agreed to continue 
to serve on the Board as Founder Director and so the 
Company will continue to benefit from her wise counsel. 

In June 2022, Ray King stepped down from the Board. 
Ray joined the Board in April 2014 and chaired Rothesay 
from January 2016 to December 2017. During his 
time with Rothesay, Ray has also chaired the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. On 30 June 2022, Jane Hanson 
CBE also stepped down from the Board. I thank both 
for their contribution whilst at Rothesay. Jackie Hunt 
and Angela Darlington were appointed to the Board as 
independent Non-Executive Directors in July and August 
2022 respectively. They bring extensive and relevant 
experience as well as complementary skills to the Board. 
The Board’s gender balance is also improved.

With the CEO transition completed, our significant 
financial resources and strong backing from our 
two long-term oriented institutional shareholders, 
Rothesay is well positioned for the future and we look 
forward to continuing to develop our business as one 
of the leading firms in the pension risk transfer sector.

Naguib Kheraj 
Chairman
10 February 2023
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Q&A

2022 was a turbulent year economically and 
politically for the UK. What did that mean 
for Rothesay?

It’s true that we have seen a lot of turbulence in the 
financial markets throughout the past year, but, as a 
business, Rothesay is very well equipped to handle 
these types of events. 

I became CEO in early September and just over two 
weeks later the UK Chancellor announced the ‘mini-
budget’. The economic effects of that moment were 
very significant and wide-ranging, particularly in the 
UK’s sovereign debt markets.

Since Rothesay was founded, we have been obsessive 
about managing risk. In practice, what that’s meant is 
that from day one we have invested very significantly 
in our risk management infrastructure, including our 
technology systems. This allows us to regularly stress 
test a wide range of possible scenarios and to see how 
external events impact us in real time on all our financial 
metrics including liquidity. By running these scenarios 
we ensure that we always hold substantial liquidity 
buffers along with maintaining appropriate solvency.

As a result, Rothesay came through the economic 
turbulence of the last year with liquidity buffers intact 
and solvency stronger than ever. 

It’s why we like to say we are a business which is 
purpose-built to protect pensions. We built our risk 
management systems from the very beginning to 
ensure we can protect policyholders’ pensions, even in 
the most difficult economic times.

You founded Rothesay with Addy Loudiadis, 
Rothesay’s former CEO, who now sits on the Board 
as Founder Director. How will your strategy for the 
business develop in the years ahead?

The business which Addy created and led for over 
fifteen years is really something special. We have 
delivered exceptional growth while focusing on 
effective risk management. I see my job as carrying 
forward this great work, continuing to support and 
develop all aspects of the business.

So, this means ensuring we continue to invest in 
best-in-class asset origination, risk management 
and policyholder service capabilities and also that 
we continue to invest in our people and our unique 
culture. We have always prided ourselves on our 
innovative and collaborative mindset and we know that 
this, along with creating a culture which values and 
celebrates diversity in all its forms, is one of Rothesay’s 
key strengths and essential to our continued success 
and long-term growth.

On a personal note, Addy has always been an 
inspiration to me and it’s a huge asset to us that, in her 
new role on the Board, we will continue to benefit from 
her unparalleled insight and expertise.

Tom Pearce
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Good results and 
substantial capital mean 

that we are well positioned 
for growth opportunities.

Tom Pearce 
Chief Executive Officer

What are your growth ambitions for the business 
going forward?

I think it’s fair to say that the momentum within 
the bulk annuity market has never been greater. 
Improved funding levels driven by the rising interest 
rates environment are making de-risking increasingly 
affordable for pension schemes, meaning we 
are engaged in some very exciting new business 
opportunities now and see a buoyant pipeline for  
the future.

The opportunity in our sector is substantial and I 
am optimistic that given our solvency position, our 
supportive long-term strategic shareholders and our 
track record of delivering on our commitments, we will 
be successful in doubling the size of the business over 
the next few years.

Over the past year, what are you most proud of?

I’ve already touched on our strong performance during 
the turbulence in the financial markets this year, which 
really demonstrated the value of our purpose-built 
risk management systems and focus on operational 
excellence across the business.

I’m also incredibly proud of what the Rothesay 
Foundation achieved over the Summer. As a still 
relatively new charity, it managed to move at scale 
and pace to launch the ‘Summer Cheer’ campaign, 
achieving a really positive programme of support – 
and one that we intend to build on – for over 80,000 
pensioners living in poverty in the UK. 
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Our strong capital position 
means we are well-placed 

in a pension de-risking 
market which has never 

been more buoyant.

Tom Pearce
Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Executive's statement

New business  
premium (APM):

£3.3bn
2021: £3.0bn

Rothesay SCR  
coverage (APM):

255%
2021: 226%

It is a huge privilege to 
become Rothesay’s new CEO 
following Addy Loudiadis’ 
outstanding leadership of 
the business over the past 
fifteen years. 
I am proud of the business Rothesay is today: the 
leading specialist insurer in the market and as 
relentlessly focused on excellence as when we first 
started. Every day, we remain committed to performing 
to the highest standards for our policyholders, 
shareholders and colleagues. On a personal note, Addy 
has been a huge inspiration to me along with so many 
others in our industry and I look forward to continuing 
to benefit from her insight and expertise as we build 
on our success to date and deliver on our ambitions for 
the business in the years ahead.

The last 12 months have seen extraordinary turbulence 
in financial markets as a result of Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine, the lasting economic impact of COVID-19, 
the cost of living crisis and the instability caused by 
the UK’s mini-budget. Volatile markets have been 
accompanied by significant increases in interest rates 
and inflation, substantial movements in UK sovereign 
debt and credit spread widening.

As a business, Rothesay is designed to protect 
pensions through even the most difficult times. 
Current market conditions are demonstrating once 
again the value of our purpose-built risk management 
systems and focus on operational excellence. Regular 
stress testing and live monitoring of the financial and 
solvency position of Rothesay allows us to respond 
dynamically as the market evolves, ensuring that we 
ended the year with a very robust SCR coverage ratio 
of 255% (2021: 226%), substantially above our target 
operating range. Rothesay was not directly impacted 
by the Liability Driven Investment (LDI) crisis and our 
focus on liquidity risk management meant that our 
liquidity position remained robust throughout the 
market turmoil of 2022. 

During 2022, we assisted nine pension schemes to 
de-risk, generating £3.3bn of new business premiums 
(2021: £3.0bn) and new business embedded value 
of £239m (2021: £243m). We are also exclusive on a 
further £4.4bn of new business.

We were delighted to see our performance recognised 
in the European Pensions Awards 2022, where we were 
named Pensions Insurance Firm of the Year, and in the 
Insurance Asset Management Awards 2022, where we 
were awarded Insurance Company of the Year.

During 2021, we decided that we would start to 
undertake pension buy-in administration in house, 
rather than outsourcing this activity, and we are 
now doing the work in-house for ten schemes. Good 
progress is also being made on the development of 
Rothesay’s technology platform.

In 2022, we opened new offices in New York to 
accommodate the expansion of Rothesay Asset 
Management North America (formerly known as 
Rothesay Asset Management US) as well as opening 
an office in Sydney for Rothesay Asset Management 
Australia. Having a presence in those markets is 
important in helping us to build an internationally-
diversified investment portfolio.
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Group performance 
The significant rise in long-term interest rates resulted 
in large movements in both assets and liabilities. Close 
duration matching means that assets and insurance 
liabilities fell in tandem, with the Group’s assets under 
management reducing to £47.3bn (2021: £62.5bn) 
and insurance liabilities reducing by a similar amount 
to £38.1bn (2021: £54.0bn).

Throughout the year, we invested new business 
premiums received in prior periods according to our 
long-term strategy and in line with our underwriting 
targets. When we underwrite new business, we 
assume it will take time to invest the premiums and 
this allows us to be patient in making investments. The 
IFRS profits generated from investment allowed us to 
generate record operating profits of £1,016m (2021: 
£904m). These profits were then largely offset by the 
impact of credit spread widening and the increase in 
long-term interest rates to give IFRS pre-tax profits of 
£170m (2021: £913m).

More details on our IFRS performance can be found in 
the financial review on page 30.

Risk and capital management
As noted above, 2022 has seen very volatile markets 
and rapidly increasing real interest rates. The duration 
of our liabilities means that Rothesay’s assets and 
liabilities are particularly sensitive to long-term interest 
rates and our sophisticated risk management systems 
again proved vital in managing this and responding 
quickly to a challenging economic environment. 

Our investment portfolio is focused on highly rated 
assets, many of which benefit from high quality 
collateral. We have no direct exposure to Russia or 
Ukraine. The quality of our investment portfolio, 
combined with active monitoring and management of 
our credit portfolio, means that we continue to be well 
positioned to withstand adverse market conditions. 

Given the significant increase in interest rates, 
MCEV fell to £6.4bn (2021: £7.1bn) despite the MCEV 
generated from new business and other operating 
profits. Rothesay’s risk management strategy is 
designed to protect both Rothesay’s solvency position 
and the MCEV of the business. This is achieved by 
balancing assets and liabilities such that as interest 
rates rise, the solvency position improves and the 
MCEV falls. The surplus capital generated can then be 
used to write new business to restore the MCEV. In 
2022, the strategy operated as intended so although 
the MCEV fell, significant additional surplus was 
generated which will support further new business and 
leading to an SCR coverage ratio of 255% (2021: 226%).

Rothesay’s strong and long-term focus on the Group’s 
liquidity, as well as its solvency, has proved essential 
over 2022, with the Group’s liquidity position remaining 
robust throughout the ongoing market turmoil seen, 
particularly in the second half of the year.

Rothesay’s SCR is currently calculated using a partial 
internal model (PIM) but we have now made an 
application to use a full internal model (FIM), extending 
the PIM to cover the risk components not covered 
by the PIM. We will start using the FIM once we 
have received approval to do so from the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA). 

We continue to hedge market and longevity risk 
exposures and benefit from robust collateral 
arrangements which mitigate counterparty risk. 
We entered into five new longevity reinsurance 
agreements in 2022, as a result of which we have now 
reinsured 89% of our longevity exposure (2021: 84%).

Solvency and accounting reform
In November 2022, HM Treasury announced the 
introduction of the new Solvency UK regime which is, 
in part, designed to facilitate increased investment 
in UK infrastructure and clean energy. The details 
of the reforms have not yet been finalised so they 
are unlikely to be implemented until 2024. Had the 
reforms been implemented as at 31 December 2022 
then we estimate that our solvency coverage ratio 
would have increased by around 17% after allowing for 
recalculation of transitional solvency relief (see Capital 
Management section).

Rothesay has spent a considerable amount of time 
and effort preparing for the implementation of IFRS 
17, the accounting standard for insurance contracts, 
from 1 January 2023. The implementation of IFRS 17 
is expected to lead to a significant reduction in total 
equity and lower restated comparative profits for 2022 
because under IFRS 17 the release of profit is spread 
over the lifetime of the contract and this change is 
applied retrospectively to business that was written 
in the past. To mitigate the reduction in retained 
earnings at transition, the Board approved a capital 
reorganisation resulting in a reduction of £1.0bn in 
share premium and a corresponding increase in the 
profit and loss reserve. Following the introduction of 
IFRS 17, we expect that our ability to pay dividends will 
continue to be driven by our solvency balance sheet.

Chief Executive’s statement continued
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Our policyholders
Providing over 825,000 policyholders with a safe and 
secure pension is at the heart of what we do. We pride 
ourselves on the level of service we provide and I am 
pleased to say that we maintained our high service 
standards during the period despite continuing 
hybrid working, with over 95% (APM) (2021: 94%) of 
customers rating the quality of service received as 
good or excellent.

I am also pleased to say that in January 2022, the 
Pensions Administration Standards Association (PASA) 
confirmed our re-accreditation. PASA promotes and 
improves the quality of pensions administration services 
for UK pension schemes. Our continued Gold standard 
accreditation demonstrates Rothesay’s ongoing 
commitment to delivering outstanding service.

Our people
Our people are a key strength of Rothesay and we 
were happy to welcome staff back to the office post the 
COVID-19 pandemic once it was safe to do so. Taking 
the time to reconnect in person and being able to 
meet together and collaborate is invaluable, facilitating 
creativity and learning, and enhancing our culture.

During 2022, we continued to recruit, particularly to 
strengthen our control functions in line with our planned 
growth and to support the continuing development 
of our technology platform. We were also pleased to 
welcome a new Chief People Officer, Monique Brown, 
and a new General Counsel, Lorna Tennent.

Environmental, social and governance matters 
Rothesay is determined to play its part in combatting 
climate change and global warming. Our own 
operations are now carbon neutral (as certified by The 
CarbonNeutral Protocol) and we are making progress 
in reducing the carbon intensity of our investment 
portfolio. We have committed to reducing the carbon 
intensity of our portfolio by 20% in the five-year period 
to 2025 and have achieved a 7% reduction so far.

For more information, see our 2021 Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report, which is available on 
the Rothesay Limited website.

LTA partnership
During 2022, Rothesay became the exclusive pensions 
partner to the LTA, the national governing body of 
tennis for Great Britain, supporting the future of British 
tennis and helping to open up tennis to more people 
of any age, ability and background. Rothesay is now 
the title sponsor of the Rothesay Summer Series: 
the Rothesay Open Nottingham, Rothesay Classic 
Birmingham and Rothesay International Eastbourne.

Charitable donations
The conflict in Ukraine is deeply concerning for us all. 
In response, Rothesay made a donation of £500,000 
to the International Committee of the Red Cross. In 
addition, we are encouraging our people to make 
monetary donations to support the relief effort in 
Ukraine, by matching donations on a 3-to-1 basis.

The cost of living crisis is affecting large numbers 
of pensioners throughout the UK. In response, the 
Rothesay Foundation partnered with Iceland Foods 
to launch the ‘Summer Cheer’ campaign, giving 
£2m worth of vouchers to pensioners in need to 
spend on food and other essentials. The campaign 
supported over 80,000 pensioners with a £30 voucher 
and also provided them with Age UK’s information 
guide on financial advice following research showing 
that, despite record levels of poverty, over 770,000 
pensioner households are still missing out on pension 
credit payments.

Looking forward
Our risk management strategy has performed robustly 
in turbulent financial markets, securing and supporting 
our very strong capital position. Improved pension 
scheme funding levels driven by the rising interest 
rates environment are making de-risking increasingly 
affordable for pension schemes and many scheme 
sponsors are reconsidering the benefit of pension de-
risking in the light of recent market turbulence. This 
is creating some exciting new business opportunities 
and a very substantial new business pipeline. We 
are fortunate in having two long-term, supportive 
shareholders and this, combined with our disciplined 
approach to underwriting, our track record of 
executing large complex transactions, our patient and 
innovative investment strategy and our robust financial 
position, means that we are in a strong position to take 
advantage of the growth opportunities we can see. 

I am confident as we look to the year ahead that 
Rothesay will continue to build on its significant growth 
over the past fifteen years, delivering market-leading 
transactions while providing pension security for our 
policyholders and value to our shareholders over the 
long term.

Tom Pearce
Chief Executive Officer
10 February 2023
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Our markets

1. Pension risk transfer
Rothesay’s core market is expected to grow 
strongly
Rothesay’s core market is in pension risk transfer. 
Almost 90% of UK defined benefit pension schemes are 
now closed and such benefits are no longer offered to 
new employees. This means companies and trustees 
want to de-risk their pension scheme liabilities. This is 
where we step in, either with a buy-in or buy-out.

The turmoil in financial markets in the second half 
of 2022 has highlighted the ongoing risk to pension 
scheme sponsors of running a pension scheme. 
More and more schemes are looking at buy-out as 
the end goal and rising interest rates, contributions 
from sponsors, liability management and the run-
off of closed schemes means that this is increasingly 
affordable for them. As a result, the pipeline is looking 
strong, with commentators suggesting that the next 
few years could see pension risk transfer volumes of 
up to £50bn a year.

We will remain disciplined when underwriting to 
ensure that returns on new business are appropriate 
but with such a strong pipeline, we are optimistic 
about likely future new business volumes.

Securing UK pension schemes
For many of our clients, pension scheme protection  
is a two-step process, starting with bespoke insurance, 
leading to a complete transfer of members into  
our care.

Buy-in
Bespoke insurance to bring 

immediate financial security to 
pension schemes.

In a buy-in, the scheme purchases a bulk 
annuity insurance policy which is held as an 

asset of the scheme.

This makes Rothesay responsible for the 
risks relating to the insured benefits  

e.g. longevity risk, market risk,  
interest rate and inflation.

The scheme is still responsible for paying 
pensions to its members – Rothesay has  

no direct relationship with the  
scheme members.

Buy-out
Full transition of the scheme 

and members into Rothesay's 
care, for total protection.

In a buy-out, Rothesay takes full 
responsibility for the pension scheme and the 

employer's obligations to its members.

The pension scheme is wound up and the 
assets move over to Rothesay. The scheme 
members become Rothesay policyholders 

and receive new individual policies.

Showing UK pension risk transfers completed per year. 2022 projected figures are 
based on WTW estimates.
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2. Wholesale annuity
Our second source of business is in acquiring back 
books of annuities from insurance companies, either
through acquisition of companies or blocks of business. 

With our financial strength and track record, we are 
well positioned to acquire back books of annuities. 
However such acquisitions will always be opportunistic 
and hence it is difficult to predict when and whether 
such opportunities will arise in the future.

Acquisition of companies
Traditional company acquisition, where we take on  
all of the Company’s assets, liabilities and obligations, 
including the economic exposure and administration of 
their annuities.

Acquisition of blocks of business
1. Reinsurance transaction between Rothesay and 

the insurer selling the block. During this step, 
the insurer is responsible for administration but 
Rothesay has full economic exposure.

2. Approximately 18 months later, the goal is a Court-
sanctioned transfer of the business to Rothesay. At 
this point, we takeover the administration as well as 
the economic exposure.

2011 2014 2015 2016 2018

Transaction Acquisition of 
Paternoster

Acquisition of 
MetLife Assurance 
Limited

Purchase of 
annuity portfolio 
from Zurich UK 
Life (reinsurance 
followed by Court-
approved transfer 
in 2017), with 
three follow-on 
transactions

Purchase of 
annuity portfolio 
from Aegon UK 
(reinsurance 
followed by Court-
approved transfer in 
2017)

Purchase of 
annuity portfolio 
from Prudential 
(reinsurance 
followed by Court-
approved transfer 
of the majority of 
the portfolio in 
2021)1

Size of 
transaction £3bn £3bn £1bn £6bn £12bn
Number of 
policies 42,000 24,000 28,000 187,000 400,000
Type of 
business

Bulk annuities Bulk annuities Individual and  
bulk annuities

Individual and  
bulk annuities

Individual and  
bulk annuities

Timeline for our wholesale annuity transactions

1  Although the transfer was approved in 2021, the administration of these policies is expected to transfer to Capita, Rothesay’s preferred administrator, in early 2023.
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Our business model: 

Securing the 
future for our 
policyholders.

Underwrite  
the liabilities
We provide maximum pre-deal certainty 
for trustees and pension scheme 
members through our meticulous 
underwriting and due diligence.
We model the benefits of every single 
policyholder and project them to maturity. 
This means we can accurately estimate the 
cost of providing the insured benefits and 
holding the risk capital. We scrutinise all new 
business to ensure we minimise risk and will 
be able to achieve appropriate returns for  
our investors.

Hedge  
the risks
We assess the risk impact of transactions 
before completion so we can lock in the 
economics. This gives certainty to clients 
and protects our balance sheet. 
We reinsure the majority of our exposure 
to longevity risk. This process also gives 
independent third party price verification.

Collateral management is an integral 
part of the Group's activities. We closely 
monitor collateral so that our security is not 
compromised by market shifts.
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Invest  
the assets
We seek assets which match our liability 
cash flows and liquidity requirements, meet 
our environmental objectives and provide 
an appropriate risk-adjusted return.
Our portfolio is focused on highly rated assets 
and is made up of three diverse categories:
1. Cash and Government bonds.

2. Corporate bonds and other infrastructure.

3. Secure, illiquid assets.

Deliver the  
pension benefits
We have strategic partnerships 
with well established pension 
administrators – WTW, Mercer  
and Capita Pension Solutions.

Working with these partners gives us scale 
and contingency capabilities. High levels of 
automation and sophisticated technology 
enable our partners to interact with our 
systems to eliminate discrepancies and deliver 
excellent customer service.
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Why we are 
successful
Rothesay is a purpose-built specialist business,  
with a unique culture and set of capabilities that 
continue to drive our growth and market leadership.

Purpose-built Financial 
strength

Unique 
integration

We were founded with a single 
purpose: to secure UK pensions 
at scale within a robust 
regulatory environment.

We are designed from the 
ground up with modern 
systems, structures and 
capabilities to protect and 
deliver pensions more securely 
and effectively.

We have an extremely strong 
capital position with a focus 
on maintaining solvency. Our 
safety-first approach to writing 
business means we rigorously 
analyse every risk and would 
rather invest in no business 
than risky business.

Our governance is robust yet 
agile and our teams think 
diversely but operate as one, 
blending actuarial rigour with 
investment expertise.

Every decision is a product of our 
multi-disciplinary management 
team who are experts across 
investments, underwriting and 
risk management.
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Sophisticated 
technology

Original 
thinking

Service 
excellence

Our industry-leading, purpose-
built technology platform 
underpins the whole business, 
so that we are always informed 
and can adapt in real time to 
market changes.

Our engineers drive its 
evolution so that our platform 
grows with the industry.

We continuously bring creative 
and innovative ways of 
delivering for our clients and 
develop bespoke solutions for 
every pension scheme.

Our original thinking has led 
to several pioneering firsts, 
including our rapid response 
times and our dynamic 
technology-focused approach.

We support clients through 
every step of the process and 
leave no stone unturned from 
initial proposal to buy-in to 
buy-out. And once policies are 
issued, we provide excellent 
customer service.

Our straightforward and 
straight-talking approach helps 
us build clarity and trust in 
every interaction.
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Our investments

Our in-house team is responsible for the management 
of Rothesay’s £47.3bn asset portfolio. Assets are 
sought which match our liability cash flows and which 
provide an appropriate risk-adjusted return as well as 
being in line with our responsible investment policy. 
Rothesay has a careful approach to investment which 
seeks to diversify exposure and actively manages risk. 
We are constantly looking for new ways to reduce risk 
and achieve the dependable returns that create real 
security for people's pensions in the future.

At the end of 2021, Rothesay had substantial cash 
and gilts to deploy into longer-term assets due to the 
new business written in prior years. We are patient 
when making such investments and make allowance 
for the potential time it might take to invest the 
premiums when we underwrite new business. Wider 
credit spreads and volatile market conditions in 2022 
have meant that we have been able to invest assets 
according to Rothesay’s long-term investment strategy. 
We have succeeded in investing over £8bn of assets 
more quickly than envisaged when the business was 
originally underwritten and at better risk-adjusted 
returns. Investments include the purchase of a £687m 
portfolio of lifetime mortgages from Just Group Plc and 
two substantial commercial real estate loans.

During 2022, we also upgraded around £3bn of the 
portfolio by selling assets and replacing them with 
assets of higher credit quality, lower carbon intensity 
or increased yield.

The in-house team considers financially material 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors 
as part of the investment process and these factors 
are formally documented in all committee approval 
papers for new investments in order to ensure that 
appropriate account is taken of them. We are aligning 
our investment portfolio with the goal of the Paris 
Agreement to limit global warming to 1.5ºC above 
pre-industrial levels and are committed to supporting 
a low carbon economy in which the UK achieves 
carbon neutrality by 2050. For more information on 
responsible investment see pages 55 to 65.

Rothesay’s investment portfolio is focused on highly 
rated assets with over half of our rated assets having a 
rating of AAA or AA. This can be seen in the chart below.

Investment by rating (%)

Good progress has been 
made with investing assets 
in line with our long-term 
investment strategy.

Outer circle: 2022
Inner circle: 2021

 AAA
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 A
 BBB

15%
12% 26%
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25%

32%

34%

30%
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 UK sovereign
 Supranational, quasi 

sovereign and other 
sovereigns

 Cash
 Corporate bonds

 Infrastructure
  Secured residential 

lending
 Mortgages
 Other secured lending
 Other

Outer circle: 2022
Inner circle: 2021

The portfolio can be divided into three broad 
categories:
• Cash and Government bonds – This part of the 

portfolio is available for future investment and to 
meet collateral calls and cash requirements and also 
backs some of our very long-dated cash flows.

• Corporate bonds and infrastructure – Given the 
scale of Rothesay’s balance sheet, we invest in a 
diversified portfolio of corporate bonds, including 
regulated infrastructure such as water, energy  
and transportation.

• Secure, illiquid assets – These assets include loans 
secured against property, mortgages and loans 
secured against other collateral. They are attractive 
because investors are rewarded for illiquidity rather 
than credit risk. Structural features such as collateral, 
covenants and other security features mean that 
recoveries in the event of default are maximised and 
credit risk minimised.

We are already a leading lender to the social housing 
sector and are very supportive of the Government’s 
objective to secure more investment in long-term illiquid 
infrastructure assets, remaining closely involved with 
the Government’s Productive Finance Working Group. 

The following charts provide a breakdown of our 
investment portfolio at 31 December 2022 and 31 
December 2021 by sector. The chart shows an increase 
in investment in corporate bonds and mortgages.
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We also continue to fund long-term, fixed rate 
mortgages in both the UK, where the product is new, 
and in the Netherlands, where the product is better 
established. As at 31 December 2022, our long-term, 
fixed rate mortgage portfolio has grown to £1.1bn 
(2021: £1.0bn).

International diversification
In 2017, we set up Rothesay Asset Management 
North America (formerly known as Rothesay Asset 
Management US) to help Rothesay to originate assets 
in the US. We have recently opened larger offices in 
New York and continue to grow the team there.  
Around 25% (2021: 18%) of our portfolio is now 
invested in the US.

We already have a small portfolio of Australian 
investments and, following the success of Rothesay 
Asset Management North America, we have now set 
up a similar operation, Rothesay Asset Management 
Australia, to help us to originate assets in Australia. 

The chart below provides a breakdown of our 
investment portfolio at 31 December 2022 by 
geography. The chart shows an increase in allocation 
to USD-denominated assets (partly as a result of the 
strengthening of the USD relative to sterling). 

Our investments continued

Corporate bonds and infrastructure
Given recent market conditions, many of the new 
investments have been in more liquid, highly rated 
corporate bonds, including US rate reduction bonds, 
universities and healthcare providers. 

The table below provides a summary by sector of our 
corporate bond and infrastructure holding:  

Sector (%) 2022 2021

Infrastructure 8 7

Banking & insurance 6 5

Real estate 5 5

Education 3 3

Communications & media 2 2

Consumer goods & services 2 1

Healthcare 2 1

Technology & electronics 2 1

Automotive & transportation 1 1

Industrial & energy 1 1

Retail 1 1

Total 33 28

 
Of our £18bn holding of corporate bonds and 
infrastructure, around 33% (or 11% of our investments) 
is rated BBB and of those only £0.2bn is rated BBB- 
(2021: £18bn with 31% rated BBB and £0.3bn rated 
BBB-). The vast majority of the remainder are rated A 
or above. As at 31 December 2022, Rothesay holds only 
£11m of sub-investment grade bonds (2021: £Nil).

Residential mortgages
As noted above, in February 2022, Rothesay purchased 
a £687m portfolio of lifetime mortgages from Just 
Group Plc. That, combined with strong volumes during 
2022, meant that as at 31 December 2022, our total 
lifetime mortgage portfolio is now £5.1bn (2021: 
£5.3bn), with new origination largely offsetting the fall 
in value as a result of the significant increase in interest 
rates. We remain cautious in underwriting mortgages, 
with newly originated lifetime mortgages having 
an average loan-to-value ratio of 34% (2021: 29%). 
Lifetime mortgages now represent 11% of assets under 
management (2021: 8%).

Outer circle: 2022
Inner circle: 2021
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Case study

21 Moorfields
As part of our commercial 
real estate lending, Rothesay 
has provided a ten-year loan 
to support the acquisition of 
21 Moorfields from Landsec by 
an investment vehicle managed 
by global real estate and 
investments group, Lendlease.

21 Moorfields is a premium 568,500 sq ft London 
office development fully pre-let to Deutsche Bank 
AG on a 25-year lease. Built directly above Moorgate 
station, this high quality office achieved a number of 
engineering firsts and is targeting sustainability ratings 
of BREEAM Excellent and LEED v3 Gold.

These types of high quality, 
secured commercial real estate 
loans are attractive to Rothesay 

and play an important part in our 
investment portfolio, providing 

long-term security for the 
pensions we protect.

Harish Haridas
Head of Commercial Real Estate Debt
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Measuring 
progress

SCR coverage (APM)
Indicates capital strength 
through comparing how the 
Group is capitalised relative to 
the regulatory requirement

2022 progress:
• Significant improvement in solvency position as 

long-term interest rates increased. Surplus capital of 
£4.9bn (2021: £4.6bn) means that we are well-placed 
for future growth opportunities.

• Following the annual review by the credit rating 
agencies, Fitch reaffirmed our rating and Moody’s 
increased our rating to A2.

• The increase in interest rates also meant that 
Rothesay’s assets under management fell to £47.3bn 
primarily as a result of the significant increase in 
long-term interest rates (2021: £62.5bn). Because 
of the way in which we closely duration match our 
assets and liabilities, Rothesay’s insurance liabilities 
also reduced by a similar amount to £38.1bn 
(2021: £54.0bn).

• Reinsured £2.1bn of liabilities giving effective 
reinsurance coverage of 89% (2021: £2.6bn to give 
84% coverage).

• Submitted application for the full internal model (FIM).

Opportunities in 2023 and beyond:
• Continue to maintain a robust solvency position.
• Continue to develop our climate risk modelling and 

measurement capabilities.
• Implement the FIM covering all risks, subject to 

approval by the Prudential Regulation Authority.
• Continue to optimise our capital structure through 

appropriate levels of equity and debt.

2022

A2 
Moody’s Investors Service

A+ 
Fitch Ratings

Our strategy and KPIs:

Assets under management (APM)
Measures business size to indicate 
ability to diversify and potential for 
economies of scale

Financial security
2022

255% 

2022

£47.3bn 

External ratings
Impartial indicators of 
our financial strength

2021

226% 

2021

£62.5bn

2021

A3
Moody’s Investors Service

A+
Fitch Ratings
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New business premiums (APM)
Signals the Group’s growth 

2022

£3.3bn 

Steady growth
2021

£3.0bn

MCEV
Indicates the risk-adjusted 
value of the business (APM) 

2022

£6.4bn 
2021

£7.1bn

MCEV new business profit
Indicates the value generated by 
new business (APM)

2022

£239m 

2021

£243m

2022 progress:
• We have maintained our disciplined approach to 

new business, remaining patient in a competitive 
environment to ensure returns are appropriate. In 
2022, we de-risked the liabilities of nine pension 
schemes, which generated £3.3bn of new business 
(2021: £3.0bn). We also entered into exclusivity in 
relation to a further £4.4bn of new business.

• The increase in long-term interest rates led to an 
increase in surplus capital which can then be used to 
write further new business to replace the MCEV lost 
as a result of the interest rate increases.

• Grew the Rothesay team by 37 talented individuals 
across the Group.

• Opened new, larger offices in New York, facilitating 
the growth of Rothesay Asset Management North 
America.

• Rothesay Asset Management Australia established to 
originate investments for Rothesay in Australia.

Opportunities in 2023 and beyond:
• Continue to assist pension schemes to de-risk using 

buy-in and buy-out policies. Given the strength of 
the pipeline, we anticipate significant new business 
opportunities in 2023 and beyond.

• Continue to develop our in-house IT platform.
• Capitalise on the opportunities presented by  

our sponsorship of the LTA to promote the  
Rothesay brand.

• Continue to strengthen Rothesay's profile as an 
investor overseas, to allow us to continue to  
diversify investments.
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Service quality (APM)
Measures the number of 
policyholders who rate our 
service ‘good’ or ‘excellent’

2022

95%

Our strategy and KPIs continued

Complaints (APM)
Measures satisfaction through 
number of complaints upheld 
per 1,000 customers

2021

0.51

2021

94%

2022

0.47

2022 progress:
• Performance throughout the year has generally 

been above our stringent benchmarks across all our 
strategic administration partners.

• Maintained low complaint rates and high satisfaction.
• Continued to roll out our online service to our 

policyholders.
• Continued to bring in-house the administration of 

pensioner buy-ins.
• Prepared for the transfer of the Prudential portfolio 

to Rothesay’s preferred third party administrators.
• Established Board-level Customer Conduct 

Committee to focus on customer service.
• Re-accredited with the PASA’s Gold standard.

Opportunities in 2023 and beyond:
• Continue to excel in customer service.
• Transfer administration of the Prudential portfolio 

to Rothesay’s preferred third party administrators so 
that the Prudential policyholders can benefit from 
Rothesay’s outstanding customer service.

• Continue to migrate some existing pensioner  
buy-ins to the new in-house model and build on  
our in-house capabilities so that we can leverage  
our risk management systems to improve accuracy 
and efficiency.

• Implement plans for complying with the new 
Consumer Duty which comes into force in July 2023.

Service excellence
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Reliable performance over time
IFRS profit before tax 
Measures profitability, by 
capturing all recurring and  
non-recurring items

2021

£913m
2022

£170m 

Employee engagement
Measures the number of 
employees who say they are 
proud to work at Rothesay

2021

92%
2022

91% 

Carbon intensity
Measures carbon intensity 
of Rothesay’s investment 
portfolio

2022

197t 
CO2e/m USD borrower 
revenue 

2021

211t 
CO2e/m USD1

2022 progress:
• Invested assets received from 2021 and 2022 new 

business in accordance with our underwriting 
targets, contributing to 2022 IFRS operating profits 
of £1,016m (2021: £904m). These were largely 
offset by credit spread widening and the increase in 
long-term interest rates to give IFRS pre-tax profits 
for the year of £170m (2021: £913m). 

• Maintained market-leading levels of  
employee engagement. 

• Published our second ESG report setting out  
detailed carbon intensity data and showing a 17% 
reduction in the carbon intensity of our publicly 
traded corporate debt and a 7% reduction in the 
overall portfolio.

• Maintained carbon neutrality of our own operations 
and entered into a partnership with Climeworks that 
should ensure neutrality for the next ten years. 

Opportunities in 2023 and beyond:
• Increase our market penetration – the total market 

volume has grown considerably in the last few years, 
but only around 10% of the UK’s £2.1tn of pension 
liabilities are fully insured.

• Maintain employee engagement and unique 
Rothesay culture despite the continuing growth of 
the Group, making improvements where we can.

• Capitalise on economies of scale.
• Continue to make progress towards our ambitious 

environmental targets and formalise the way in 
which social and governance issues are considered 
when evaluating investment opportunities.

1  Comparative has been rebased due to improvements in our Sovereign 
and UK Mortgage methodologies, and the availability of new data for a 
number of our material assets.
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Strong operating profits 
driven by investment of 
assets in line with our 

long-term strategy.
Andrew Stoker

Chief Financial Officer
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Financial review

IFRS profit  
before tax: 

£170m
2021: £913m

MCEV (APM):

£6.4bn
2021: £7.1bn

The financial review 
describes the financial 
performance of Rothesay 
Limited and its subsidiaries. 
IFRS financial performance
Rothesay made an operating profit before tax 
of £1,016m (2021: £904m) (APM) as we were able 
to invest cash and gilts received as new business 
premiums according to our long-term investment 
strategy. Credit spread widening and the impact of the 
increase in long-term interest rates then meant that we 
made profit before tax of £170m (2021: £913m). 

The financial performance analysis shown in the 
table on the next page provides an explanation of the 
way in which profits have been generated. Further 
explanation of the line items can be found in the notes 
on Alternative Performance Measures on page 190. 

New business profits (APM) in the analysis are 
calculated assuming full investment of premiums and 
the short-term impact of any under-investment is 
reported separately in the table. New business profit 
(APM) for the year was £246m (2021: £213m).

We are patient when investing the premiums received 
which meant that we began 2022 with cash and gilts to 
invest according to our long-term strategy. Attractive 
investment opportunities in 2022 means that we have 
now effectively invested all of the premiums received 
as new business, leading to no temporary reduction in 
profits (2021: a reduction of £201m) (APM). Widening 
credit markets meant that we have also invested all the 
assets received as premiums in prior years leading to 
profits from investing prior year premiums for the year 
of £201m (2021: £547m) (APM). 

Profits generated on the in-force book were £801m 
(2021: £403m) (APM). These profits mainly arose from 
investment activity, where we have been able to take 
advantage of attractive investment opportunities in 
weaker credit markets, and the release of prudent 
margins as the business runs off.

A combination of demographic and expense 
assumption changes led to a reduction in profits of 
£18m (2021: an increase in profits of £142m) (APM). 
Further detail is provided in note E.3.

Note that for 2021, borrowing costs include interest 
of £29m paid on the sterling-denominated RT1 notes. 
From 1 January 2022, these costs are treated as an 
appropriation of profit as and when the interest on the 
notes is paid. Further detail is provided in note A.4.

Rothesay made economic losses in the year of £730m 
(economic profits 2021: £149m) (APM). Economic 
(losses)/profits (APM) represent the change in value 
of assets from changes in economic conditions less 
the change in value of liabilities from those changes. 
In 2022, economic losses arose from the impact of 
credit spread widening, rising interest rates and other 
changes in economic conditions. 



Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 202232
Strategic report

Financial review continued

Financial performance 
(Alternative analysis of profit generation) (APM)

2022
£m

2021
£m

New business profit (assuming assets fully invested) 246 213

Impact of temporarily being invested in gilts – (201)

Profit from investing prior year's premiums 201 547

Performance of in-force book 801 403

Non-economic assumption changes and model refinement (18) 142

Acquisition and Group costs (151) (141)

Administration expenses (63) (59)

Operating profit before tax 1,016 904

Borrowing costs (98) (115)

Project and other one-off expenses (18) (25)

Economic (losses)/profits (730) 149

IFRS profit before tax 170 913

Alternative Performance Measures
Rothesay’s strategy is focused on protecting the security of policyholder benefits, growth through writing 
value-driven new business and, ultimately, delivering sustainable shareholder value. 

In the opinion of the Directors, the prescribed IFRS results and disclosures do not capture long-term value 
creation or changes to capital requirements and therefore do not fully reflect the performance of Rothesay.

Rothesay therefore uses a number of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) which focus on value 
generation and capital strength. Further information on Rothesay’s APMs can be found on page 190, 
including definitions, why the measure is used and, if applicable, how the APM can be reconciled to  
the nearest GAAP measure. Rothesay uses the symbol (APM) to highlight APMs throughout the  
financial statements.
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IFRS income statement highlights
The significant increase in long-term interest rates resulted in very material reductions in both assets under 
management and insurance liabilities. The key line items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for Rothesay are summarised in the table below:

Income statement highlights
2022

£m
2021

£m Commentary

Gross premiums written 3,579 3,205 Gross written premiums are made up of new business of 
£3.3bn (2021: £3.0bn) and regular premiums of £0.2bn  
(2021: £0.2bn) generated on the inwards longevity 
reinsurance business written in prior years.

Net premiums written 1,404 1,569 Net premiums written represent the gross premiums written 
less the £2,175m (2021: £1,636m) of regular premiums ceded 
to reinsurers.

Investment return (15,376) 48 Assets and insurance liabilities are closely matched which 
means that both fell by a similar amount due to changes in 
economic conditions and the run-off of the business. This fall 
was partly offset by new business.

Total revenue (13,972) 1,617

Net claims paid (862) (1,380) Claims paid represent the total payments due to 
policyholders during the year of £2.9bn (2021: £2.9bn) less 
the reinsurers’ share of such claims of £2.0bn (2021: £1.5bn).

Change in net insurance 
liabilities

15,433 1,018 Assets and insurance liabilities are closely matched which 
means that both fell by a similar amount due to changes in 
economic conditions and the run-off of the business. This fall 
was partly offset by new business.

Operating expenses (232) (225) Operating expenses consist of £63m (2021: £59m) of 
administration expenses, £151m (2021: £141m) of  
acquisition expenses and £18m (2021: £25m) of non-
recurring and project expenditure.

Finance costs (197) (117) Finance costs represent interest payable on borrowings and 
on collateral. Interest payable on collateral has increased in 
2022 in part because of the significant increase in interest 
rates. Note that 2021 finance costs include interest paid on 
the sterling-denominated RT1 notes.

Total claims and expenses 14,142 (704)

Profit before tax 170 913

Income tax (27) (174) The Group’s effective tax rate is 16.1% (2021: 19.0%).

Profit after tax 143 739
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IFRS statement of financial position highlights
The key line items in the consolidated statement of financial position for Rothesay are summarised in the 
following table: 

Statement of financial position highlights
2022

£m
2021

£m

Financial investments 90,929 83,845

Reinsurance assets 185 641

Other assets 3,491 1,501

Total assets 94,605 85,987

Share capital and share premium 510 1,548

Tier 1 notes 793 793

Employee scheme treasury shares and share-based payment reserve (143) (146)

Profit and loss reserve 4,879 3,721

Other reserves 137 133

Total equity 6,176 6,049

Insurance contract liabilities 38,112 54,030

Reinsurance liabilities 1,245 1,217

Payables and financial liabilities 47,166 22,853

Borrowings 1,764 1,725

Other 142 113

Total liabilities 88,429 79,938

Total equity and liabilities 94,605 85,987

In the table above, we have amended the presentation of a number of the equity lines to simplify and improve  
the disclosure. We have updated the presentation for 2021 accordingly (see consolidated statement of changes  
in equity).

Financial review continued
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Financial investments and liabilities
Derivatives are used to manage market and credit risk. The significant increase in long-term interest rates 
resulted in a very material increase in the value of both derivative assets and derivative liabilities since they have 
a similar and largely offsetting exposure to interest rates. As at 31 December 2022, the value of derivative assets 
increased to £37.8bn (2021: £20.8bn) and the value of derivative liabilities increased to £37.8bn (2021: £20.7bn). 
The net value of derivatives fell from £81m as at 31 December 2021 to £11m as at 31 December 2022 but under 
IFRS it is the gross values that must be disclosed.

The increase in the value of derivative assets more than offset the fall in the value of the other financial 
investments leading to an increase in the value of financial investments from £83.8bn as at 31 December 2021  
to £90.9bn as at 31 December 2022. The increase in the value of derivative liabilities was in part responsible for 
the increase in the value of payables and financial liabilities from £22.9bn at 31 December 2021 to £47.2bn at 
31 December 2022. 

Assets under management
Assets under management (APM) adjusts for the gross up of derivative values and can be derived by adjusting 
total assets for reinsurance, payables, derivatives and collateralised financing. Assets under management have 
decreased from £62.5bn at 31 December 2021 to £47.3bn as at 31 December 2022. They have fallen as a result of 
the increase in long-term interest rates, as well as credit spread widening, and, given our close duration matching 
of assets and liabilities, a similar movement can be seen in insurance contract liabilities. A reconciliation of assets 
under management is provided in the notes on Alternative Performance Measures on page 190.

Reinsurance
During 2022, we entered into five new longevity reinsurance agreements in relation to both new and existing 
business. Some of Rothesay’s reinsurance is an asset on an IFRS basis because projected claims exceed the 
regular premiums due on some longevity reinsurance contracts but the number of contracts where this is the 
case fell in 2022, i.e. some contracts switched from being a reinsurance asset to a reinsurance liability due to the 
change in economic conditions and demographic assumption changes. Overall, reinsurance represents a net 
liability of  £1,060m (2021: a net liability of £576m).

Total equity
The increase in total equity (an increase of £127m from £6,049m at 31 December 2021 to £6,176m at  
31 December 2022) was driven by IFRS net profit during 2022.

The introduction of IFRS 17 from 1 January 2023 is expected to lead to a reduction in Group equity of between 
£1.0bn and £1.5bn (see Transition to IFRS 17 below). In anticipation of this change, the Board approved a capital 
reorganisation leading to a reduction in share premium of £1.0bn and a corresponding increase in the profit and 
loss reserve. Please see note C.4.

Insurance liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities reduced from £54.0bn as at 31 December 2021 to £38.1bn as at 31 December 2022. 
This move was largely driven by an increase in the valuation interest rate used to discount the liabilities, partially 
offset by the impact of new business net of the run-off of the liabilities (see note E.3(e)). 
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Market consistent embedded value (APM)
Market consistent embedded value (MCEV) reporting provides a useful measure of potential future profit on 
Rothesay’s in-force business. MCEV is summarised in the table below. 

Market consistent embedded value (APM)
2022

£m
2021

£m

Net worth of Rothesay Limited 7,940 7,774

Value of in-force business 766 2,019

Less: debt including RT1 notes (2,275) (2,697)

MCEV 6,431 7,096

As IFRS operating profits are generated, net worth increases and the value of in-force business decreases and this 
accounts for part of the reduction in the value of in-force business over the year. The value of in-force business 
has also fallen as a result of the increase in long-term real interest rates. A movement analysis for the overall 
MCEV is provided in the table below.

Analysis of movement in MCEV
2022

£m
2021

£m

Opening MCEV 7,096 7,035

New business value 239 243

Management of in-force book 216 218

Operating MCEV earnings 455 461

Economic variances (1,000) (26)

Other non-operating variances (120) (374)

Total MCEV earnings (665) 61

Closing MCEV 6,431 7,096

In 2022, the increase in MCEV from new business and the management of in-force book was more than offset by 
the impact of the significant increase in long-term real interest rates and credit spread widening. Non-operating 
variances include one-off expenses, borrowing costs and, for 2021, the increase in assumed future corporation  
tax rates.

Rothesay’s interest rate hedging strategy is designed to ensure that as interest rates rise, although MCEV reduces 
and surplus capital increases. Surplus capital can then be used to write additional new business to replenish 
the MCEV lost. The strategy operated as intended in 2022 which means that we have material surplus capital to 
support new business. 

Further information can be found in the notes on Alternative Performance Measures on page 190.

Financial review continued
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Transition to IFRS 17 and IFRS 9
Rothesay will apply IFRS 17, the accounting standard 
for insurance contracts, and IFRS 9, the accounting 
standard for financial instruments from 1 January 2023. 
IFRS 17 will bring significant changes to the accounting 
for insurance and as a result, we will be required to 
re-state comparatives and the opening balance sheet 
as at 1 January 2022. IFRS 9 is expected to have an 
immaterial impact on Rothesay’s balance sheet as 
financial investments are already fair valued and we 
do not expect re-measurement and re-designation 
between asset classes under the new standard.

The IFRS 17 standard will have a significant impact on 
the way that Rothesay’s results are reported because 
the standard rebuilds performance measurement 
in areas ranging from a new definition of insurance 
revenue to the elimination of upfront profits and 
spreading of profit across the lifetime of the contract.

The standard introduces a model that measures 
groups of contracts based on a best estimate of the 
present value of future cash flows that are expected 
to arise as Rothesay fulfils the contracts (the best 
estimate liabilities or BEL), an explicit risk adjustment 
for non-financial risk and a contractual service margin 
(CSM) that is released over the duration of the contract. 
The BEL, the risk adjustment and the CSM then 
collectively form the insurance liabilities.

The introduction of the CSM creates a significant store 
of future value that will result in a stream of more 
predictable insurance profits compared to the position 
under current accounting.

Under IFRS 17, profits and losses arise largely from:
a. One year’s run-off of insurance liabilities, namely 

the release of risk adjustment and amortisation of 
CSM on existing business;

b. Net investment returns in excess of those assumed 
in calculating the insurance liabilities; and

c. Economic profits or losses from the impact of the 
changes in economic conditions.

Profits on new business and from experience and 
non-financial assumption changes are largely held 
back as adjustments to the CSM and amortised over 
time. Losses are recognised on day one for insurance 
contracts that are onerous but Rothesay currently does 
not have any such contracts.

Over the full duration of the contract, the same profit 
is expected to be generated, but IFRS 17 leads to 
a slower emergence of IFRS profit than under the 
existing insurance standard, IFRS 4. This can be seen 
in the profit signatures in the chart which shows the 
profit anticipated on a representative contract covering 
both immediate and deferred annuities. Under IFRS 4, 
the valuation rate of interest is derived from the assets 
held to back the liabilities. As a result, the chart shows 
that there is a day one loss as the premium is received 
as cash and gilts and this then turns into profit as the 
premium is invested according to Rothesay’s long-term 
investment strategy (shown as year one in the chart). 
Profits under IFRS 4 are then made as prudent margins 
are released. This contrasts with IFRS 17 where: (i) the 
discount rate reflects the characteristics of the liability 
and so is not impacted by investment of premiums; 
and (ii) no day one profit is made and a CSM and risk 
adjustment are established. Profits under IFRS 17 are 
then made as the risk adjustment is released and the 
CSM amortised.



Indicative impact on Group equity as at 1 January 2022

IFRS 4 Equity Remeasurement 
of liabilities

Creation of CSM Creation of risk 
adjustment

Deferred tax asset IFRS 17 Equity

£6.0bn
£4.5bn 

 – £5.0bn

Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 202238
Strategic report

IFRS 17 balance sheet as at 1 January 2022
The standard applies IFRS 17 retrospectively to historic 
business which means that much of the historic profit 
generated under IFRS 4 is required to be held back as 
the CSM. The combined impact of the retrospective 
changes required under IFRS 17 is shown in the chart 
below and is expected to lead to a reduction in Group 
equity of between £1bn and £1.5bn as at 1 January 
2022 compared to those published under IFRS 4. 

The CSM and risk adjustment set up on transition of 
around £5bn provide a view of the stored value that will 
be released over time as the existing business runs off.

As noted previously, to mitigate the reduction in 
retained earnings at transition, in December 2022 
the Board approved a capital reorganisation leading 
to a reduction of £1.0bn in share premium and a 
corresponding increase in the profit and loss reserve.

Outlook
As Rothesay has grown very rapidly, with the majority 
of business being written in the last few years, the 
slower release of profits under IFRS 17 means that 
we expect materially lower operating profits for 2022 
compared to IFRS 4. In addition, under IFRS 17, only 
part of the insurance liabilities (the best estimate 
liabilities and risk adjustment) is exposed to the 
impact of changes in economic conditions; the CSM 
is not impacted by such changes. As a result, the IFRS 
17 balance sheet responds to changes in economic 
conditions in a way which is closer to MCEV than the 
IFRS 4 balance sheet. Given Rothesay’s approach to 
hedging interest rate and inflation risk is to hedge 
somewhere between MCEV and solvency, we are 

effectively over-hedged on an IFRS 17 basis and so 
the IFRS 17 balance sheet is much more sensitive 
to interest rate movements than the IFRS 4 balance 
sheet. Under IFRS 17, the impact of the very significant 
increase in interest rates combined with widening 
credit spreads is expected to more than offset 
operating profits under IFRS 17. Consequently, the 
restated comparative for 2022 is expected to show 
material pre-tax losses under the new standard.

Under the tax regulations relating to IFRS 17, the tax 
relief on the losses arising from the adoption of IFRS 17 
will be equally spread over a transitional period of ten 
years from 1 January 2023.

Adoption of the new standard is not expected to 
materially impact Rothesay’s solvency position or the 
ultimate profitability of new business. As a result, 
changes to IFRS accounting are not expected to impact 
new business pricing or our business strategy. In 
addition, the rating agencies such as Fitch Ratings have 
indicated that they expect to treat CSM reserves as 
equity for the purposes of financial leverage ratios and 
so the implementation of IFRS 17 is not expected to 
impact our credit ratings.

Although the implementation of IFRS 17 is expected to 
lead to a significant impact on total equity and would 
have resulted in lower profits for 2022, we expect that 
our ability to pay dividends will continue to be driven 
by our solvency balance sheet. 

We will publish full results under IFRS 17 as part of 
our interim results for the six months to 30 June 2023 
including comparatives for full year and half year 2022.

Financial review continued
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Capital management

The solvency positions of the Group and RLP are summarised in the table below. 

Solvency position of the Group and RLP

Group RLP

2022
£m

2021
£m

2022
£m

2021
£m

Tier 1 capital 6,783 6,833 6,868 6,925

Tier 2 capital 849 948 849 948

Tier 3 capital 434 488 434 488

Own Funds (APM) available to meet SCR 8,066 8,269 8,151 8,361

SCR 3,162 3,657 3,162 3,657

Surplus above SCR 4,904 4,612 4,989 4,704

SCR coverage 255% 226% 258% 229%

Adjusted SCR coverage (APM) 269% n/a 272% n/a

SCR coverage without transitional solvency relief 233% 179% 235% 181%

The Group’s capital position 
has significantly increased 
throughout 2022 as a result 
of rising interest rates.
Rothesay’s capital management framework is designed 
to meet the following objectives:
• to maintain financial strength in adverse conditions; 
• to give customers long-term confidence in Rothesay; 
• to satisfy our regulatory obligations; 
• to match the profile of our assets and liabilities, 

taking account of the risk inherent in the business; 
• to allocate capital efficiently to support new business 

growth; 
• to retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong 

liquidity; and 
• to provide an appropriate return to shareholders.
 
Rothesay aims to maintain solvency coverage in the 
range of 130% to 150% of the regulatory minimum 
solvency capital requirement (SCR). We started the year 
with capital surplus well above our target operating 
range and Rothesay's solvency position has increased 
significantly throughout the year as a result of 

increases in long-term interest rates. As we write more 
new business, the solvency coverage is expected to 
move closer to our target operating range.

We operate a dynamic capital management framework 
which uses interest rate and other hedging to try and 
protect both the solvency position and the embedded 
value of the business by hedging somewhere between 
the two. This is facilitated by our access to real-time 
solvency information. During 2022, we were careful to 
avoid over-trading in difficult market conditions.

Given our robust solvency position, some of the new 
business written in 2022 has been written into the non-
Matching Adjustment fund in order to provide flexibility 
in transitioning assets to our long-term investment 
strategy. The new business is eligible for inclusion 
in the Matching Adjustment fund and moving the 
business would improve both Own Funds and the SCR 
requirement because the Matching Adjustment could 
then be used in calculating the technical provisions. 
We estimate that after allowing for the 14% impact on 
coverage of moving new liability trades to the Matching 
Adjustment fund, as at 31 December 2022, Rothesay 
would have had an SCR coverage ratio (APM) of 269% 
on a pro forma basis (2021: 226%), giving us significant 
excess capital to write new business.
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Capital management continued

Given the significant change in economic conditions 
in 2022, the value of transitional solvency relief 
was recalculated on 30 June 2022 and again on 
31 December 2022. Transitional solvency relief reduces 
by 1/16th on 1 January each year. The impact of 
recalculation on 31 December 2022 was to decrease 
the transitional solvency relief to £388m net of the 
associated impact of tax on Own Funds and allowing 
for amortisation of 6/16ths (2021: £1,091m allowing 
for amortisation of 5/16ths). As long-term interest 
rates have increased, the transitional solvency relief 
has fallen in value, with transitional solvency relief now 
covering 32% of the risk margin (2021: 50%).

Rothesay's SCR is calculated using a partial internal 
model (PIM). The PIM means that Rothesay's 
bespoke models are used for calculation of credit 
and counterparty risk capital and ensures that the 
allocation of capital to investment is consistent with 
the risk inherent in the types of highly secured and 
collateralised investments which are core to Rothesay's 
investment strategy. The PIM was originally approved 
for use from 31 December 2018 and updated during 
2019 to reflect feedback received from the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (PRA) and to cover investments 
in Dutch mortgages. An application to use a full 
internal model, extending the PIM to cover other risk 
components, was submitted to the PRA in October 
2022 but for now the standard formula is used to 
calculate the SCR for all other risk components and for 
aggregation across risk components.

The following table provides a breakdown of the 
SCR, post-diversification benefit, between modules. 
Insurance risk relates mainly to longevity risk. Market 
risk is dominated by spread risk, i.e. the risk that credit 
spreads widen. The change in the composition of the 
SCR during 2022 reflects the increase in investment, 
the significant increase in long-term interest rates as 
well as the impact of additional longevity reinsurance.

Composition of SCR (%) 2022 2021

Market risk 72 64

Insurance risk 17 24

Operational risk 6 6

Counterparty risk 5 6

An analysis of the change in surplus above SCR is 
shown in the table on the following page. Largely as a 
result of increases in real interest rates, surplus above 
SCR has increased from £4,612m to £4,904m (after 
allowing for amortisation of 1/16th of transitional 
solvency relief on 1 January 2022). The impact of 
moving new liability trades to the Matching Adjustment 
fund would be an increase in surplus of £245m. 

Differences between IFRS accounting standards 
and Solvency II mean that management actions 
and changes in economic conditions can have very 
different impacts on the two bases. All numbers are 
shown net of tax impacts and allow, where relevant, for 
changes in transitional solvency relief.  
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Change in surplus
2022

£m
2021

£m

Opening surplus 4,612 3,654

Amortisation of 1/16th of transitional on 1 January (133) (133)

New business (on a fully invested basis) (264) (172)

Impact of temporarily being invested in gilts – 120

Impact from investing prior year's premiums (120) 51

Performance of in-force book 1,026 603

Non-economic assumption changes 7 135

Acquisition costs and administration expenses (214) (200)

Operating surplus generation 302 404

Borrowing costs (132) (115)

Non-recurring and project expenditure (18) (25)

Economic conditions 532 82

Impact of LACDT (147) (100)

Impact of new business not in MA fund (245) n/a

New capital issuance – 712

Surplus generation 292 958

Closing surplus 4,904 4,612

Closing surplus with new liabilities in MA fund 5,149 n/a

Solvency II borrowing costs are £34m higher than under IFRS due to the coupons paid on sterling-denominated 
RT1 notes being recognised as a deduction from Own Funds, whereas on IFRS they are treated as an 
appropriation of profit.

Solvency II reform
In November 2022, HM Treasury announced its response to the consultation on Solvency II reform. The main 
changes from a capital perspective are:
1. The risk margin reduction is to be calibrated to give a 65% reduction for long-term life insurance business; 
2. The fundamental spreads used in derivation of the matching adjustment will be made more granular, by 

introducing rating notches, for example the fundamental spread for an A+ rated asset will be lower than the 
spread used for an A- rated asset;

3. The matching adjustment on sub-investment grade assets will no longer be capped at the spread on an 
investment grade asset; and

4. There will be a mechanism to allow firms to make voluntary add-ons to the fundamental spreads.

The details of the reforms have not yet been finalised so the reforms are unlikely to be implemented until 2024. 
Had the reforms listed above been implemented as at 31 December 2022 then we estimate that our solvency 
coverage ratio would have increased by around 17%, after allowing for recalculation of transitional solvency relief.
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The market turmoil of 
2022 has brought the 

management of liquidity  
risk to the fore.

Peter Shepherd
Chief Risk Officer
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Risk management

Risk management is at the 
heart of Rothesay’s culture, 
systems and processes. 
Rothesay’s risk management principles are driven by 
the key objectives of the business: 
• To ensure that our liabilities to policyholders can be 

met in a full and timely manner.
• To ensure that our policyholders receive excellent 

customer service. 
• To maintain our financial strength and capitalisation. 
• To produce stable earnings from our in-force 

business. 
• To protect and increase the value of our 

shareholders’ investment. 
• To safeguard Rothesay’s reputation. 

To do this we have a well established process of 
identifying, managing and monitoring risks, on a 
continuous basis. This allows the rapid, informed 
decision-making that enables Rothesay to manage 
through adverse conditions.

The risk management framework is designed to ensure 
that:
• risks are well understood and can be explained to all 

stakeholders;
• risk management and business strategy are aligned;
• all staff are aware of their individual  

responsibilities; and
• risks are monitored and managed in accordance with 

defined risk appetites.

Risk management is a continuous process and the 
risks to which Rothesay is exposed change over time. 
The framework is also designed to be responsive 
and is regularly reviewed to ensure that it remains 
highly effective. We have continued to invest in the 
risk function, but we also recognise that effective risk 
management starts with the staff who manage risks 
day in and day out, and so we have worked hard on 
ensuring effective communication between teams,  
and that systems, data and other tools are providing 
the information to enable staff to make timely 
informed decisions – with risk management at  
the core of these decisions. 

Risks can be quantifiable, such as market risks, or non-
quantifiable such as reputational or strategic risks, or 
could be a mix of both. Some risks have been a core 
part of the financial landscape for decades or more, 
while others, such as cyber risk, have emerged more 
recently and it requires an agile risk framework to 
adapt to these. Risks can materialise rapidly, such as  
a change in market conditions, or could emerge  
slowly over a number of years such as the outlook  
for life expectancy. 
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Risk management continued

Risk management framework
Rothesay has a risk management framework (RMF) 
which is aligned to the ‘three lines of defence model’. 
Fundamental to this is that every employee knows 
how they contribute to the effective identification, 
management, mitigation and monitoring of all types  
of risks.

The RMF ensures that accountabilities and responsibilities 
are clearly agreed and documented, and that there are 
appropriate checks and balances, including segregation 
of responsibilities.

The ‘three lines of defence’ model is widely used in 
financial services, and sets the boundaries between the 
different areas, making sure that there are no gaps in 
risk management or unexpected overlaps  
in accountability. 

• First line – Risk owners
Day-to-day risk management is delegated from 
the Board to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
and, through a system of delegated authorities, 
to business managers. Rothesay also makes the 
distinction between: 
 – the risk-taking functions, including investment 

and new business origination; and 
 – the first line control functions, who are responsible 

for ensuring the integrity of Rothesay’s operations 
and reporting. These include Operations, Finance 
and Legal. 

• Second line – Risk oversight
Design and maintenance of the risk management 
framework as well as risk oversight is provided 
by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), his team and risk 
management committees. The Chief Compliance 
Officer and his team report to the CRO. The Executive 
Risk Committee (ERC) is chaired by the CRO and 
consists of relevant senior managers working within 
a delegated risk management framework. This 
committee reviews all material new investment, 
hedging or liability transactions. 

• Third line – Risk assurance
Internal Audit provides the Board and Executive  
with comprehensive, independent, objective 
assurance over governance, risk management  
and internal control.

The Board is responsible for oversight of the 
management of exposure to risks and is supported  
by the Board Risk Committee whose membership 
consists entirely of Non-Executive Directors and looks 
to ensure that the management of the business is 
conducted within the delegated risk framework from 
the main Board. 

This model of separation of responsibilities is also 
aligned to the Senior Managers & Certification 
Regime, which ensures that individuals have very clear 
allocation of responsibilities. 

Building on this model, the RMF then adds the detail 
such that risk management ownership, responsibilities 
and processes are clear. This both informs and 
is directed by Rothesay’s business strategy. The 
foundation of the RMF is the clear identification of the 
risks that Rothesay faces. From this, the RMF can then 
go on to define detailed aspects including;
• risk appetites and risk limits;
• how risks should be measured and reported on;
• processes for controlling or managing risks; and 
• individual accountability for risk topics.

In order to do this Rothesay has defined a Risk 
Taxonomy, which is a consistent way of describing and 
subdividing risks consistently across Rothesay and 
between time periods. This is regularly reviewed to 
ensure that it is complete. The six key risks identified 
are set out in the table below.  
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Risk category Definition

STRATEGY RISK The risk of loss in future earnings and capital arising from changes in  
the competitive, economic, legal or political environment, changing  
customer behaviour, or a failure to select appropriate strategic or  
long-term business plans.

INSURANCE RISK The risk of loss or of adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities, due to 
inadequate pricing and provisioning assumptions, or changes in longevity or 
other expectations.

MARKET RISK The risk of loss or of adverse change resulting, directly or indirectly, from 
fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities 
and financial instruments.

CREDIT RISK The risk of loss or of adverse change in the financial situation, resulting from 
fluctuations in the credit standing of issuers of securities, counterparties and any 
debtors.

LIQUIDITY RISK The risk of being unable to realise investments and other assets in order to settle 
financial obligations when they fall due.

OPERATIONAL RISK The risk arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel or 
systems, or from external events. This includes conduct risk, project risk and 
cyber security risk.

These risks are then split into more granular risks, for example market risk includes interest rate risk, inflation 
risk, currency risk and so on.
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Board risk appetite and culture
Rothesay’s risk appetite expresses the types of risk 
that Rothesay is willing to take in pursuing strategic 
objectives. The Board’s risk appetite sets the tone  
for the culture of risk management throughout  
the organisation. 

Our strategic approach is to de-risk our business 
in order to achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns. 
We also aim to protect regulatory surplus, manage 
liquidity and minimise balance sheet volatility.

Risk taking is limited to circumstances where we 
believe that we fully understand the inherent and 
residual risks, where we are able to manage them 
within prudent, observable levels and where incurring 
the risks provides sufficient value to our stakeholders. 

Risk management continued

We aim to substantially mitigate the financial risks in 
our portfolio in order to protect policyholders, lock in 
value and to safeguard capital surplus such that excess 
capital may be invested into attractive risk-adjusted 
new business opportunities where Rothesay believes it 
has a comparative advantage. 

Our risk appetite statement sets out the types of 
risk that we are willing to be exposed to in order to 
meet our strategic objectives. They are categorised as 
desired, tolerated or undesired.

Risk preference Description Examples

DESIRED Desired risks are those that we need to 
seek directly in order to deliver our core 
strategic goals. We will actively seek to take 
on these risks because taken together they 
are expected to deliver a good risk-adjusted 
return. These are also risks we believe we 
have the capability and capacity to manage 
effectively within risk appetite limits.

Most Insurance Risks (given that our key 
business line is writing annuities), some 
Credit Risks (given our desire to make a 
return through backing annuities with credit 
assets) and some Strategy Risks (given our 
clearly defined strategy).

TOLERATED Tolerated risks are those that we incur 
indirectly as a result of implementing our 
core strategy, and where we may be willing 
to accept some exposure.
We will invest to ensure that these risks 
are adequately managed. We may seek 
to partially or fully reduce these risks 
depending on relative risk-adjusted returns.

Tolerated risks therefore mostly relate to 
Market Risks, where our business model 
naturally exposes us to these risks but we 
seek to reduce or hedge them partially  
or fully.

UNDESIRED Undesired risks are those that we incur 
indirectly as a result of implementing our 
core strategy, and where we would ideally 
seek to fully eliminate the exposure.
These typically include risks where there is 
no compensation for holding the risk e.g. 
Operational Risk, but also risks which we do 
not feel sufficiently competent to manage.
We are willing to invest in order to avoid 
or manage these risks as far as possible. 
Even where significant action is taken, some 
residual risk may be unavoidable.

Undesired risks include most Liquidity  
Risks (as we have no desire to fail to pay  
our policyholders and counterparties),  
and Operational Risks (as these  
are unrewarded).
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Risk appetite quantification and  
limit framework
The risk limit framework is intended to ensure the 
stability of earnings and solvency position of the 
business. Risk appetite is translated into quantifiable 
limits and early warning triggers that prompt 
management action to avoid our risk exposures 
breaching the Board’s risk appetite. Limits exist in 
relation to market, credit, counterparty, liquidity, 
demographic and longevity risks and are sized with 
reference to our overall risk appetite and capital 
position. Limits are constantly reviewed and  
reported against. 

Risk governance framework
Rothesay’s risk governance arrangements strengthen 
the risk-taking and risk management of the business 
by adding challenge, oversight and independent 
assurance. This framework supports compliance with 
the Senior Managers and Certification Regime (SMCR). 

Systems and infrastructure
Rothesay operates an integrated system infrastructure 
which captures all assets and liabilities centrally and 
provides us with the capability to report and monitor 
risk daily at both the portfolio and the individual 
transaction level. Close coordination of underwriting, 
reinsurance, investment and risk hedging functions 
ensures risk management is central to all aspects 
of the business, and that new business pricing 
reflects latest market conditions, hedging costs and 
investment opportunities, as well as comprehensive 
liability analysis. 

Policies, processes, procedures and  
key controls
Rothesay has developed appropriate processes and 
documented procedures, appropriate controls and 
other risk mitigation techniques in order to effectively 
manage risks. The policy framework ensures that 
an appropriate suite of risk management policies is 
maintained which sets out the principles and standards 
for risk identification, measurement, mitigation, 
control and monitoring. 

Monitoring, reporting and  
management response
We monitor our risk exposures against risk appetite as 
well as management actions on a continuous basis to 
confirm that our risk mitigations are effective. We then 
report our monitoring to oversight committees and 
individuals with responsibility for risk management 
in order to inform business decisions. Monitoring 
considers both those risks to which Rothesay is 
currently exposed, in addition to emerging risks that 
may impact Rothesay in the future. 

Capability, resources and risk culture 
Rothesay seeks to attract and retain the highest 
quality talent in the industry. The effectiveness of 
our risk management depends upon the high quality 
of our people and the strong risk culture and risk 
management practices.

We are committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of integrity, transparency and accountability. 
Good conduct is fundamental to our purpose, strategy 
and how we operate and is also good business 
practice. A good culture is one where people do the 
right thing, feel empowered to speak up if something 
doesn’t look right and know they can rely on support 
from management. Training is conducted so that 
everyone understands Rothesay’s culture and the part 
they play in maintaining standards and in managing 
risk effectively.

Rothesay’s risk culture is set from the top down, 
with the Board and Senior Management ensuring 
that risk management is embedded throughout the 
organisation, and demonstrating day-to-day how risk 
management informs decisions big and small. Risk 
management and conduct are an integral part of 
Rothesay’s performance review process, ensuring  
that all Rothesay employees are held to the  
highest standards. 

Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA)
The ORSA is undertaken at least annually and involves an 
assessment of the risks to which the business is exposed 
as well as solvency forecasting in a range of scenarios, 
including consideration of the stresses that could 
jeopardise Rothesay’s business plans. The ORSA is an 
important input to Rothesay’s strategic planning cycle.

Rothesay also runs a number of stress tests on a daily 
and weekly basis. The stresses have been developed so 
as to provide coverage over the key risks implicit within 
the portfolio at the time. Examples of stresses currently 
applied to the portfolio include issuer default stresses, 
property stresses, credit spread widening, credit 
downgrades and market risk stresses on  
liquidity outflows.  
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Principal risks and uncertainties facing Rothesay
Rothesay’s principal risks are credit, insurance, climate, liquidity and market related. An overview of these and 
other risks associated with the business, including an outline of how each is mitigated and how the risk has 
changed from last year, is provided in the table below. Our risk exposures generally increase with the size of the 
balance sheet; in the table below we have only shown an increasing trend where the increase has been out of line 
with this.

In the table, strategic priorities 1 to 4 refer to:
1. Financial security 2. Steady growth 3. Service excellence 4. Reliable performance over time 

More details can be found in notes E and F of the financial statements.

Risk Mitigation
Strategic 
priority Change from 2021 annual report

Credit risk
The risk that a borrower’s 
creditworthiness 
deteriorates or that the 
borrower defaults. Our 
financial and/or capital 
position could be adversely 
impacted by downgrades, 
credit spread widening or 
defaults.

Rothesay carefully selects the investments it makes 
in order to generate an adequate risk-adjusted 
return, has a preference for investments with 
structured protection such as collateral, and may 
purchase external credit protection to mitigate the 
impact of any defaults.
Rothesay maintains a highly experienced market-
facing team as well as a second-line internal credit 
risk team who regularly monitor and assess the 
credit risk associated with its investments. 

1,4 á 
Rising interest rates and 
inflation combined with 
potential recession may 
adversely impact some of 
our borrowers.

Counterparty default risk
The risk that a financial 
counterparty’s 
creditworthiness 
deteriorates or that a 
counterparty defaults. Our 
financial and/or capital 
position could be adversely 
impacted by downgrades, 
credit spread widening or 
defaults.

Rothesay prefers to work with highly rated 
and stable counterparties, and to diversify 
counterparty exposures where appropriate. 
Derivative and reinsurance contracts are subject to 
margining requirements to ensure exposures are 
appropriately collateralised.
Rothesay actively monitors counterparties for 
downgrade risk, and may also purchase credit 
protection to mitigate specific exposures.

1,4 á 
Rising interest rates and 
inflation combined with 
potential recession may 
adversely impact some of 
our counterparties. 

Insurance risk
The risk that demographic 
experience is different 
from expected. As the 
pensions insured by 
Rothesay are guaranteed, 
our financial and/or capital 
position could be adversely 
impacted if, for example, 
policyholders live longer 
than expected. 

Rothesay invests in both people and modelling 
capabilities to understand its longevity experience 
and to help assess what could happen in the 
future. 
Rothesay aims to reinsure a majority of its 
longevity exposure. As at 31 December 2022, 
Rothesay had reinsured 89% of its longevity risk 
(2021: 84%) (APM).

1,4 à 
The impact of COVID-19 on 
future longevity remains 
uncertain. 

Risk management continued



49Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 2022

Strategic report

Risk Mitigation
Strategic 
priority Change from 2021 annual report

Market risk
The risk of adverse 
movements in interest 
rates, inflation or currency. 
Rothesay’s financial and/
or capital position could 
be adversely impacted 
by market movements to 
the extent that assets and 
liabilities are mismatched.

Rothesay monitors interest rate risk, inflation 
risk and foreign exchange risk closely, and uses 
derivatives to hedge the risks. We also undertake 
regular scenario testing, for example in relation 
to a UK downgrade, to understand the impact of 
potential combinations of stresses.
Assets and liabilities are matched as closely as 
possible, including using inflation-linked assets to 
meet inflation-linked liabilities.

1,4 à 
Volatile market conditions 
have continued in 2022.

Property risk
The risk of a fall in the 
value of property. Through 
its investments secured 
on property, Rothesay’s 
financial and/or capital 
position could be adversely 
impacted by falls in the 
value of property.

Residential property risk is reduced through strict 
underwriting criteria, covering, for example, the 
quality of the underlying property, flood risk and 
loan-to-value limits by age of borrower. We have 
also established prudent reserves covering the 
potential cost of the no negative equity guarantee 
on lifetime mortgages.
Exposure to commercial real estate is reduced by 
ensuring that loans have a low loan-to-value ratio, 
that there are appropriate covenants and that 
properties have strong tenants.

1,4 á 
Rising interest rates and 
potential recession mean 
that there is downwards 
pressure on property 
prices.

Liquidity risk
The risk of being unable 
to realise investments and 
other assets in order to 
settle financial obligations 
when they fall due. Given 
our holding of illiquid 
assets, there is a risk that 
we are unable to meet 
payments or collateral calls 
as they fall due in adverse 
circumstances.

Rothesay has a comprehensive liquidity 
management framework that ensures sufficient 
liquidity is held to meet collateral outflows as 
well as projected expenses and other outflows, in 
extreme market conditions.

1,4 à 
Market movements in 
2022 led to large collateral 
calls. However, Rothesay’s 
liquidity position has 
remained robust 
throughout.

Climate change
Rothesay’s assets are 
exposed to the potential 
impact of climate change. 
Such risks include:
• physical risks such as 

increasing frequency and 
severity of flooding; and

• transition risks which can 
arise from the process 
of adjustment towards a 
low-carbon economy.

Rothesay has established an ESG Working Group 
to focus on improving the way in which we 
manage this risk. Our in-house investment team 
is responsible for the selection and management 
of all of Rothesay’s assets. The team considers 
climate-related risk as part of the investment 
process. In addition, Rothesay considers flood risk 
as part of its lending policies.

1,4 à 
Rothesay has become a 
member of the NZAOA 
and we have set the 
interim goal of reducing 
emissions by 20% over the 
next five years. See page 
55 for further information.
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Risk Mitigation
Strategic 
priority Change from 2021 annual report

Operational risk
The risk of operational 
failure, including project 
risk, cyber risk and 
conduct failures. Rothesay 
is exposed to the risk of 
operational failure as 
a result of failure of a 
strategic business partner 
or of its own systems and 
processes. This could lead 
to reputational damage 
and increased costs.

Rothesay has no appetite for material operational 
risk losses, and has a strong control environment 
to limit these risks as far as possible.
The Customer Conduct Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that stakeholders are treated fairly by 
Rothesay and its strategic business partners.
Strategic projects are monitored by Rothesay’s 
change management function and relevant 
committees and are required to operate according 
to our project management framework. 
Scenario analysis covering a variety of potential 
operational risk events is regularly carried out.
Rothesay seeks to mitigate cyber risk through 
robust processes and controls including data 
protection, penetration testing and staff  
training, and maintains ISO 27001 and I 
SO 22301 accreditation.
Where Rothesay outsources some of its 
responsibilities, we undertake thorough due 
diligence in advance of appointment and then 
have a strong programme of oversight.

3,4 à 
Through the COVID-19 
pandemic, Rothesay 
and our strategic 
business partners have 
demonstrated operational 
resilience.
Cyber and financial 
crime risk continue to be 
heightened.
Rothesay has experienced 
pressure on staff retention 
and recruitment.
 
 

Strategic, political and 
regulatory risk
The risk of adverse 
changes to the regulatory 
or political environment. 
Rothesay’s strategy, 
financial or capital position 
could be adversely affected 
by the impact of regulatory 
or political change.

Rothesay continues to actively monitor the political 
landscape. Where appropriate, Rothesay carries 
out lobbying activities or responds to consultations 
which may directly impact it. Strategic decisions 
take into account the overall political landscape.
Rothesay’s potential exposure to leasehold reform 
is mitigated by structural protections in the  
loans advanced. 
Rothesay seeks to have a regular dialogue with 
regulators in order to ensure compliance, as well 
as the ability to react quickly to any unanticipated 
developments. Rothesay seeks to have an open 
and transparent relationship with regulators at  
all times.
Rothesay is a member of the Confederation of 
British Industry and the Association of British 
Insurers and we participate in consultations to 
ensure that our interests are protected for the 
benefit of our stakeholders.

1,2,4 á 
There are continued 
political risks globally, as 
well as ongoing regulatory 
change in the UK.
The Government’s planned 
reform of the leasehold 
market could have 
an adverse impact on 
Rothesay’s loans secured 
on ground rents. 

Risk management continued
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Changes in Rothesay’s risk profile and  
emerging risks
2022 has brought a real-life stress test that would 
have been hard to imagine just 12 months earlier, 
with considerable volatility in interest rates, exchange 
rates and inflation. Market levels of interest rates are 
now considerably higher than at the end of 2021, and 
inflation has spiked driven by higher global energy and 
food prices bringing pressure to many industries. As a 
result, credit market conditions have also deteriorated.

The invasion of Ukraine by Russia has led to 
continuing volatility in the global macroeconomic 
environment. We have no direct credit exposure to 
the region through our investment portfolio, but 
continue to carefully monitor and manage the wider 
macroeconomic implications of the conflict and 
associated sanctions imposed on Russia.

Rothesay’s biggest inflation exposure is to long-term 
rates of inflation because our insurance liabilities are 
often inflation-linked. We closely hedge our inflation 
exposure using derivatives and inflation-linked 
assets and we stress inflation as part of our stress 
and scenario testing. We have also reviewed our 
investment portfolio to ensure that our borrowers 
can withstand the impact of higher levels of realised 
inflation, given potential impacts on input costs  
and margins.

Our market-leading risk management systems, 
including access to real-time information about our 
risk positions, have allowed us to respond quickly to 
interest rate and exchange rate volatility, protecting 
the strength of our balance sheet and ensuring that we 
are able to continue to execute our business plans. Our 
ongoing focus on liquidity risk management means 
that the Group’s liquidity position remained robust 
throughout 2022. 

Despite the successful operation of our risk 
management framework in 2022, we are constantly 
reviewing and improving the entire framework to 
ensure that it continues to provide the insights to 
ensure effective risk-based decision making at all levels 
of the organisation. 

In 2022, Rothesay wrote £3.3bn of new business. We 
manage assets of over £47bn and insure the pensions 
of over 825,000 individuals. 

We also entered into five new longevity reinsurance 
agreements, three of which are in relation to historic 
business and two are in relation to new business 
written in 2022. This means our reinsurance coverage 
is now 89% (2021: 84%). Longevity reinsurance reduces 
the capital intensity of new business and allows the 
release of capital held against existing business.

Rothesay has continued its strategy of investment 
in a diverse range of assets. During 2022, we have 
continued to invest in lifetime mortgages and now 
hold a portfolio of £5.1bn. We also continue to fund 
Dutch residential mortgages and long-term, fixed 
rate mortgages in the UK. Although these types of 
mortgage are secured on residential property, the 
risk profiles of lifetime mortgages and fixed-for-term 
mortgages are quite different. Where possible, we 
have continued to switch assets to improve risk-
adjusted returns or to reduce the risk of our portfolio. 
This includes consideration of climate-related risks. 
We continue to actively monitor and manage potential 
downgrade risk across the investment portfolio, 
particularly as continued sustained inflation and 
uncertain central bank monetary responses, may drive 
macro and individual counterparty weakness.

A combination of economies entering into recession 
and rising interest rates has led to pressure on 
property prices and although our loans tend to be low 
loan-to-value and secured on higher quality properties, 
falling property values may lead to credit downgrades 
(in the case of commercial real estate), increased costs 
of providing the no negative equity guarantee on 
lifetime mortgages and increased solvency risk capital.

The long-term impact of COVID-19 is still unclear. 
We will need to accept COVID-19 as a part of the 
healthcare landscape, similar to seasonal influenza. 
Increased NHS backlogs and funding pressure may 
also adversely impact longevity, particularly in the  
near term. 

Rothesay has continued to strengthen its control 
functions and the risk function, bringing in additional 
experts in credit risk, compliance and ESG. Work has 
commenced on the project to comply with the new 
Consumer Duty regulations which come into force in 
July 2023. We have also strengthened our in-house 
internal audit capabilities.

Good progress is being made on the development 
of Rothesay’s technology platform. As part of this, 
we continue to make significant investment in 
our in-house technology capabilities including the 
management of cloud and cyber risks. 
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There continue to be changes in accounting regulation, 
asset trading markets, pensions and tax, the effects 
of which are uncertain. The Government’s proposed 
reform of the leasehold market could have an adverse 
impact on Rothesay’s loans secured on ground rents. 
In addition, the Treasury is working on changes to 
prudential regulation now that the UK is outside the EU 
(see Solvency II reform). 

Transition from LIBOR
The interest rate London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) 
benchmark ceased on 31 December 2021 and our 
preparations meant that the transition to alternative 
rates went smoothly. USD LIBOR will cease on  
30 June 2023 and we are ensuring that we are 
appropriately prepared for this and the transition  
of other benchmarks.

We are now using SONIA as the basis for setting the 
risk-free rate under IFRS, MCEV and Solvency II.

Solvency II reform
In November 2022, HM Treasury announced its 
response to the consultation on Solvency II reform. In 
addition to the changes described earlier under capital 
management, HM Treasury announced that:
• The PRA will have the powers to seek assurance on 

internal ratings.
• Fundamental spreads will be reviewed again in  

five years.
• There will be a widening of Matching Adjustment 

eligibility rules to include “highly predictable cash 
flows”, with prudent haircuts.

• There will also be a strengthened role of stress 
testing for insurers with results to be published  
by the firm.

• A Senior Manager will need to attest to the 
appropriateness of the Matching Adjustment.

The changes will result in a modest capital release 
for Rothesay and will facilitate investment in a wider 
range of assets, particularly infrastructure and other 
productive assets.

Also in November, the PRA published consultation 
paper CP14/22 ‘Review of Solvency II: Reporting 
Phase 2’. This contains further PRA proposals to 
streamline current Solvency II reporting and disclosure 
requirements for insurers, and to tailor reporting more 
appropriately to the UK insurance sector and the PRA’s 
own supervisory needs. The proposed changes are 
intended to make regulatory disclosure less onerous 
though the PRA is also proposing the introduction of 
new disclosure requirements.

Risk management continued

Leasehold reform
The Leasehold Reform (Ground Rent) Act 2022 came 
into force on 30 June 2022. It prohibits ground rents  
for new, qualifying long residential leasehold 
properties in England and Wales but does not cover  
the extension of existing leases. The Act has not 
therefore had a significant impact on our loans  
secured on ground rents.

We continue to monitor developments in this sector 
to understand the implications of potential future 
reforms and we participate in consultations to ensure 
that our interests are protected for the benefit of  
our stakeholders.

Emerging risks
Rothesay has identified a number of emerging risks 
that could impact the business over the medium to 
long term. Geopolitical risk continues to be high across 
Europe and Asia, driven by changes in government and 
evolving global relationships. 

Over the longer term there are risks relating to 
climate change and the way in which these could 
impact Rothesay’s investments. The management of 
climate-related risks is discussed in more detail in the 
ESG Section.

We are also exposed to the risk of significant longevity 
improvements arising from developments such as 
new medical technologies and pharmacological 
breakthroughs. Rothesay manages exposure to 
longevity risk through extensive use of longevity 
reinsurance and we also hold capital to cover a range 
of longevity scenarios. 

More broadly, Rothesay continues to manage its affairs 
prudently such that we are not overexposed to one 
particular risk and so that we only accept risks which 
we understand and which are consistent with our  
risk appetite. 
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Viability and going concern

Viability statement
Rothesay’s strategy and business model both 
centre around long-term pension security for our 
policyholders. This focus leads both management and 
the Board to consider the viability of Rothesay on an 
ongoing basis. The viability of Rothesay is linked to our 
ability to generate profits and maintain solvency and 
liquidity over a period of time. 

Why we assess viability
The Board’s assessment of viability is a central process 
within our risk management and strategic planning 
framework. Rothesay has been purpose-built to protect 
pensions and ensuring the Group remains viable is 
critical to protecting our policyholders’ pensions.

The period we assess
Making a viability assessment requires the principal 
risks of the Group to be thoroughly understood and 
regularly updated for changes.
 
Rothesay’s own views of risk and associated capital 
requirements have been investigated through the 
Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA), including 
consideration of the way in which future changes to 
Rothesay’s risk profile and also external influences may 
impact on the Group’s solvency needs and ability to 
execute the business plan. The ORSA, approved by the 
Board in January 2023, considers risks across a five-
year time horizon and therefore it is felt appropriate 
for the viability assessment to be considered across 
the same time horizon. Rothesay recognises that the 
Group has policyholder liabilities which extend beyond 
the five-year horizon but considers that year-by-year 
projections beyond the five-year period are likely to be 
unreliable given everything that might happen in that 
time. However, given the projected financial position 
of the Company in five years’ time on a range of 
scenarios, the Board does not consider there to be  
any going concern or viability issues beyond  
this timeframe.

How we assess viability 
The ORSA includes a number of forward-looking 
scenarios intended to test the impact of stresses and 
scenarios that may impact Rothesay’s ability to execute 
the business plan. Scenarios considered include shocks 
to new business (up and down), liquidity, financial 
markets (including the global financial crisis)  
and longevity. 

The scenarios are considered appropriately severe 
even following the experience of 2022. Financial 
market stresses are calibrated to ensure that they 
capture the potential impact of climate change on 
our investments. More details on point-in-time stress 
testing can be found in notes E and F of the financial 
statements. The results demonstrate the robustness of 
Rothesay’s solvency and provide insight into the way in 
which the business plan would need to be adapted to 
respond to adverse conditions. Management and the 
Board believe Rothesay is well capitalised on both a 
regulatory and economic capital basis.
 
Given the dynamic nature of the market, the strategic 
business plan is based on a shorter period of three 
years and is prepared on a rolling basis and reviewed 
and approved annually by the Board. The last business 
plan was reviewed and approved in December 
2022. The business plan is refreshed if there are 
material changes to the business model or market 
environment. The business plan is centred around 
Rothesay’s projected new business targets, with 
assumptions about pricing, reinsurance, investment 
strategy, revenue generation, expenses and leverage 
based on Rothesay’s existing business and target 
operating model. In certain scenarios where there 
is very material new business growth, the plan also 
assumes that new equity would be provided by our 
shareholders. IFRS pre-tax profits are driven by two 
key sources: new business profitability and profit 
emergence on the Rothesay back book.

Our assessment of viability and going concern
Given Rothesay’s significant surplus capital, the 
analysis showed that the Group can withstand very 
material adverse shocks. Based on the results of this 
analysis and consideration of viability were the Group 
to be holding surplus capital within its target operating 
range, the Board has a reasonable expectation that 
Rothesay will be able to continue in operation and 
meet its liabilities and obligations as they fall due 
over the five-year period of the assessment. The 
same analysis also informs the Board’s assessment 
of Rothesay’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting.
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When carrying out our business, 
Rothesay will endeavour to ensure 
that we meet our corporate and 
social responsibility and we will 
encourage our business partners to 
do the same. By doing so, we also 
believe that we will achieve positive 
outcomes for all our stakeholders.

In this section, we discuss the 
ways in which we support our 
stakeholders, including our  
people, our customers, our 
strategic business partners  
and our community. 

We have described how Rothesay 
has sought to embed responsibility 
for the management of risks 
associated with climate change  
and other relevant ESG risks 
throughout the business and  
how that is ultimately overseen 
by the Board in the section on 
investing responsibly.

The way in which the interests 
of stakeholders are taken into 
account by the Board is described 
on pages 81 to 83 of the Strategic 
Report and the way in which the 
Board oversees the operations of 
Rothesay more broadly is covered 
in the Governance Report. 

Securing positive outcomes 
for our stakeholders

Running a 
responsible 
business

Environmental, social 
and governance report

Investing responsibly

Rothesay is committed to 
transitioning our investment 
portfolio to net zero greenhouse 
gas emissions by 2050, aligned with 
a maximum temperature rise of 
1.5°C above pre-industrial levels as 
outlined in the Paris Agreement.

We are also committed to 
disclosing our approach to 
managing climate risk in 
accordance with the Task Force 
on Climate-Related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) guidelines.

At Rothesay, our purpose is to protect the 
future of every one of our policyholders 
and to provide them with long-term 
financial security. 

An essential part of our promise is the responsibility to 
carefully manage a wide range of uncertain risks and 
ensure that our investments can produce dependable 
cash flows to match our liabilities. 

In October, we published our second environmental, 
social and governance report, in which we set out our 
progress towards achieving our commitment of net 
zero emissions by 2050. Climate risk is now embedded 
in our business and risk management processes. 
Social and governance factors are considered as part 
of decision making on investments but this will be an 
increased area of focus for 2023.

In this section of the Strategic Report, we discuss 
the way in which we are meeting our environmental 
commitments, how we exercise our social 
responsibilities and governance in relation to ESG. 
Further details can be found in Rothesay’s ESG reports.
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The environment

Rothesay is committed to transitioning 
our investment portfolio to net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, 
aligned with a maximum temperature 
rise of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels 
as outlined in the Paris Agreement. We 
made good progress on our Pathway to 
Net Zero over 2022, including publishing 
our second Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report and our Responsible 
Investment Policy, which sets out the way 
in which we incorporate ESG factors in 
investment decisions. 

The geopolitical events of the last year have brought 
about some unanticipated obstacles that highlight 
just how difficult it will be to stay on our collective 
path to net zero. The competitive drive for national 
energy independence and food security that we 
see developing in the wake of Russia’s illegal war in 
Ukraine acts counter to the cooperative management 
of global resources that will be required if the world is 
to achieve net zero.

More recently, the UN Climate Change Conference 
(COP27) has reminded us all of the scale of what needs 
to be achieved, the urgency with which change needs 
to happen and the importance of bio-diversity. 
 
Many organisations and standards have been set up 
to help and encourage financial institutions to tackle 
the challenges presented by climate change. They 
have overlapping philosophies, goals and levels of 
engagement, making it unnecessary to join them 
all. Rothesay, so far, has decided to support the 
following, all of which are well established, make 
recommendations that are widely adopted and provide 
clear frameworks for their signatories to follow:

• Rothesay is a member of the UN-convened Net-Zero 
Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA).

• Rothesay is a supporter of the Financial Stability 
Board’s TCFD and endorses its recommendations.

• Rothesay is a signatory to the UN Principles of 
Responsible Investing.

• Rothesay is one of 20 international financial 
institutions in the PRA/FCA chaired Climate Financial 
Risk Forum.

• Rothesay is in the process of applying to the FRC 
Stewardship Code.

Rothesay is also an early adopter and supporter of The 
ESG Social Housing Working Group.
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The environment continued

Portfolio carbon 
intensity 

197t
CO2e/m USD  

borrower revenue

which reflects a 
decrease of 

7% 
based on rebased 
2020 number and

an increase in portfolio 
Carbon Intensity (CI) 

coverage to

90%

2020

Our pathway to 
Earlier this year we 
announced that we have 
received carbon neutral 
company certification 
for 2021 in accordance 
with The CarbonNeutral 
Protocol, a leading 
global framework for 
carbon neutrality.

We set out in our 
2020 ESG report, 
the pathway by 
which Rothesay 
will transition our 
investment portfolio 
to net zero. We have 
a comprehensive 
plan to achieve net 
zero emissions across 
our business by 2050 
and have clearly 
defined the first 
milestones we will 
need to reach on the 
way.

We are still at the early 
stages of our pathway to 
net zero, with reporting 
standards developing 
all the time, but we are 
proud of the positive 
progress we are making 
and are committed to 
being as transparent as 
possible in our reporting.

Net ZerNet Zer
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2023 2025 2050

Carbon 
neutral

Our partnership with 
Climeworks should ensure 
the carbon neutrality of our 
own operations for the next 
ten years.

20% 
reduction by 2025 

We aim to reduce the Scope 1 
and 2 carbon intensity of our 
portfolio of publicly traded 
debt by 20% over the five years 
beginning with the baseline set 
in 2020.

Net Zero

Rothesay is committed 
to transitioning our 
investment portfolio to 
net zero greenhouse 
gas emissions by 2050, 
aligned with a maximum 
temperature rise of 
1.5 degrees above pre-
industrial levels as outlined 
in the Paris Agreement. 
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ESG governance
Effective management of climate opportunities and 
risks must be reinforced by a strong governance 
framework to ensure that climate considerations, 
alongside broader ESG factors, are factored into every 
business decision. 

A strong Board with an effective supporting committee 
structure is a key component of the governance 
framework of Rothesay. The Board is responsible for 
overseeing the delivery of the overall strategy of the 
Group and as part of this is also ultimately responsible 
for the business’ approach to ESG-related risks and 
opportunities, including climate-related impacts. As 
part of this, the Board review and approve Rothesay’s 
climate commitments, external disclosures, such as the 
ESG report, and other material communications.

Since the presentation of the results of the 2019 PRA 
climate stress test, the topic of climate change has 
become a regular item at both Board Risk Committee 
and Board meetings with the material presented falling 
into three categories: 
• General information designed to educate and ensure 

a broad understanding. 
• Rothesay’s climate-related metrics, including KPIs 

from the Risk Management Framework (for business 
operations and the investment portfolio). 

• Sector specific information that provides a guide to 
decision making at a granular asset by asset level. 
The annual Board strategy meeting also included an 
agenda item on the positioning and management of 
ESG risk.

For information on the way in which the Board 
oversees the operations of Rothesay more broadly 
see the Governance section. A full breakdown of the 
committees that support the Board in its oversight of 
climate can be found in our ESG Report. 

Management oversight
Although climate risk is directly embedded in our 
business, we have nominated specific members of the 
Executive Team to be responsible for the oversight 
of climate change at Rothesay. The PRA requires that 
Senior Management Functions be nominated to take 
overall responsibility for identifying and managing the 
risks from climate change, and Rothesay has elected to 
share that role between the Head of Asset and Liability 
Management and the Chief Risk Officer. 

Day-to-day responsibility for the implementation of 
Rothesay’s climate change risk and ESG framework 
has been delegated to the ESG Working Group (EWG), 
a sub-committee of the Executive Risk Committee. In 
line with Rothesay’s philosophy of ensuring that ESG 
considerations are not confined to one team, the EWG 

draws membership from across the business and is 
chaired by the Head of Investment Strategy. 

A dedicated ESG team, led by the Head of ESG and 
Liquid Credit Risk and reporting into the CRO, supports 
the work of the EWG and the ongoing enhancement 
of related projects, working across all areas of the 
business to effectively embed processes. Weekly  
ESG updates are provided at Senior Executive 
Committee briefings. 

At Rothesay, however, we do not want climate 
risk management to solely be the responsibility of 
the members of the EWG and our dedicated ESG 
team. We are keenly aware that the input of every 
employee is required to provide a better future for 
our stakeholders. Alignment with, and contribution 
to, Rothesay’s ESG objectives forms part of every 
employee’s annual performance review and is reflected 
in variable pay.

Training and remuneration
One of the responsibilities of the EWG is to support the 
wider sustainability of Rothesay and its employees. Our 
team have hosted training sessions open to employees 
on the fundamentals of climate change and Rothesay’s 
approach to ESG risk, in addition to a presentation for 
all new joiners. We have also developed a mandatory 
ESG training module for all employees covering 
areas such as the ESG risks facing Rothesay and how 
individuals can help support our ESG objectives. 
Alignment with, and contribution to, Rothesay’s ESG 
objectives forms part of every employee’s annual 
performance review.

ESG strategy
Rothesay is committed to meeting our climate 
commitments as outlined in this report and, in order 
to do this, we need to consider the broad and varied 
risks and opportunities that climate change presents 
across our business operations, as well as our asset 
and liability portfolios. Climate-related considerations 
are integrated throughout Rothesay’s strategy and 
decision-making approaches, alongside broader ESG 
factors. This includes managing the carbon intensity of 
our portfolio as a key risk performance indicator. 

We undertake an ongoing review to identify and 
monitor the climate-related risks and opportunities 
that are most material to Rothesay. Based on TCFD 
definitions1, we focus on: 

• Transition risks: related to the transition to a lower-
carbon economy which may require extensive policy, 
legal, technology and market changes to address 
mitigation and adaptation requirements. 

The environment continued

1 Definitions based on TCFD publication: Recommendations of the Task 
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures ( June 2017). 
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• Physical risks: related to event driven (acute) or 
longer-term shifts (chronic) in climate conditions. 

• Opportunities: related to efforts to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change that produce opportunities 
internally and externally for Rothesay and 
stakeholders. 

We note that climate-related risks and opportunities 
will materialise over the short term (up to five years), 
medium term and long term (2050) time horizons. 
The uncertainty that remains over when these risks 
will crystallise, increases the importance of effective 
planning and proactive management of these risks 

and opportunities. We also acknowledge that both 
physical and transition climate-related impacts are 
already having an impact on our own operations and 
our investments. 

The below table outlines our assessment of the most 
material climate-related risks and opportunities from 
Rothesay’s perspective. It also outlines some potential 
impacts, the timeframes over which these may occur 
and how our strategy and frameworks are positioned 
to manage these. We continue to review and assess 
our view of these risks and opportunities to ensure we 
remain appropriately positioned. 

Area Potential impacts Management tools

Investments Rothesay’s most material exposure to climate-
related risk for Rothesay comes from our 
investments:
• Lower performance of investments 

misaligned with climate transition (short, 
medium term and long term).

• Changes in capital requirements to cover 
impacts from climate impacts.

• Reduced asset valuations due to ongoing 
damage/business disruption costs including 
supply chain (long-term).

• Increased litigation risk (medium term).
• Increased volatility in markets including 

impacts to Sovereign performance (medium 
to long term).

Rothesay manages our investments in-
house meaning we have the strong ability to 
consider: 
• Proactive, managed changes to portfolio 

composition. 
• Duration and liquidity management for 

identified climate material entities.
• Engagement with material entities.

Own operations • Increased requirements and regulatory 
oversight on our climate management and 
green/ESG credentials (short term). 

• Increased disruption to own operations 
and supply chain, caused by climate-related 
weather events (long term).

• Changing stakeholder attitudes driving 
changes in our behaviour (short to  
medium term).

• Transparent disclosure in line with market 
best practice.

• Assessment and management of own 
operations, including annual reporting. 

• Building of internal understanding and 
capacity on climate-related risks.

Insurance 
liabilities

• Impacts on longevity and morbidity of 
policyholders from climate change impacting 
accuracy of our assumptions and models 
(long term).

• Impact of natural catastrophes may adversely 
impact reinsurers (short to medium term).

• Consideration of climate-related scenarios in 
calculation of longevity risk capital. 

• Robust counterparty risk management.

Opportunities • Increased performance of investments in 
companies well positioned to benefit from 
low carbon economy. 

• Increased performance of sovereign 
positions in countries well positioned to 
benefit from low carbon economy.

• Reputational benefit of strong ESG risk 
management.

• Identification of pure green investments 
within the portfolio. 

• Consideration and future plans to utilise 
tools such as EU Taxonomy to identify 
aligned activities. 
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Our climate strategy aims to ensure that we invest 
in companies that are determined to address the 
challenges of climate change. We do this by monitoring 
the progress of companies within our portfolio, 
assessing the likelihood of their failure and making 
decisions accordingly. Our ability to identify and invest 
early in enterprises that successfully navigate to a low 
carbon future is vital to our ability to carry out our core 
purpose: securing the future for our policyholders by 
protecting their pensions. A more detailed description 
of our climate-related strategy can be found in our 
specific ESG Report. 

We are not just focused on climate-related risks but 
also the opportunities that transition to a low-carbon 
economy can bring. We are committed to supporting 
the market as it develops and, in particular, we stand 
ready to help fund projects that aid the transition 
to a low carbon economy, balanced with a need for 
solid credit fundamentals. We plan to utilise the EU 
Taxonomy, once data availability improves, to support 
the identification of aligned activities that will support 
this goal.

Climate change and our assets
Our climate-related investment strategy varies 
depending on asset under consideration. Managing 
our climate risk does not necessarily mean divesting 
from high emitters. We are prepared to invest in 
issuers in whom we have confidence that their 
emissions will decline in line with appropriate targets 
in the short and medium term. But we will reduce 
exposure to issuers where we have less confidence in 
the responsible stewardship of climate risks.

In considering climate change risk, Rothesay’s 
investment portfolio can be divided into three main 
groups according to the impact that climate-related 
risks can have on their valuation:
a. Supranational, sovereign and public finance bonds.
b. Corporate bonds and infrastructure lending.
c. Bonds and loans secured by property.

The below summarises some of the key outputs from 
our 2021 ESG Report for each asset class. 

1. Supranational, sovereign and public finance 
bonds

To a large extent, Rothesay’s pathway to net zero is 
reliant on the policy decisions made and implemented 
by the governments of the countries in which we make 
investments. In particular, these assets are exposed 
to the medium to long-term transition risks driven by 
public commitments made by the governments and, 
on a longer time span, physical risk from increased 
frequency/severity of physical perils (depending on 
geographical location). 

In 2021, most countries experienced an above trend 
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions although 
China, where the pandemic, in its first year, was 
controlled in a way that avoided the damage to 
the industrial production experienced elsewhere, 
continued to increase emissions. As economic activity 
picks up again and given the impact of the Ukraine war 
on energy supplies, we expect emissions to reverse 
at least some of their declines which will require 
additional action to ensure national commitments can 
be met. 

The main elements of this group in Rothesay’s portfolio 
are bonds guaranteed by the UK sovereign, mostly 
gilts. Insofar as climate risk is concerned, the UK has a 
number of advantageous attributes including a limited 
exposure to the physical impact of climate risk and a 
Government pledge to be carbon neutral by 2050. This 
supports the alignment of our investment strategy 
with our climate goals. 

2. Corporate bonds and infrastructure
Our climate strategy with respect to corporate bonds 
is broadly unchanged from last year. We continue to 
invest in a diversified portfolio of corporate bonds, 
including regulated infrastructure such as water, 
energy and transportation. 

We have a public Responsible Investment Policy that 
makes clear that we prefer to analyse the individual 
climate characteristics of each investment rather 
than relying on blanket sectoral exclusions, as we 
do not believe that rapid total divestment is an 
optimal strategy for limiting climate change through 
actual real-world reductions. In line with our NZAOA 
membership, however, we have decided to adopt 
an exclusion in relation to certain coal financing and 
have also recently introduced an exclusion related to 
controversial weapons. Details on these positions can 
be found in our 2021 ESG Report. 

In line with our Responsible Investment Policy, we 
monitor our investments in carbon intensive sectors 
in order that the emissions of our portfolio as a whole 
can be aligned with our climate goals. Furthermore, 
within each carbon intensive sector, through detailed 
consideration of individual corporate strategies, 
we try to identify those firms most likely to adapt 
to a low carbon world. Where we identify climate 
risk, we may limit our investments both in size and 
maturity while lending in the most liquid corporate 
bond format so that adjustment can be made when 
outlooks or circumstances change long before default 
or downgrade. This supports the management of 
risk, but also allows for identification of investment 
opportunities in entities best positioned.

The environment continued
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Within the timespan covered by much of Rothesay’s 
corporate bond portfolio, the risk is less to the 
vulnerability of a company’s buildings and plant to 
physical climate risk (such as flood or storm damage) 
than to transition risk, or the impact of governments 
regulating the transition to a low carbon economy 
and change in consumer preferences. However, where 
it is important, we also consider the location and 
vulnerability of key assets, particularly infrastructure. 

3. Bonds and loans secured by property
Our secured illiquid assets are mostly backed by 
property, principally UK and Dutch residential real 
estate as well as commercial real estate in the UK, 
US and Australia. Our climate strategy with respect 
to property-backed investments is unchanged since 
last year. We focus on understanding the impact of 
physical risks on the asset valuation of our portfolio, 
both from short and longer-term climate impacts. 
Our asset locations are such that the overall risk of 
wildfire and storm damage is low but an assessment 
of flood risk is undertaken prior to lending. We have 
worked with a consultancy firm, Ambiental, to conduct 
climate scenario analysis in which possible flood maps 
of the future are used to understand which buildings 
currently thought to be safe from inundation may 
become susceptible with differing degrees of global 
warming. This supports screening of our portfolio. 

Property is also not immune from transition risk and 
Rothesay is alert to the possibility of Government 
regulation requiring energy efficiency improvements 
or resulting in a change in demand for property use. 
Rothesay has continued to gather more data and has 
been able to improve the granularity with which we can 
report and estimate emissions for this asset class, and 
consider potential value impacts for risk management.

Climate scenario analysis
Rothesay continues to develop its approach to 
climate change scenario testing, with the objective 
to incorporate this exercise as a key component of 
our risk management framework over time. Climate 
scenario analysis techniques and supporting data are 
continuing to evolve, and practices are likely to develop 
considerably in the coming years. Nevertheless, we 
are still able to leverage emerging scenario analysis 
capabilities and insights which substantiate our 
views of relative climate riskiness at the sectoral and 
company level, and allow us to consider portfolio 
sensitivities across different scenarios. 

In addition to the property based climate stress 
assessment discussed above, we utilise Planetrics, a 
McKinsey & Company solution, which offers tools to 

help quantify, report, and manage climate impacts, 
to support our corporate and sovereign climate 
stress testing. Planetrics currently support modelling 
against six NGFS (The Network of Central Banks 
and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System) 
scenarios as well as the forecast policy and required 
policy scenarios, which allows for a wide range of 
sensitivity analysis. 

To demonstrate the sensitivity across various 
scenarios, we have assessed our portfolio against 
three NGFS scenarios as the foundation for our current 
scenario analysis1. These are equivalent scenarios to 
the Bank of England’s Climate Biennial Exploratory 
Scenario (CBES) exercise, and represent different 
possible climate outcomes over a 30-year horizon and 
consider the spread and ratings impact of physical and 
transition risks across our bond portfolio. 

The impact of climate change on our portfolio is 
relatively moderate assuming that companies meet 
their decarbonisation targets. If we assume that 
companies do not meet their targets then, of course, 
climate change has a greater impact on our portfolio. 
Under both the Below 2°C and Delayed Transition 
scenarios, the utilities sector faces the most risk given 
its exposure to the carbon transition. However, if we 
assume that the sector meets its targets then this 
sector will drive the largest positive impact on our 
portfolio. These results align with our view of the 
importance of the sector as one of the largest polluters 
but also as a driver of the energy transition. 

We understand what the benefits of robust climate 
scenario analysis can bring to our business so we  
will continue to build on the good progress we have 
made this year. This involves refining our choice of 
scenarios, and considering potential implications for 
portfolio management and capital allocation, both in 
terms of managing climate risk effectively across our 
business, and refining our path to meet our long-term 
climate targets. 

ESG risk management
Our approach to the identification and management 
of climate risks is guided by our RMF, in which the 
management of ESG risk is embedded, and our 
Responsible Investment Policy. 

Our approach to risk management requires the 
application of clear risk management processes at 
point of purchase and through the duration of our 
investments. Heightened scrutiny is triggered as 
climate risk increases.

1 These scenarios, rather than the IPCC scenarios, were selected to allow our work to be directly comparable to firms participating in the CBES, even 
though the Below 2°C scenarios are not necessarily consistent with a 1.5°C outcome. 
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Climate screening
Rothesay’s approach to the integration of climate 
factors, where they are material within our investment 
decision making, is to focus on financing the shift to 
net zero by preferentially investing in entities with clear 
transition plans and which are instrumental in effecting 
real world emission reductions.

Rothesay has developed a climate scoring approach 
to highlight entities with elevated exposure to climate 
risk for which more detailed analysis is undertaken. 
The assignment of scores for comparison across our 
portfolio provides an additional lens through which 
to identify priority issuers with which to engage 
on climate issues. This climate score supports our 
assessment of an issuer’s exposure to transitional 
and physical climate impacts. It supplements the 
current (spot) carbon intensity measure and builds 
our understanding of the scale and effectiveness of an 
issuer’s transition strategy. A score is allocated to all 
issuers within the portfolio based on the materiality 
of climate impacts. Use of scores provides a quick and 
easy way to understand climate exposure within the 
existing framework and is updated as performance of 
an issuer evolves.

Given their activities, some sectors are more likely to 
face elevated climate impacts. In order to identify and 
monitor these sectors, we undertake an annual review 
of Rothesay’s portfolio in which we consider  
the concentration of emissions alongside analyst 
opinions of the industry concerned. Around 8% of 
Rothesay’s portfolio is invested in sectors that we 
currently deem the most material which include 
transport, construction, mining and metals, oil  
and gas and utilities.

Our potential financial exposure to climate transition 
risk due to property lending is estimated by conducting 
scenario analysis, as described below, for both  
physical changes and potential changes to energy 
efficiency rules.

Portfolio surveillance
We manage our overall portfolio exposure to climate 
risk with reference to quantitative indices (e.g. the 
carbon intensity of the portfolio) and monitor this at 
portfolio, sector and individual issuer level. We also 
manage our climate risk exposure at the issuer level by 
assessing ongoing developments in their climate risk 
management strategy and performance against target 
metrics, including carbon intensity and emissions 
reductions. This aligns the risk management of our 
investments for the benefit of our policyholders, with 
real-world decarbonisation. 
• The climate score for issuers will be regularly 

updated to reflect current climate commitments, 
as well as performance against these targets. This 
classification will also support our understanding 
of the level of climate risk within our portfolio, by 
analysing and reporting the distribution of issuers 
allocated each climate score to the Executive and 
Board Risk Committees.

• As part of our business as usual credit assessment 
processes, we continue to ensure that climate-driven 
events which may result in a credit rating change are 
assessed by analysts to understand any potential 
impacts.

Where Rothesay funds the origination of mortgages 
in the UK, our lending criteria includes a specification 
of the type of properties that are acceptable 
including factors such as construction, location and 
environmental perils such as flood risk. For internally 
rated assets, any climate risk that is material to the 
credit risk arising during the life of the transaction is 
also expected to be captured during the review of the 
internal credit rating assessment.

Engagement 
Engagement with issuers to encourage more 
sustainable practices is an important aspect of our 
approach to ESG management. Engagement ensures 
that we maintain an appropriate understanding of 
risks to which our borrowers are exposed and allows 
us to encourage greater ambition in disclosures and 
climate risk management.

As we do not use external asset managers, all our 
engagement is coordinated by members of our Credit 
Risk and Asset Management teams. Our bilateral 
engagement approach is predominantly focused on 
specific, direct engagement with the most material 
corporate issuers within our portfolio. For example, we 
have a target to engage with at least 20 of our most 
emissions intensive companies each year within our 
corporate bond sub-portfolio, along with our most 
material suppliers.

The environment continued
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Metrics and targets
Our portfolio metrics
Our targets
Rothesay is committed to transitioning our investment portfolio to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by  
2050, aligned with a maximum temperature rise of 1.5 degrees above pre-industrial levels as outlined in the  
Paris Agreement.

In order to track our progress on transitioning our investment portfolio to net zero, we also have a number of 
additional targets in place:

Target

Base year value

(t CO2e/m USD)

2021 value

(t CO2e/m USD) Change (%)

20% reduction in the carbon intensity of 
our portfolio by 2025

211 197 (7)%

20% reduction in the carbon intensity of 
our NZAOA aligned sub-portfolio

222 184 (17)%

1.5°C portfolio temperature alignment 2021 is our first year 
recording this metric

2.7°C n/a

In the industry there are a wide range of climate 
metrics that can be reported to support ESG risk 
assessments. Rothesay has expanded its coverage  
of climate metrics from carbon intensity to also  
include Financed Emissions and Temperature 
Alignment. The range of metrics we use will  
continue to grow, prioritising greater insight,  
reflecting improved data availability and evolving 
regulatory disclosure standards.

Data sources and availability
An industry-wide challenge to the integration of ESG 
risk is the continuing issue of data coverage and 
accuracy, especially relating to climate metrics. We take 
great effort to report data, where available, utilising a 
number of data sources and estimation methodologies 
in our carbon intensity approach. 

Company emissions data tends to significantly lag 
other types of disclosure and so portfolio values 
presented in this report relate to our portfolio at  
year end 2021. We will provide an updated summary  
of our portfolio emission metrics as part of our  
2022 ESG report, which will be published later in  
the calendar year.

The ESG data universe is continuing to evolve, with 
better coverage, new metric requirements and 
improved methodologies becoming available each 
year. As such, we have conducted a review of the ESG 
data universe, in alignment with our own needs going 
forward. The outcome of this review was to select 
Bloomberg and MSCI as new ESG data providers.

Aggregated carbon intensity for Rothesay’s 
investment portfolio
Rothesay reports the carbon intensity (CI) of our 
investment portfolio on a revenue basis, covering 
Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions for the constituent 
issuing entities. For Rothesay these make up the 
bulk of our Scope 3 emissions and we analyse them 
independently from the rest of the emissions with 
which the firm is associated.

The breakdown of our portfolio CI is shown in the table 
that follows. Note that due to misalignment between 
the publishing of emissions data and our reporting 
dates, this disclosure is based on data reported by 
companies in 2021, which is related to their YE 2020 
data. Details on the methodology used for each asset 
class can be found in the 2021 ESG Report:
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Portfolio temperature alignment
An increasingly more popular forward-looking metric 
is the calculation of a portfolio’s implied temperature 
alignment, which can then be compared to the Paris 
Agreement goal of keeping a global temperature rise 
well below 2°C (with an ambition to keep the rise below 
1.5°C) compared to pre-industrial levels.

Whilst there are many paths to net-zero by 2050, only 
the steepest reduction trajectories will limit warming 
to 1.5°C due to temperature rise being determined by 
cumulative emissions. With current temperature rise 
estimated to be 1.07°C, The Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) suggests that to have a 50:50 
chance of staying below 1.5°C the remaining carbon 
budget from 2020 is only 500 GtCO2. This can then be 
allocated between all emitting entities whose business 
plans can then be assessed to determine alignment 
with allocated shares. Using an estimated linear 
relationship between additional cumulative emissions 
and additional temperature rise beyond 1.5°C, we can 
convert expected budget overruns by a company into 
an effective temperature alignment. Just as a single 
company can be assigned a carbon budget, so can a 
portfolio of investments. Each entity within a portfolio 
is allocated a portion of that entity's budget dependent 
on size of position held, weighted on EVIC (Enterprise 
value including cash) basis. For Rothesay’s portfolio, 
temperature alignment estimates are only available for 
a 15% subset of holdings by market value for which the 
temperature alignment score is 2.7°C.

Our operational footprint (Streamlined energy 
and carbon reporting)
As well as considering our investment behaviour, 
Rothesay’s strategy includes climate-related 
commitments for our own operations. As part of this 
commitment, we managed to achieve carbon neutrality 
of our own operations ahead of our 2023 targets. We 
also conduct climate assessments across our material 
suppliers, engaging as appropriate to encourage best 
practice and adequate disclosure.

For the 10% of the portfolio without data, we were 
unable to find the relevant numbers either in the 
datasets we have purchased or in public disclosures by 
the issuer or as a result of direct engagement with the 
issuer.

Climate data availability continues to evolve so we have 
obtained data for certain entities for the first time, 
and have made some improvements to our emissions 
estimation methodology this year. The adjustments 
rebase the starting CI for the 2020 year-end portfolio 
(2019 climate data) from 188 to 211. The subsequent 
reduction in CI to 197 at year end 2021 represents a 
decline of 7%. 

Portfolio values for year end 2020 must be considered 
against the impact of COVID-19, which had significant 
ramifications for both emissions and revenues. We 
expect fluctuations in CI due to external effects to 
continue over the coming years due to variations in 
inflation and foreign exchange rates, showing the need 
for establishing targets over a five-year period.

NZAOA sub-portfolio
We track the CI of both the whole portfolio and our 
NZAOA sub-portfolio defined as listed issuers with an 
ISIN. The NZAOA sub-portfolio had a size of £14bn and 
represented 24% of the full portfolio at year end 2021.

Our near term target is for a 20% reduction in CI by 
2025 from that of the base year, 2020 which used 
2019 climate data. While the CI for the whole portfolio, 
after rebasing, was down a little under 7%, that for the 
NZAOA sub-portfolio was lower by 17% to 184. Again, 
extrapolation for future years should be avoided given 
abnormal emissions and revenue patterns during 2020 
due to COVID-19 impacts.

Aggregate carbon intensity of Rothesay’s investment portfolio (YE2021)

Category

2021 2020 (adjusted)

Market 
value 
(£bn)

Data coverage 
(% market value)

Weighted 
average carbon 

intensity  
(t CO2e/m USD)

Carbon intensity 
contribution  

(t CO2e/m USD)

Weighted 
average carbon 

intensity  
(t CO2e/m USD)

Carbon intensity 
contribution  

(t CO2e/m USD)

Supranationals/sovereign/public 21.0 84% 196 65 222 65

Corporate and infrastructure 15.7 95% 172 48 182 60

Property 22.3 92% 215 83 227 86

Overall portfolio 59.0 90% 197 197 211 211
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1 Scope 1 covers CO2 emissions occurring from sources owned or controlled by Rothesay (e.g. gas). These are primarily calculated using meter readings, 
with the Area Method used to estimate Rothesay’s contribution for communal office areas as detailed by The Climate Registry’s General Reporting 
Protocol v3.0.

2 Scope 2 covers CO2 emissions from the generation of electricity purchased by Rothesay. These are primarily calculated using meter readings, with the 
Area Method used to estimate Rothesay’s contribution for communal office areas. Location-based values are estimated using conversion factors from 
the UK Government’s GHG conversion factors for company reporting in 2022.

3 Scope 3 covers CO2 emissions occurring from business travel in rental or employee-owned vehicles where Rothesay is responsible for purchasing 
the fuel. These are estimated from total mileage by using the ‘Average car’ and ‘Petrol’ conversion factor from the UK Government’s GHG conversion 
factors for company reporting in 2022.

The table below summarises Rothesay’s energy consumption, CO2 emissions, and emissions intensity metrics 
for 2022 and a comparison to the identical metrics from 2020 and 2021. The scope of this reporting covers all 
Rothesay’s UK entities, reflecting Scope 1 and 2 emissions, as well as Scope 3 (energy use and related emissions 
from business travel in rental or employee-owned vehicles where they are responsible for purchasing the fuel). 
This reporting has been compiled in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting 
Standard (Revised 2014), utilising the emission factors from the UK Government’s GHG conversion factors for 
company reporting in 2021 and 2022. Under the scope of the SECR requirements, the reporting below does not 
include Rothesay’s US and Australian entities. However, Rothesay currently has only 13 permanent employees 
in the US and Australia and we are comfortable that the reporting below materially captures the total energy 
consumption and emissions of the Group.

2022 2021 2020

Energy consumption (kWh) 1.138m 1.215m 1.197m

Total CO2e emissions (in tonnes) Market based 59 112 n/a

Location based 217 240 263

Scope 1 CO2e emissions (tonnes)1 56 111 59

Scope 2 CO2e emissions (tonnes)2 Market based – – n/a

Location based 158 129 203

Scope 3 CO2e emissions (tonnes)3 2.7 0.4 1

Carbon dioxide emissions intensity

Total CO2e tonnes per FTE Market based 0.2 0.3 n/a

Location based 0.6 0.7 0.9

We consider the market based metric to be the most accurate reflection of our emissions, as it reflects the actual 
emissions associated with the electricity that Rothesay has consumed. As can be seen from the figures above, 
both our total market based CO2e emissions and emissions intensity have reduced between 2021 and 2022. 
Electricity in our UK office continues to be provided by a 100% renewable supplier, as certified by the Carbon Trust, 
maintaining our Scope 2 emissions at zero. Our Scope 1 emissions have also decreased from 2021, as our fellow 
tenants occupied the building for the entirety of 2022. 

We have also included location based metrics for comparison, which instead use the average emissions 
associated with the electricity grid of the UK. 

Rothesay remains committed to taking steps to minimise our emissions. When travelling for business reasons, 
employees are encouraged to use methods of transport that carry low emissions per kilometre, such as public 
transport. In addition, our offices at the Post Building were awarded a rating of five stars at the Zero Waste Awards.
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Securing positive 
outcomes for 
our stakeholders

We are dedicated to protecting 
the pensions of our policyholders 
and delivering positive outcomes 
for all our stakeholders, including 
our customers, our suppliers, 
our people, our community and 
our investors.
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Securing the future  
for 825,466 people.

There’s one thing Rothesay 
must always do, regardless 
of everything else – and 
that’s pay the benefits of  
our 825,466 policyholders. 
However they come to us – buy-in or buy-out, or from 
another insurer – it's this obligation that we prioritise 
above all others.

As a business, Rothesay is designed to protect 
pensions even through the most difficult times, 
something which has been more important than ever 
during the current economic turmoil.

We also know it's not enough to simply pay benefits. 
It's also vitally important to be there for our 
policyholders, especially in huge life-event moments 
like retirement and bereavement. That's why we are 
proud to deliver demonstrably excellent customer 
service, focused on real care in every detail.

This combination of secure and certain income 
alongside genuine service excellence means our 
customers can be reassured that their pension is in 
safe hands.

Our customers

Supporting vulnerable customers
We are proud of the fact that all of our policyholders 
are treated as individuals and we have strong 
governance in place to help ensure we follow best 
practice in this area. We are actively engaged with the 
Association of British Insurers (ABI) and are a member 
of their Vulnerable Customers Working Group.

We have continued to develop our vulnerable 
customers model, working closely with both 
the Alzheimer’s Society and Cruse Bereavement 
Support. The Alzheimer’s Society’s Dementia Friends 
programme is an initiative intended to change people’s 
perceptions of dementia and in 2022 the Society 
provided a Dementia Friends session to our people. We 
have also been working with the Society on the power 
of attorney process.

We work closely with the customer focused voluntary 
sector and have developed a strong relationship with 
Tax Help for Older People and the Death Notification 
Service. The latter is a free customer-facing service 
that is intended to make the death notification process 
easier during a difficult time.
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Robust service delivery
Not only do we ensure that all of our processes are 
designed to achieve ‘good customer outcomes’, we 
also seek to exceed the standards and guidelines set 
out by the FCA, the Pensions Regulator and the ABI. 
We are currently reviewing all our communications 
and customer-related management information as 
part of ensuring that Rothesay is compliant with the 
new Consumer Duty regulations coming into force 
in July 2023. Our commitment to administration 
continues to be recognised by PASA, the independent 
body dedicated to driving up standards in pension 
administration, and we were re-accredited with their 
Gold standard in January 2022. We are also a member 
of the Institute of Customer Service, an independent, 
professional body for customer service.

We have now introduced the SignVideo service for 
all our deaf or hard of hearing customers. SignVideo 
is a video relay service that connects customers to 
fully qualified, registered NRCPD (National Register of 
Communication Professionals working with Deaf and 
Deafblind People) interpreters who are able to relay 
conversations with our customer service team. 

As noted earlier, we follow a strategic outsourcing 
model and partner with industry experts for the 
provision of administration services – Capita 
Pension Solutions, WTW and Mercer. Our third party 
administration partners have all moved to hybrid 
working and continue to respond well to this new way 
of conducting business. Through our administration 
partners, we have over 250 dedicated staff providing 
our core services, including administration, payroll and 
UK-based contact centre services.

Our customers continued

At the end of 2021, around 350,000 policyholders 
transferred from Prudential to Rothesay. The 
administration of these policies is currently being 
carried out by Diligenta, Prudential’s third party 
administrator. Our focus in the second half of 2022 
has been on planning for the smooth transition of the 
administration of these policies to Capita, which we now 
expect will take place in early 2023. Once the policies 
have transferred, the former Prudential policyholders 
should benefit from the same outstanding service 
provided to our other policyholders. 

We have continued to invest in automation and 
efficiency projects to ensure we have a robust control 
environment to manage existing and future business 
without compromising our high service levels and our 
continued commitment to our policyholders. We assign 
new third party contracts in a way which is intended to 
deliver a high quality customer service and takes into 
account factors such as transaction timing, scheme 
complexity, membership size, potential business 
pipeline, ongoing projects and cost.

We continue to roll out online access for our 
policyholders, allowing them to access policy and 
payment information, view the personal data we hold 
on them and update certain personal data.

Genuine service 
excellence

30
seconds

80% of calls to our call 
centres are answered in 

20 seconds or less1

95%
positive

Policyholders rating 
our service 'good' or 

'excellent’

1 This will only apply to former Prudential policyholders once 
administration transfers to Capita.
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Given the profile of our policyholders as well as the ‘small pots’ initiative referred to below, over recent years 
the number of policyholders has fallen despite a net increase in liabilities from new business. The change in the 
number of policyholders can be seen in the table below.

Rothesay policyholders1

2022 2021

Number of policyholders at 1 January 837,721 847,839

Increase in respect of new business 29,751 12,146

Reduction in respect of deaths and member options (42,006) (22,264)

Number of policyholders at 31 December 825,466 837,721

1  Policyholder estimates are based on analysis of data available at end of November. Part of the reduction in respect of deaths and member options for 2022 
reflects late reporting of 2021 movements. 

We continue to manage the administrators through 
a series of proven, robust governance processes, 
including service level agreements which are amongst 
the most challenging in the industry. We constantly 
measure performance for quality, accuracy and 
timeliness, and maintain stringent internal governance 
to ensure standards are maintained. All of our 
processes have contractual service level agreements 
where we strive for the end-to-end process to be 
as short as possible whilst maintaining quality and 
accuracy. This ensures we maintain excellent customer 
service levels across case work with over 90% of targets 
being met.

Our complaint levels continue to be low with just 
1.37 complaints received per 1,000 policyholders 
(APM) (2021: 1.40 complaints per 1,000) of which  
0.47 complaints per 1,000 policyholders were upheld  
in the customer’s favour (APM) (2021: 0.51 complaints 
per 1,000).

Our administrators escalate all complaints to the 
in-house Operations team immediately for review  
and sign-off of the response. Where policyholders 
express dissatisfaction or make complaints, we 
undertake a full root cause analysis, and this helps 
ensure that we learn from each and every one.

The Customer Conduct Committee, which is now a full 
Board level committee, is focused on ensuring good 
outcomes for customers, clients and counterparties 
are treated fairly by us, as well as overseeing 
Rothesay’s approach to regulatory conduct. In doing 
so, the Committee is supported by the new Executive 
Customer Committee which receives detailed reporting 
on customer service levels and complaints.

The chair of the Customer Conduct Committee,  
Terry Miller, acts as the Board-level Consumer  
Duty Champion.

Enabling flexibility with small pots
During 2022, we have restarted our ‘small pots’ 
initiative under which pensioners with relatively 
small annuities (benefit value of less than £10,000) 
are offered a one-off opportunity to take a lump sum 
payment. This initiative has been discussed with the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and is overseen by 
our Customer Conduct Committee.
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Pension trustees

Rothesay provides pension 
de-risking solutions to 
the trustees of over 200 
pension schemes. 

As noted earlier, during 2022, Rothesay assisted nine 
pension schemes to de-risk their liabilities, resulting in 
new business premiums (APM) of £3.3bn. We aim to 
deliver certainty to trustees and members whatever 
the operating environment by performing detailed due 
diligence up front so that all parties are clear as to the 
risks that are being insured or bought out and then by 
working with the trustees and their administrators to 
make the data cleaning process and conversion from 
buy-in to buy-out as seamless as possible.

We believe in playing our full part in supporting the 
evolution of the defined benefit pensions industry 
as more and more schemes approach their end 
game. During 2022 this has involved over 150 hours 
participating in meetings, discussions, webinars, 
conferences and other presentations, mostly face-
to-face, on the topic of how best to engage with the 
bulk annuity market. This has covered a wide range 
of industry participants including over 40 individual 
events with consultancies, lawyers, independent 
trustee firms, pension schemes, sponsors, other 
pensions professionals and organisations we partner 
with such as PensionsChair, the Association of Member 
Nominated Trustees and Pension Trustees Circle.

Other activity during 2022 included:
• Publishing the third of our “Journey to Buy-out” 

guides. These guides bring together a wide range of 
industry experts to explore the issues and processes 
associated with reaching buy-out.

• Holding an inaugural networking event focused on 
the Next Generation of the Bulk Annuities Market. 
This was aimed at the more junior associates in 
the bulk annuities market and explored important 
leadership skills, how to drive change, and how to 
succeed in the bulk annuity market.

• Contributing to other industry publications, including 
the DLA Piper “De-Risking Best Practice Guide”.

• Writing an article for Insurance Asset Risk magazine 
about Rothesay’s commitment to the UN-convened 
Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance and our own Pathway 
to Net Zero plan.

During 2021, we decided that we would start to 
undertake the administration of pension buy-ins 
in-house, rather than outsourcing this activity.  
We are doing the work in-house for ten schemes 
and work continues to in-source more such activity, 
including for some existing buy-ins where conversion 
to buy-out is not envisaged in the next few years. 
Doing the work in-house ensures that we can build and 
maintain close working relationships with our pension 
scheme counterparties and their administrators and 
allows us to leverage our risk management systems to 
minimise discrepancies and ensure that we fund our 
clients accurately and on time.

Every two years, Rothesay undertakes a regular survey 
of trustees. Individual trustees are asked a series of 
questions by an independent facilitator who then 
produces a report summarising the results. The survey 
was last undertaken in 2021 and Rothesay undertook a 
number of actions in response.

In addition, Executive Directors and management of 
Rothesay have regular meetings with pension scheme 
trustees throughout the year.
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Our strategic 
business partners

Outsourcing model
As noted previously, we follow a strategic outsourcing 
model for the provision of administration services. Key 
to delivery of excellent customer service is our close 
working relationship with our third party administrators, 
WTW, Mercer and Capita Pension Solutions.

As a result of the move to hybrid working, we have 
been in close dialogue with each of our administration 
partners about the operational challenges posed by 
working from home and their capacity and appetite for 
taking on new business.

We also work closely with each of our lifetime 
mortgage servicers and our new fixed-for-term 
mortgage partners.

Other strategic business partners include Northern 
Trust, for middle office functions, and Goldman Sachs, 
which provides technology services. We are making 
good progress in migrating these technology services 
to Rothesay in a project which is expected to take 
several years. 

The Board receives regular reporting on the 
performance of all of Rothesay’s outsourcing partners 
and on progress with the development of Rothesay’s 
technology platform.

Reinsurers
As previously noted, we have entered into five 
new reinsurance contracts in 2022. We now have 
reinsurance coverage (APM) of 89% (2021: 84%).  
The long-term nature of these reinsurance agreements 
means that developing a strong working relationship 
with our reinsurance counterparties is important. 
We administer reinsurance arrangements in-house 

which is operationally efficient and allows us to build 
and maintain strong working relationships with our 
reinsurance counterparties.

Other suppliers
Oversight
The Business Controls Committee, which is chaired by 
the CFO, is responsible for approval, implementation and 
monitoring of the Group’s vendor management policy. 
The policy is designed to ensure that the legal, regulatory, 
information security, reputational, commercial, 
operational and financial risks associated with third party 
relationships are appropriately managed. 

Prompt Payment Code
Rothesay is a member of the Prompt Payment Code. 
Rothesay aims to pay suppliers promptly, with the 
average time taken to pay invoices in 2022 being 15 
days (2021: 12 days) and 95% being paid within 30 days 
(2021: 97%). 

Modern slavery
As required by the Modern Slavery Act 2015, on 23 June 
2022 a statement was published on Rothesay's website 
describing the steps taken by Rothesay to ensure that 
slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in any 
part of our business or in any of our supply chains. 

The statement also notes that we expect our suppliers 
to ensure fair employment practices. For example, we 
require our cleaning suppliers to pay the personnel 
who work at our premises a salary which is equivalent 
to at least the London Living Wage. 
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Our people

Our people are 
the defining 
factor in our 
success.

Rothesay’s culture has been built by employing 
talented people who take pride in their work and are 
able to take ownership of what they do. To meet the 
demands of a growing business, we have continued 
to recruit, with headcount increasing from 359 at the 
end of 2021 to 396 at the end of 2022. Recruitment has 
been particularly focused on the following areas:
• Technology – to support the re-platforming of our 

risk management systems and to ensure Rothesay is 
at the leading edge of automation.

• Pricing – to increase the capacity of our new business 
underwriting team.

• Risk and compliance – to support the growth of  
the business.

Year-on-year increases in graduate numbers have also 
strengthened our capability pipeline for the future. We 
also sponsor a number of apprentices. 

In 2022, Rothesay formally introduced an element of 
flexible working for employees. Different teams and 
different roles have different needs and dynamics 
so our flexible working model necessarily varies 
team-by-team. The pandemic has shown us the 
benefits of working remotely but also its limitations. 
We continue to believe in the exceptional value 
of people being together face-to-face and we feel 
strongly that being in the office at Rothesay is exciting, 
fun and conducive to doing our best work so we will 
remain an office-centric organisation.

We are committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of integrity, transparency and accountability. 
That commitment is reflected in our cultural values 
which are set out on Rothesay’s intranet along 
with the way in which those values translate into 
performance, behaviours and our everyday decisions 
and interactions.

Cultural values 

1
Original  

& Creative

2
Collaborative  

& Diverse

3
Dedicated,  
Genuine & 

Accountable

4
Meticulous  

& Fast-paced
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Investing in our people
Rothesay supports employees in gaining a range 
of professional qualifications and we offer a 
comprehensive learning and development programme. 
Our people are encouraged to own their career 
development and select their learning activities 
from the programmes which have been tailored to 
Rothesay’s requirements. We continue to invest in 
partnerships with suppliers to deliver training and 
learning platforms that augment the technical skills 
and soft skills of our people. 

All employees have access to Mind Tools, providing 
digital, on-demand career and management learning 
solutions. We are also a member of WorkLife Central, 
an award-winning network providing quality content 
aimed at all City professionals.

We continue to invest in the health and well-
being of our employees and their families. Health 
benefits include private healthcare for employees 
and their families, fertility support, subsidised gym 
memberships, subsidised health assessments, free flu 
jabs and comprehensive online resources, including 
the Headspace App, an app which provides access to 
meditation and mindfulness tools to help focus on 
habits to support mental health.

In 2022, Rothesay increased the employer contribution 
to the defined contribution scheme. 

Engaging with our employees
In 2022, we continued to focus on strengthening 
our internal communications capability and have 
continued to develop our Company intranet. We have 
ensured that there is regular communication from all 
parts of the business and started a more formal Town 
hall series. We have also introduced a new Rothesay 
Speaker Series for all staff with the first speakers being 
Lord Mervyn King and Lewis Pugh. 

Our offices at The Post Building mean that all our UK-
based employees can work together on one floor. This 
facilitates the absence of functional silos – an integral 
part of the Rothesay culture. The Chairman and 
other members of the Board have frequent, informal 
interaction with Rothesay’s employees.

In 2022, we repeated the employee engagement 
survey using an external consultancy in order that we 
can use benchmarking data to better interpret the 
results. We received an outstanding response rate of 
94% (2021: 92%), with 91% of employees saying that 
they were proud to work at Rothesay (2021: 92%). The 
results showed a modest reduction in engagement 
score to 72% (2021: 74%) and we have identified a 
number of focus areas for 2023 aimed at improving 
engagement. Employee turnover has increased to 9.5% 
(2021: 7.5%), which is still relatively low compared to 
the market. 

The survey design was reviewed by the Chairman and 
senior management and the results were discussed 
at the Board. The Board then assisted in determining 
people-related priorities.
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The table shows some improvement between 2021 and 2022. In common with many other organisations,  
our gender pay gap arises as a result of having a higher number of men in senior roles than women and low 
turnover of staff means that progress in closing the gap is likely to be slow. For a more detailed discussion of this 
topic and information on the actions we are taking to address it, please see our separate Gender Pay Gap Report  
when it is published.

Gender pay gap
The table below provides a summary of our gender pay gap data:

2022 
Mean

2022 
Median

2021 
Mean

2021 
Median

% by which hourly pay is lower for female employees than male 23% 23% 28% 28%
% by which bonuses are lower for female employees than male 51% 44% 53% 55%

Employees proud to 
work at Rothesay

91%
(2021: 92%)

Diversity and inclusion
As a founder-led business, Rothesay has been 
committed to creating a culture that actively values 
difference from day one. Our policies are designed to 
ensure that our people are not to be disadvantaged 
in any way as a result of their age, race, gender, 
disability, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership or 
pregnancy and maternity. We recognise that people 
from different backgrounds and experiences can bring 
valuable insights to the workplace and enhance the 
way we work. 

In the 2022 employee engagement survey, 82% of 
our employees agreed or strongly agreed with the 
statement “My co-workers respect my thoughts 
and feelings” (2021: 85%) and 79% agreed with the 
statement “We have a work environment that is 
accepting of diverse backgrounds and ways of thinking 
(2021: 73%).

The CFO is Rothesay’s diversity and inclusivity 
champion and in 2022, he led lunchtime sessions 
focused on trans inclusion, neurodiversity and socio-
demographic background. Alongside these sessions, 
we have widened our policy suite to cover fertility 
support, the menopause, trans and non-binary 
employees and neurodiversity.

We continue to look at ways of identifying a more 
diverse range of talent for the long term and during 
2022 we again participated in #10,000BlackInterns.

We offer training and support to new parents and their 
managers and all employees taking extended parental 
leave are offered one-to-one coaching to support their 
return to work.
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The Community

Investment in 
the UK economy

Rothesay has invested £23.8bn1 
(2021: £30.6bn) in helping fund 
projects that benefit the UK, 
such as transport, infrastructure, 
education and social housing.
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Rothesay has been an active supporter of the 
Government’s ambition to unlock greater investment 
in long-term assets to help drive the UK’s economic 
recovery and believes that there is a substantial 
opportunity for annuity providers to do more in this 
space. We actively seek out future opportunities to 
help finance reliable renewable energy projects and 
we are always willing to support the Government 
in its efforts to develop low carbon generation and 
infrastructure. We stand ready to fund projects that aid 
the transition to a low carbon economy.

In addition, by providing funding to back lifetime 
mortgages, Rothesay is helping older people access 
the equity in their houses, without the need for them 
to move. Mortgages are written with a no negative 
equity guarantee which means that borrowers don’t 
have to worry about the liability growing above the 
value of the house.

Taxation
Rothesay’s tax strategy is designed to ensure 
compliance with the tax laws of those countries in 
which Rothesay operates (primarily the UK). Any tax 
planning undertaken has commercial and economic 
substance and has regard to Rothesay’s corporate 
responsibilities and brand and the potential impact on 
shareholders, policyholders and other stakeholders. 
We do not undertake planning that is contrived or 
artificial. Rothesay has zero tolerance for tax evasion of 
any kind.

£23.8bn1

Invested in the  
UK economy 

2021: £30.6bn

1 The amount shown as invested in the UK economy is based on the current market value of the investments held. In common with most of our assets, 
the increase in interest rates combined with widening credit spreads has led to a fall in the market value. Such investments continue to represent 
around half our total assets under management.
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The Community continued

Rothesay makes a significant tax contribution in the 
UK, with £387m remitted to UK tax authorities in 2022 
(2021: £431m). Rothesay had an effective corporation 
tax rate of 16.1% during 2022 (2021: 19.0%). The 
reduction in Rothesay’s effective tax rate has been 
driven by the increase in the UK rate to 25% from 
1 April 2023, which has resulted in a revaluation of 
our deferred tax balances from 19% to 25%, therefore 
increasing the deferred tax asset for future reversals 
and reducing our effective tax rate. Other taxes 
include property taxes, employer payroll taxes and 
irrecoverable indirect taxes.

Taxes paid
2022

£m
2021

£m

Corporation tax 78 229

Other taxes 16 15

Taxes collected 293 187

Total remitted 387 431

Giving back
In 2022, we pledged over £5.6m (2021: £3.9m) to 
charitable causes, including making a £500,000 
donation to the International Committee of the Red 
Cross in response to the terrible conflict in Ukraine.

We established the Rothesay Foundation with the aim 
of supporting organisations that seek to improve the 
quality of life for older people, helping them to live 
their lives in a happy, safe and fulfilling way. In 2022, 
the charity has run the hugely successful Summer 
Cheer campaign (see opposite).

Rothesay supports Tax Help for Older People, a charity 
service providing free, independent and expert help 
and advice for older people on lower incomes who 
cannot afford to pay for professional tax advice.

On an annual basis we choose an employee-nominated 
charity of the year. In 2022, we chose to support Brain 
Tumour Research. We encourage our employees 
to support charities personal to them through our 
matched giving policy, which gives everyone an annual 
matched allowance of £1,000. In response to the 
Ukraine conflict, we introduced an additional 3-for-1 
matching for donations of up to £200. We are proud 
that so many people have engaged in fundraising and 
social events designed to give back to the community.

We are a corporate partner of the British Museum and 
support a number of other charities. 
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We hope our vouchers will provide 
a small amount of relief to the 

growing number of older people 
living in real financial difficulty in 
the UK. Going forward, we are 

committed to working with brilliant 
partners like Iceland and Age UK 
to help as many pensioners as 
possible get access to their full 

benefit allowances. 

Addy Loudiadis
Trustee of the Rothesay Foundation

We know that there are rising levels of poverty in  
the UK’s pension-age population, particularly in  
cities and large urban areas where the cost of living 
is often much higher. We also know that many of the 
most vulnerable older people are not in contact with  
Age UK and do not claim all of the benefits to which 
they are entitled.

In August 2022, the Rothesay Foundation expanded its 
partnership with Iceland to support some of the 1.7m 
pensioners who live in poverty in the UK and rely on 
the state pension and benefits for their income.

The ‘Summer Cheer’ campaign was rolled out across 
269 Iceland stores, giving local pension-age residents 
who are living independently, or with a carer, who 
rely solely on a state pension and benefits a £30 
voucher for food and other essentials. The areas 
were selected as the places where there are some of 
the highest numbers of pensioners living in material 
deprivation in the country. The campaign followed the 
pilot community campaign in the London borough 
of Lambeth across nine stores (the ‘Winter Warming’ 
campaign), which helped older people in the area who 
are managing on low incomes to enjoy Christmas. 

The ‘Summer Cheer’ campaign ran for seven weeks 
from 1 August until 16 September, providing over 
80,000 eligible pensioners with a £30 Iceland 
gift voucher. As a result of the campaign, 85,000 
pensioners were also provided with Age UK’s 
information guide on financial advice following 
research showing that, despite record levels of  
poverty, over 770,000 pensioner households are  
still missing out on Pension Credit payments  
– worth £1.5bn every year. 

Summer Cheer and Winter 
Warming with Iceland Foods.
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Running a responsible business

Providing long-term 
pension security  
is at the heart of 
what we do.
As well as policyholders, Rothesay has 
responsibility to a number of other 
stakeholders, including suppliers, our 
people, our community, the regulators 
and our investors.

Stakeholder engagement and the way 
in which their interests have been 
taken into account by the Board in its 
decision making is described in the 
following pages.

The way in which the Board oversees 
the operations of Rothesay more 
broadly is covered in the Governance 
Report. 

Section 172(1) statement
At each Board meeting, the 
Board considers the impact on 
stakeholders and the requirements 
of s.172 of the Companies Act 
2006 when making decisions. The 
Company Secretary sets out the text 
of s.172 on every Board agenda.

Given the long-term nature of 
our business, the Board is very 
focused on the likely long-term 
consequences of decisions and 
believes that it has acted in a way 
that promotes the success of 
Rothesay. Our Corporate Social 
Responsibility policy describes 
the way in which Rothesay aims 
to engage positively with all our 
stakeholders – a key concern of the 
Board. By doing so, we also believe 
that Rothesay will achieve positive 
outcomes with respect to our  
ESG objectives. 
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Examples of key Board decisions 
and impact on stakeholders

Decision 1:  
Decision to offer some flexible working

Decision 2:  
Decision to apply to use a Full Internal Model

The Board took the decision to encourage employees 
to return to the office but with some flexibility to work 
from home.

The Board took the decision to apply to use a full 
internal model for calculating the SCR.

Taking stakeholder views into account
Our people
Being able to meet and collaborate in person is 
invaluable, facilitating creativity and learning, and 
strengthening our culture and we feel strongly that 
being in the office at Rothesay is also exciting and fun.

However it was also clear from the 2021 employee 
engagement survey that our people value some 
flexibility to work from home. 

Our customers and shareholders
We believe in the value of people being together face-
to-face because we believe that face-to-face working is 
conducive to doing our best work. 

The community
By encouraging our people back to the office, we are 
supporting the local economy.

Taking stakeholder views into account
Our customers and shareholders
Use of a full internal model ensures that the capital 
required to be held by Rothesay is appropriate to 
the risks that we are taking and eliminates the non-
economic features of the standard formula.

The PRA
When Rothesay applied for a voluntary capital add 
on, we made a commitment to the PRA that we would 
develop an internal model to capture the risks not 
covered by the standard formula, predominantly 
the risk that a higher proportion of pensioners than 
assumed have dependants and the inflation risks 
associated with inflation-linked liabilities.

Outcome
The Board reached the decision to allow some flexibility 
for employees to work from home with the degree of 
flexibility being determined on a by-team basis.

Outcome
The Board approved the submission to the PRA to use a 
full internal model for calculating the SCR.
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Overview Engagement Outcomes

Our people
The commitment and quality of our 
people are integral to Rothesay’s 
success.

Read more on page 72.

• Senior management and the 
Chairman have frequent, informal 
interaction with our people.

• The Board reviews the results of 
our employee engagement surveys 
and the actions taken in response.

• The Board oversaw the 
introduction of Rothesay’s flexible 
working policy and enhancements 
to employee benefits. 

• Rothesay’s people have very 
high levels of engagement with 
91% saying that they are proud 
to work at Rothesay.

• Although some results were 
down on 2021, we made good 
progress in some areas and 
results generally benchmark 
positively against our peers.

• Staff turnover remains low.

Our customers
Providing long-term pension security 
to our 825,466 policyholders is at the 
heart of what we do.

Read more on page 67.

• The Customer Conduct Committee 
receives regular reports on 
customer service levels and 
complaints, and oversees customer 
interaction.

• The Board discusses customer 
service issues and in 2022 was 
focused on ensuring the smooth 
transition of administration from 
Diligenta to Capita for the former 
Prudential policyholders.

• Directors and management have 
ad hoc meetings with pension 
scheme trustees throughout  
the year.

• Terry Miller has been appointed 
the Board-level Consumer Duty 
champion.

• 95% of policyholders rate our 
service ‘good’ or ‘excellent’. 

• We were able to help nine 
pension schemes to de-risk  
their liabilities in 2022.

Our business 
partners
Our strategic outsourcing partners 
are critical to us delivering service 
excellence to our customers.

Read more on page 71. 

• The Board receives regular 
updates on the performance of 
our strategic outsourcing partners, 
who are monitored against 
defined KPIs.

• In 2022 members of the Board and 
management visited Capita, one of 
our third party administrators.

• Our partners have continued 
to deliver excellent service to 
Rothesay and our customers.

Our community
We invest over £23.8bn in the UK 
economy and make a significant 
tax contribution in the UK. We have 
established the Rothesay Foundation 
and support a range of charities. 

Read more on page 76.

• The Board has reviewed Rothesay’s 
Corporate Social Responsibility 
policy.

• The Board received updates on the 
activity of the Rothesay Foundation 
and members of the Board are 
trustees of the Foundation.

• The Board approved the decision 
to sponsor the Lawn Tennis 
Association.

• Through the Rothesay 
Foundation and other charities, 
we have pledged donations of 
over £5.6m.

• By encouraging our people 
to return to the office, we are 
supporting the local economy.
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Overview Engagement Outcomes

Our regulators
Having a transparent, open and 
proactive relationship with our 
regulators is important to the 
performance of the business. 

• The Chairman and Directors have 
regular meetings with the PRA.

• The PRA attends the Board as 
part of the Periodic Summary 
Meeting cycle.

• The Board receives regular updates 
on regulatory compliance from the 
CRO and Chief Compliance Officer.

• Rothesay has responded to 
a number of consultations, 
including HM Treasury’s Review 
of Solvency II.

• Our regulators have been fully 
engaged with the development 
of the full internal model.

Our reinsurers
Our reinsurers help us to manage 
our balance sheet by allowing us to 
hedge longevity risk.

Read more on page 71.

• Members of senior management 
have met with a number of the 
reinsurers during 2022.

• The Board Risk Committee 
oversees reinsurance counterparty 
risk management and approves all 
material reinsurance transactions.

• The Audit Committee receives 
a report from the Chief Actuary 
on Rothesay’s reinsurance 
arrangements and strategy.

• Our reinsurers have provided 
a further £2.1bn of longevity 
reinsurance protection.

• The reinsurers have also 
responded quickly in support of 
us underwriting new business.

Our shareholders
Rothesay benefits from the support 
and commitment provided by its two 
long-term institutional shareholders.

• Each of the institutional 
shareholders is represented on 
the Board by two Non-Executive 
Directors.

• Representatives of the 
shareholders attend the Board and 
other Board committees.

• The shareholders receive regular 
management information.

• GIC and MassMutual provide 
Rothesay with exceptional long-
term support.

• The shareholders assist in 
the sourcing of investments, 
share best practice and provide 
longevity reinsurance.

Our bondholders
Rothesay appreciates the support of 
our bondholders.

• Senior management meets with 
debt investors on a regular basis 
and makes presentations to groups 
of investors and analysts.

• Although we did not issue 
any bonds in 2022, we were 
pleased with the continuing 
engagement of our 
bondholders. 
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Supporting 
the future of 
British tennis.
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In February 2022, Rothesay 
announced a multi-year partnership 
with the LTA, the national governing 
body for tennis in Britain. 
Through the partnership, Rothesay became the title sponsor of three of 
the Summer’s show-piece grass court international tennis tournaments – 
the LTA’s televised events in Nottingham, Birmingham and Eastbourne. 

Each year the three grass court events attract close to 100,000 attendees, 
with millions more watching live on television. The events provide an 
opportunity for top British players, and emerging talents, to compete 
against the best players from around the world and is a showcase of 
international tennis in Britain.

The partnership sees Rothesay become the LTA's exclusive pensions 
partner and focuses on promoting Rothesay’s role in supporting the 
future of British tennis along with the LTA’s vision to open up tennis to 
more people of any age, ability and background.

We’re very excited to have Rothesay on board 
as our partner and title sponsor for these three 

premier grass court events for the coming 
years. It is fantastic that they have decided to 

use our platform to tell their story and we look 
forward to working with Rothesay to promote 

tennis and our partnership.
Scott Lloyd

LTA CEO
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A robust governance framework  
helps ensure that we continue to provide 

pension security for our policyholders, value 
to our shareholders and positive outcomes 

for our other stakeholders.
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Naguib Kheraj
Non-Executive Chairman

Chairman’s introduction

Robust 
corporate 
governance
Rothesay's governance 
structure means that 
decisions can be made 
quickly and efficiently 
whilst ensuring that  
there is robust oversight.

The Board
A strong Board with an effective committee structure 
is a key component of the governance framework of 
Rothesay. Our Board remains highly engaged; the 
continuing development of the full internal model,  
IFRS 17 and other one-off items necessitated a number 
of additional Board meetings during the year and the 
level of attendance and contributions was very high. 
In addition, many issues were dealt with virtually by 
correspondence, enabling matters to be progressed 
efficiently and in a timely manner. 

Shareholders
GIC and MassMutual each hold 49% of Rothesay 
Limited with the remainder being held by the 
Employee Benefit Trust, Directors, management and 
staff. GIC and MassMutual are two of the world’s 
leading institutional investors and provide Rothesay 
with exceptional long-term support and a stable 
platform for growth in the future. 

At the beginning of 2023, each of the shareholders 
appointed a second Non-Executive Director to the 
Board, with Arjun Gupta being appointed by GIC and 
Geoff Craddock by MassMutual. Both were already 
very familiar with Rothesay and bring extensive and 
relevant experience to the Board. Representatives of 
the shareholders beyond their appointed Directors 
are closely involved with Rothesay and members of 
their teams regularly attend Board and other Board 
Committee meetings. The shareholders receive 
regular management information and their teams also 
interact directly with management. We believe that the 
enhanced interactions with shareholders are of benefit 
to the Company and help ensure that shareholders 
have good visibility, which aids the process of decision 
making when shareholder support is required. 

The shareholders also support Rothesay in other ways, 
for example assisting in the sourcing and evaluation of 
investments, providing debt financing and providing 
longevity reinsurance.

The Shareholder Agreement sets out a number of 
reserved matters, including:
• Changes to the rights of shareholders.
• Issuance of new equity or debt.
• Material changes to the business strategy  

of Rothesay.
• Material acquisitions or disposals.

For further information on related party transactions 
see note I.3.
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Committee membership
See pages 94 – 97

Corporate governance highlights
• Approval of the appointment of Tom Pearce as CEO and handover arrangements following the

retirement of Addy Loudiadis.
• Approval of the submission of the full internal model application.
• Approval of the strategic business plan and ORSA.
• Approval of the 2021 ESG Report.
• Establishment of the Customer Conduct Committee as a Board-level committee and approval of

management’s plan for complying with the new Consumer Duty.
• Approval of the larger new bulk annuity and longevity reinsurance contracts.
• Approval of the establishment of a Euro Medium Term Note Programme.
• Approval of the acquisition of a portfolio of lifetime mortgages from Just Group Plc.
• Review of the results of the 2022 employee engagement survey and discussion of management’s  

planned response.

Board composition
As previously discussed, following her retirement 
as CEO, Addy Loudiadis will continue to serve on 
Rothesay’s Board as Founder Director, bringing 
continuity and allowing Rothesay to benefit from her 
experience and expertise. The Board spent a significant 
amount of time in 2022 ensuring that the transition 
from Addy to Tom Pearce was smooth.

In order to ensure that the Board continues to have 
a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors 
following the appointment by GIC and MassMutual of 
their second shareholder Directors, new independent 
Non-Executive Directors have been appointed. These 
appointments broaden the knowledge and experience 
of the Board and improve its gender balance. Jackie 
Hunt and Angela Darlington were appointed to the 
Board as new independent Non-Executive Directors 
on 12 July 2022 and 1 August 2022 respectively. An 
extensive induction programme was organised for the 
new Directors who committed significant time to the 
process of learning about the business and operations 
of the Company.

On 30 June 2022, Ray King stepped down from the 
Board. Ray joined the Board in April 2014 and chaired 
Rothesay from March 2016 to December 2017. During 
his time with Rothesay, Ray has also chaired the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. On 30 June 2022, Jane Hanson 
CBE also stepped down from the Board.

How the Board operates
The Board is led by the Chairman, Naguib Kheraj. 
Naguib was appointed to the Board on 1 October 2014 
and became Chairman on 18 December 2017.

Day-to-day management of Rothesay is led by Tom 
Pearce, the Chief Executive Officer. Tom is supported 
by the Leadership Team, more details of which can be 
found at www.rothesay.com. 

The Board has responsibilities to shareholders, 
policyholders, the regulators, employees and other 
stakeholders for the overall performance of Rothesay. 
More information on stakeholder engagement can 
be found on page 80. The Board’s role is to provide 
oversight and direction to the senior management 
team and to ensure that there is an appropriate risk 
and control framework for Rothesay.

The Board has a schedule of matters reserved for its 
consideration and approval, including:
• Strategy and business plans.
• Material new investments and new insurance 

transactions.
• Acquisitions and disposals.
• The constitution of Board Committees.
• Capital management policy including dividend policy.
• Other key Rothesay policies.

The Board is supported by the Nomination Committee, 
the Audit Committee, the Customer Conduct 
Committee, the Board Risk Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee. Terms of reference for 
these Committees can be found at www.rothesay.com. 
In 2022, Stan Beckers stepped down as chair of the 
Board Risk Committee and Ed Giera was appointed.
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The Customer Conduct Committee was established 
as a Board Committee in 2022 to enhance our strong 
governance model, maintaining focus on providing 
excellent customer service as an essential element of 
our business model, brand and reputation. As well as 
chairing the Customer Conduct Committee, Terry Miller 
has been appointed as the Board-level Consumer  
Duty Champion. 

In the following sections of the Governance Report, the 
chairs of these Committees provide a report on activity 
in the year. 

How the Board spent its time in 2022
The Board met formally nine times during 2022, in 
addition to meeting on a number of other occasions on 
an ad hoc basis and dealing with a number of matters 
via email correspondence.

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman, in 
consultation with management, and generally includes:
• An update from the CEO on business performance.
• Reports from Committee chairs.
• An update on Rothesay’s financial performance and 

expenditure against budget.
• Updates from the risk and Compliance functions.
• Discussion on material new investments and  

liability transactions.
• Discussion of key initiatives such as development 

of the internal model, climate change work, and 
development of Rothesay’s IT platform.

• Board legal and governance update.

The Board is focused on ensuring that the growth of 
the business is appropriately controlled and received 
updates through the year on the steps being taken to 
strengthen control and oversight functions.

The Board spent time in formal meetings as 
well as separate sessions discussing IFRS 17, the 
new accounting standard for insurance, and the 
development of Rothesay’s full internal model. The 
Board also spent time reviewing progress and future 
plans in relation to the development of Rothesay’s  
IT platform.

Chairman’s introduction continued

Rothesay Limited Board
Responsible for:
• Strategy and business plans
• Material transactions
• Acquisitions and disposals
• Capital management policy including 

dividends and debt

Audit  
Committee
Responsible for:
• Financial 

reporting
• Internal controls
• Internal and 

external audit
• Regulatory 

compliance

Board Risk 
Committee
Responsible for:
• Risk appetite
• Risk management 

framework
• Ongoing 

monitoring and 
controls of risks

Remuneration 
Committee
Responsible for:
• Executive Director 

and other Senior 
manager 
remuneration

• Remuneration 
policy

• Share incentive 
plans

Nomination 
Committee
Responsible for:
• Reviewing the 

size and 
composition of  
the Board

• Board and Senior 
Manager 
appointments

• Succession 
planning

Customer  
Conduct 
Committee
Responsible for:
• Delivering good 

customer 
outcomes

• Regulatory 
customer 
conduct
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The Board reviewed the results of the 2022 employee 
engagement survey and discussed management’s 
proposed response as well as the progress made by 
management in response to the 2021 survey and 
management’s return-to-office strategy. The Board 
also considered progress on improving diversity and 
inclusivity at Rothesay.

The Board reviewed Rothesay’s investment strategy 
and approved the acquisition of a portfolio of lifetime 
mortgages from Just Group Plc. The Board also approved 
new pension risk transfer and reinsurance transactions.

The Board received regular updates on the impact of 
market volatility on Rothesay’s financial and liquidity 
position both at formal meetings and via email. The 
Board also reviewed a summary of the results of the 
2022 Life Insurance Stress Test before submission to 
the PRA.

The Board approved Rothesay’s 2021 ESG Report. 
The Board also reviewed and discussed management 
succession planning. 

The Board held a strategy off-site event during the year 
outside of the formal Board meeting schedule. The 
event included:
• A presentation from an external speaker on the 

political outlook in the UK.
• Discussion of the strategic business plan, including 

the strategy in relation to mortgages and 
reinsurance.

• Discussion of administration strategy, particularly in 
relation to pension buy-ins.

• Discussion of ESG.

The discussion of the strategic business plan was 
focused on the pension risk transfer market and on the 
potential growth opportunity over the next three to five 
years. The Board was keen to ensure that Rothesay is 
appropriately positioned from both an operational and 
solvency perspective to capitalise on the opportunities 
that are likely to arise.

The Board approved the terms of reference for the  
new Customer Conduct Committee as well as the 
allocation of responsibilities between the Audit 
Committee, the Board Risk Committee and the 
Customer Conduct Committee.

The Board makes extensive use of virtual 
communications and deals with matters by 
correspondence where it is effective to do so. On 
complex subjects, management provides Directors 
with the opportunity for one-to-one briefings offline 
which helps to make the process of dealing with these 
matters more efficient for the Board. 

Board performance and effectiveness
The Board recognises that the continuous 
development of Directors is important to the Board’s 
performance and effectiveness. 

During the year, the following development activities 
took place:
• One-to-one induction sessions with the new 

independent Non-Executive Directors.
• One-to-one briefing sessions for independent 

Non-Executive Directors on the annual report and 
accounts. 

• Training sessions on IFRS 17, the FIM, and on the 
new Consumer Duty.

External speakers are regularly invited to Board 
meetings so that the Board can benefit from external 
perspectives. During 2022, topics covered included 
economic developments, climate change and the 
pension de-risking market.

An annual process is undertaken to review the fitness 
and propriety of senior management and Directors. This 
is overseen by the Chairman and Compliance function.

An externally facilitated review of Board effectiveness 
was undertaken during the year by Manchester Square 
Partners. This consisted of face-to-face discussions 
with each member of the Board using a pre-completed 
questionnaire to structure discussions. The external 
facilitator observed the October meetings of the Board, 
the Audit Committee and the Board Risk Committee, 
interviewed a number of other senior executives and 
presented the results at a subsequent Board meeting. 
In addition the Chairman meets annually with all 
Directors individually to discuss their feedback on 
board performance and their individual contribution.

The review concluded that the Board is highly effective 
and led to small number of recommendations which 
will be addressed over 2023.
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The Wates Corporate Governance Principles 

The Board has decided to apply the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (the 
Wates Principles). Information can be found on our approach to compliance in the Strategic Report and in this 
Governance Report. 

Principle Where further information can be found

1: Purpose and leadership – An effective board 
develops and promotes the purpose of a company 
and ensures that its values, strategy and culture 
align with that purpose.

Rothesay’s purpose is to provide pension security for  
our policyholders and value to our shareholders over  
the long term. 

Rothesay’s strategic objectives are discussed on page 26.

More information can be found on Rothesay’s culture on 
page 72.

2: Board composition – Effective board composition 
requires an effective chair and a balance of skills, 
backgrounds, experience and knowledge, with 
individual directors having sufficient capacity to 
make a valuable contribution. The size of a board 
should be guided by the scale and complexity of  
the Company.

Board effectiveness is described above under “Board 
performance and effectiveness”.

Board composition is described on page 89.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that Rothesay’s Board and management team have the 
appropriate mix of expertise and experience. See page 98.

3: Board responsibilities – The board and individual 
directors should have a clear understanding of 
their accountability and responsibilities. The board’s 
policies and procedures should support effective 
decision making and independent challenge.

Board governance is described on page 88.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing 
the systems and controls that ensure the reliability of 
information provided to the Board. See page 100.
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Principle Where further information can be found

4: Opportunity and risk – A board should promote 
the long-term sustainable success of the Company 
by identifying opportunities to create and preserve 
value and establishing oversight for the identification 
and mitigation of risks.

The Board has overall responsibility for identifying 
opportunities to create and preserve value and this is 
discussed above under “How the Board spent its time  
in 2022”.

The Board Risk Committee (BRC) is responsible for the 
operation of Rothesay’s risk management framework. 
The framework is described on page 43 and more can be 
found on the BRC on page 107.

Risks and opportunities are also highlighted as part of the 
description of strategic objectives on page 26.

5: Remuneration – A board should promote executive 
remuneration structures aligned to the long-term 
sustainable success of a company, taking into account 
pay and conditions elsewhere in the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring 
that Rothesay’s remuneration policy appropriately 
rewards and incentivises our people. See page 109.

6: Stakeholder relationships and engagement 
– directors should foster effective stakeholder 
relationships aligned to the Company’s purpose. 
The board is responsible for overseeing meaningful 
engagement with stakeholders, including the 
workforce, and having regard to their views when 
taking decisions.

Rothesay’s purpose is to provide pension security for our 
policyholders and value to our shareholders over the long 
term. Rothesay has responsibility to a number of other 
stakeholders, including our suppliers, our people, our 
community, the environment and our bondholders.

The Customer Conduct Committee (CCC) is responsible 
for ensuring good outcomes for customers, and that 
clients and counterparties are treated fairly by us and 
more can be found on the CCC on page 105.

Further information on stakeholder engagement and 
examples of how we take their interests into account can 
be found on pages 80 to 85.
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Board of Directors

Committees Committees
–

Committees
–

Tom Pearce is Co-Founder 
and Chief Executive 
Officer of Rothesay. Tom 
founded Rothesay with 
Addy Loudiadis in 2007 
and was previously its 
Managing Director. Tom 
has overall responsibility 
for Rothesay’s strategy 
and operational delivery, 
including Business 
Development, Financing, 
Investment Origination 
and Operations. Tom has 
been a Board Director of 
Rothesay since 2016. 
 
Prior to founding Rothesay, 
Tom was part of the fixed 
income and investment 
banking team at Goldman 
Sachs with responsibility 
for pension fund and 
insurance company clients. 
Tom sits on the board of 
the Association of British 
Insurers.

Committees
–

Andrew Stoker is the 
Chief Financial Officer of 
Rothesay following his 
appointment in 2014. At 
Rothesay, Andrew has 
responsibility for the 
finance and actuarial 
functions. Andrew was 
previously a partner in EY’s 
risk and actuarial practice 
and prior to that was chief 
actuary at Lucida plc. 
Andrew has also held roles 
at PwC, Tillinghast (now 
WTW) and Legal & General. 
 
Andrew is an associate 
trustee of the Great 
Ormond Street Hospital 
Children’s Charity and a 
member of the Bank of 
England’s practitioner 
panel and insurance  
sub-committee.

 Audit Committee  Customer Conduct Committee   Board Risk Committee   Remuneration Committee 
 Nomination Committee   Chair

NAGUIB KHERAJ
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND 
CHAIRMAN

Naguib Kheraj is a senior 
adviser to the Aga Khan 
Development Network 
and serves on the boards 
of various entities within 
that network. Naguib is 
also chairman of Petershill 
Partners plc, a member 
of the finance committee 
of the University of 
Cambridge and a member 
of the board of GAVI, the 
Vaccine Alliance. He was 
formerly a member of the 
investment committee 
of Wellcome Trust, the 
finance committee of 
Oxford University Press 
and served on the board of 
NHS England. 
 
Naguib began his career 
at Salomon Brothers 
and went on to hold 
a number of senior 
positions at leading 
financial institutions. He 
served as group finance 
director and vice-chairman 
and in various business 
leadership positions at 
Barclays and was CEO 
of JP Morgan Cazenove. 
He also served as deputy 
chairman of Standard 
Chartered plc and chaired 
its audit committee and 
risk committee during  
his tenure.

ANTIGONE (ADDY) 
LOUDIADIS
FOUNDER NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Addy Loudiadis is 
Rothesay’s co-founder and 
former Chief Executive 
Officer from 2007 to 2022. 
As Founder Director, Addy 
is a Non-Executive member 
of the Board. Addy was 
previously a partner 
of Goldman Sachs and 
served as the co-head of 
the investment banking 
division in Europe. Before 
moving to investment 
banking, she was head of 
European fixed income 
sales at Goldman Sachs. 
 
Addy is also a former board 
member of the Association 
of British Insurers. Addy is 
a Trustee of the Rothesay 
Foundation, Rothesay’s 
charitable trust.

THOMAS (TOM) PEARCE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

ANDREW STOKER
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
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Committees Committees Committees

Jackie is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant and 
has spent the majority of 
her career within financial 
services. Most recently, 
she was a member 
of the management 
board at Allianz SE with 
responsibility for Allianz’s 
asset management and 
US life business. She has 
also been an executive 
director of Prudential Plc 
and the CEO of Prudential 
UK, Europe and Africa 
and previously served as 
group finance director of 
Standard Life plc. 
 
She is currently an 
independent non-executive 
director at Standard 
Chartered plc, Man Group 
plc and One Web Holdings.

Committees

Ed Giera is the senior 
independent non-executive 
director of Santander 
UK plc and chair of the 
Santander UK board 
risk committee. Ed was 
formerly a non-executive 
director for Pension 
Corporation Group 
Limited; ICBC Standard 
Bank plc; the Renshaw 
Bay Real Estate Fund and 
Renshaw Bay Structured 
Finance Opportunity 
Fund, respectively; and for 
NovaTech, L.L.C. 
 
Ed is currently a partner 
and manager of Boscobel 
Place Capital LLC, a private 
investment partnership 
focused on the global 
financial services sector, 
and principal of E.J. 
Giera, LLC, providing 
corporate finance advisory 
and fiduciary services. 
Formerly, his executive 
career was with JP Morgan 
Securities, the investment 
banking affiliate of JP 
Morgan Chase & Co. where 
he held positions as global 
head of pension advisory, 
head of capital markets for 
the EMEA region, and other 
senior roles. 

CONSTANT (STAN) 
BECKERS
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Stan Beckers retired from 
his role as chief executive 
officer of NN Investment 
Partners B.V. in 2017, 
having previously been 
co-head of BlackRock 
Solutions at BlackRock 
Advisors (UK) Limited and, 
prior to that, had spent 
six years with Barclays 
Global Investors Ltd, 
most recently as chief 
investment officer of 
Scientific Active Equity 
Europe. 
 
Stan started his career at 
BARRA (now MSCI BARRA) 
where, over a 20-year 
period, he established 
and managed its non-
US operations. Stan is 
currently chair of Nomura 
Asset Management UK. 
Stan was previously a 
non-executive director of 
Robeco N.V. and a non-
executive director of Kas 
Bank N.V. 

EDWARD (ED) GIERA
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

HEATHER JACKSON
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Heather Jackson has 
held senior positions 
across retail and financial 
services, specialising 
in transformation and 
technology leadership. 
She was chief information 
officer for Capital One 
(UK & Europe) and 
subsequently HBOS/Lloyds, 
having previously led 
technology for a variety of 
retailers. At HBOS/Lloyds 
she led several functions 
in addition to technology 
e.g. HR, procurement, 
operations and payments. 
 
Heather currently holds 
non-executive directorship 
positions at Ikano Bank 
AB, Skipton Building 
Society and is a trustee for 
Yorkshire Cancer Research. 
She previously held non-
executive positions at JD 
Sports and Fashion PLC, 
Lookers PLC, Tandem Bank, 
Ditto AI and the Child 
Maintenance Enforcement 
Commission.

JACKIE HUNT
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
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ANGELA DARLINGTON
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Angela Darlington is a 
qualified actuary and has 
served as group chief risk 
officer of Aviva and CEO  
of Aviva’s UK life and  
health insurance division. 
In addition to Rothesay, 
she is currently a non-
executive director and 
chair of the risk committee 
at Yorkshire Building 
Society and a member of 
the council of the London 
School of Hygiene and 
Tropical Medicine.

THERESE (TERRY) MILLER
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Terry Miller is a non-
executive director and 
the senior independent 
director of Galliford Try 
Plc, a non-executive 
director of Goldman 
Sachs International Bank 
and Goldman Sachs 
International, and a non-
executive director and 
independent director of 
the Stelrad Group plc. 

During 2021, Terry was 
appointed as a non-
executive director of 
the British Equestrian 
Federation. She was 
previously general counsel 
of the London Organising 
Committee of the 
Olympic and Paralympic 
Games (LOCOG), and a 
non-executive director 
of the British Olympic 
Association. Prior to her 
LOCOG appointment 
she was a partner of 
Goldman Sachs, most 
recently as international 
general counsel. Terry 
was awarded an OBE for 
services to the London 
2012 Games in the 2013 
New Year’s Honours List.

CHARLES PICKUP
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Charles Pickup was 
previously a partner in 
the risk consulting and 
software division of 
Towers Watson (formerly 
Tillinghast) and acted as 
actuarial function holder 
for Lucida plc, Countrywide 
and BlackRock. 
 
Prior to this, Charles 
worked at Commercial 
Union and Prudential 
Bache Securities 
specialising in UK  
life insurance.

WILLIAM (BILL) 
ROBERTSON
INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Bill Robertson was 
previously the Global Life 
chief risk officer and Global 
Life chief actuary for Zurich 
Financial Services and 
also held various senior 
positions at Aegon. 
 
Prior to this, Bill was 
a partner at Hymans 
Robertson and head 
of actuarial at Scottish 
Amicable.

Committees

 Audit Committee  Customer Conduct Committee   Board Risk Committee   Remuneration Committee  
 Nomination Committee   Chair
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M. TIMOTHY (TIM) 
CORBETT *
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Tim Corbett is chief 
investment officer of 
Massachusetts Mutual 
Life Insurance Company. 
Tim is responsible for 
MassMutual’s overall 
investment strategy 
and has oversight of 
the company’s general 
investment Account. 
 
Prior to joining 
MassMutual in May 
2011, Tim had been chief 
investment officer and 
head of pension fund 
management with the 
State of Connecticut 
Treasurer’s Office  
since 2009.

GEOFF CRADDOCK*
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Geoff Craddock is 
MassMutual’s chief risk 
officer. Geoff began his 
career in a range of trading 
and brokerage positions 
with various investment 
banks beginning in Europe. 
 
Subsequently, he held roles 
at the Canadian Imperial 
Bank of Commerce (CIBC) 
where he oversaw global 
market risk management 
for the bank’s investment 
banking, trading and retail 
activities. In 2008, Geoff 
joined MassMutual’s asset 
management subsidiary, 
OppenheimerFunds, 
establishing and leading 
their risk management and 
asset allocation function 
after the global financial 
crisis, enhancing their 
governance structure 
and facilitating execution 
of strategic initiatives. 
Geoff also served as 
the leadership sponsor 
for OppenheimerFunds 
corporate giving 
programme. Geoff 
assumed his current role at 
MassMutual in 2017.

ARJUN GUPTA*
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Arjun Gupta is president 
of Europe at GIC. In this 
role, Arjun heads GIC’s 
London office, which 
covers Europe, the Middle 
East, and Africa. Arjun is a 
member of the GIC Global 
Leadership Group and in 
addition, he is co-chair 
of the GIC Healthcare 
Business Group, a 
member of the Integrated 
Strategies Group 
investment committee, 
and a member of the 
Global Leadership Group 
nominating committee. 
Arjun joined GIC Private 
Equity in 2010 and 
subsequently held roles 
as head, portfolio within 
private equity and head, 
consumer and healthcare 
for private equity. He also 
served on the private 
equity management and 
investment committees. 
 
Prior to joining GIC, Arjun 
spent over 20 years in the 
consumer goods industry 
with Kraft Foods, where 
his last two roles were as 
managing director, Greater 
China and president, Asia 
Pacific.
 

ROBIN JARRATT*
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Robin Jarratt is head of 
the global private credit 
group at GIC. Robin 
has responsibility for all 
private credit investment 
by the firm in the US, 
Europe and Asia. Robin is 
a member of GIC Private 
Equity’s management and 
investment committees. 
 
Robin is also an APPT  
and PMI accredited 
pension trustee.

* Stakeholder Director Members
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Nomination Committee report

Appointing 
new talent
The Nomination 
Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that 
Rothesay’s Board and 
management team have 
the appropriate mix of 
expertise and experience.
Naguib Kheraj 
Chair of the Nomination Committee

Committee membership

Naguib Kheraj (Chair)

Tim Corbett

Robin Jarratt

Terry Miller

Charles Pickup

I am pleased to present the Nomination 
Committee’s report for the year ended 
31 December 2022. 

The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the balance of skills, knowledge, 
experience, independence and diversity on the 
Board, identifying and recommending Board, Board 
committee and senior management appointments 
to the boards of the various Group entities, as 
appropriate, and monitoring succession plans for the 
Executive Directors and the development plans of 
senior management within Rothesay.

The responsibilities of the Committee include reviewing 
the structure, size and composition of the Board of 
Directors, identifying and nominating candidates to fill 
Board vacancies as and when they arise and approving 
senior management appointments.

The charts opposite show the gender diversity of the 
Board, Board tenure and the composition of the Board 
from an independence perspective. 

Committee membership and attendance
The Committee is composed of Non-Executive Directors 
with an appropriate mix of expertise and experience 
and a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The CEO and Founder Director also regularly attended 
Committee meetings when deemed appropriate.

The Committee met formally on three occasions 
and made use of virtual communications and 
correspondence to deal with matters efficiently.

Committee activities during 2022
During 2022, the Committee was particularly focused 
on CEO succession and the appointment of new 
independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Committee oversaw the arrangements for CEO 
succession, including consideration of and then 
recommendation to the Board of the appointment of 
Tom Pearce and reviewing the plans that were put in 
place to ensure that the transition was as smooth as 
possible. The Committee also considered and approved 
the appointment of Addy Loudiadis as Founder Director.



Skills and experience

General management

Insurance industry

Investment

Technology/operations

Human resources

Accounting/actuarial

Risk management
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Marketing

Legal/regulatory

Corporate governance

Mergers & acquisitions

Strategy

International business

Plc Board
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 Independent
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The Committee also considered the composition and 
leadership of the Board Committees and, ultimately, 
recommended to the Board the appointment of Ed 
Giera as Chair of the Board Risk Committee and the 
appointment of Heather Jackson to the Customer 
Conduct Committee.

The Committee reviewed the mix of skills and experience 
of the existing members of the Board in the context 
of succession planning and engaged a recruitment 
firm to conduct a search process for new independent 
Non-Executive Directors. Following an extensive process 
which included interviews by Committee and other 
Board members, the Committee recommended the 
appointment of Jackie Hunt and Angela Darlington. 
The Committee also made recommendations as to 
which Board sub-committees Jackie and Angela should 
be appointed: Jackie to the Audit Committee and 
Remuneration Committee and Angela to the Board Risk 
Committee and Customer Conduct Committee.

The Committee has also begun to consider succession 
planning in relation to a number of members of the 
Board that are expected to step down in the next two 
years and a search firm has now been appointed.

The Committee also oversaw the appointment of new 
members of senior management.

The mix of skills and experience of the Board is 
summarised in the graph below. 

Committee performance and effectiveness
The independent review of Board effectiveness also 
considered the effectiveness of the Nomination 
Committee, concluding that it worked effectively. 
Increased sharing of information regarding 
nomination processes with Board members outside of 
the Committee was well received in 2022 and is to be 
continued in 2023.

The gender diversity chart excludes the four shareholder 
appointed Non-Executive Directors as the Nomination 
Committee has no influence over their selection.
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Audit Committee report

The Audit Committee 
plays a key role 
in monitoring the 
robustness of Rothesay’s 
systems and controls.
Bill Robertson 
Chair of the Audit Committee

Committee membership

Bill Robertson (Chair)

Ed Giera

Jackie Hunt

Terry Miller

Charles Pickup

I am pleased to present the Audit Committee’s 
report for the year ended 31 December 2022. 

The Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in 
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the financial 
reporting process, the system of internal control, the 
internal and external audit processes and Rothesay’s 
process for monitoring compliance with laws and 
regulations and the business principles. 

The Committee has unrestricted access to 
management and external advisers to help discharge 
its duties. It is satisfied that in 2022 it received 
adequate, reliable and timely information to perform 
its responsibilities effectively.

Committee membership and attendance
The Committee is composed of only independent 
Non-Executive Directors with an appropriate mix of 
expertise and experience. 

The Committee met on seven occasions in 2022 at 
appropriate times in the financial and regulatory 
reporting audit cycle. The Chairman of the Board, 
CEO, CFO, CRO, Chief Actuary, Chief Auditor, Chief 
Compliance Officer and representatives of PwC and the 
shareholders regularly attended Committee meetings. 
Other members of senior management were also 
invited to attend as appropriate to present reports. 
During the year the Committee held regular private 
sessions with the Chief Auditor, Chief Compliance 
Officer and PwC without management present.
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A number of Committee members are also members 
of, or regular attendees at, the Board Risk Committee 
and Customer Conduct Committee. This ensures 
effective coordination across the committees.

As Chair of the Committee, I report on matters dealt 
with at each Committee meeting to the subsequent 
scheduled Board meeting.

Committee activities during 2022
The work of the Committee during 2022 fell under 
four main areas: financial statements and accounting 
policies, regulatory compliance, internal control 
(including oversight of the Internal Audit function) and 
oversight of the external audit. 

Financial statements and accounting policies
The Committee reviewed Rothesay’s financial 
announcements, the annual report and accounts, the 
half-year results and the going concern assumptions in 
relation to the annual report and accounts.

An important focus of the Committee is assisting 
the Board in ensuring that the annual report and 
accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the information necessary 
for stakeholders to assess Rothesay’s position and 
performance, business model and strategy. The 
Committee has also considered compliance with the 
Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 
2018 and that there is appropriate disclosure on 
compliance with the Wates Corporate Governance 
Principles. The Committee has reviewed the climate 
reporting disclosures. 

During 2022, the Committee received regular reports 
on the progress of Rothesay’s preparations for IFRS 17 
and reviewed and approved accounting policies and 
assumptions under IFRS 17. The Committee reviewed 
and approved the IFRS 17 disclosures including the 
quantification of the impact of implementation.

The Committee reviewed the relevant Solvency II 
disclosures including the Solvency and Financial 
Condition Report (SFCR) and the Regular Supervisory 
Reports (RSRs). This included oversight of Rothesay’s 
use of transitional solvency relief during the 
year, including consideration as to its continuing 
appropriateness.

The Committee reviewed the key assumptions used 
in calculating both the long-term insurance liabilities 
and the MCEV. Key assumptions included the annuity 
mortality assumptions, the credit default allowance 
on the investment portfolio and the prudence 
requirements around the IFRS assumptions. For MCEV, 
the illiquidity premium is also a key assumption. 
The Committee also reviewed the categorisation 
and valuation of Level 3 assets. The following table 
provides more detail on significant accounting issues 
considered by the Committee.

The Committee reviewed Rothesay’s tax policy, strategy 
statement and reporting on payment practices and 
performance under regulations made under Section  
3 of the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment  
Act 2015.

The Committee received reports from the Chief Actuary 
on areas including the reliability and adequacy of 
technical provisions, the quality of data, underwriting 
policy and reinsurance arrangements.
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Significant IFRS accounting issues considered by the Committee
Issue Committee’s response

Longevity and credit default 
assumptions used to determine 
the valuation of insurance 
liabilities

The inherent uncertainty involved 
in setting the assumptions used to 
determine the insurance liabilities 
for Rothesay, particularly in relation 
to longevity and credit defaults, 
represents the most significant area 
of judgement due to the potential 
impact these assumptions have on 
the financial statements. 

The Committee focused on the impact of COVID-19 and pressures on  
the NHS on the valuation of liabilities and on management’s proposed 
changes to reserving assumptions, particularly in relation to longevity  
and credit default.

Longevity assumptions: The Committee reviewed available data 
illustrating recent trends in longevity experience in the UK population, 
the longevity experience on different blocks of business, industry 
benchmarking data and reinsurer pricing. As 89% of the longevity risk is 
reinsured, Rothesay has visibility over market pricing for the majority of 
its liabilities. Given the uncertainty in relation to future longevity trends, 
the Committee concluded that it was appropriate to adjust assumed 
improvements on the basis of no improvement in 2020 or 2021 and not to 
factor COVID-19 into future longevity assumptions beyond that. 

Credit default assumptions: The Committee reviewed the methodology 
used to determine credit default assumptions and considered available 
industry benchmarking data. The Committee also considered whether 
allowance should be made for potential falls in the value of house prices 
when determining the cost of the no negative equity guarantee on  
lifetime mortgages.

The Committee concluded that the assumptions used are appropriate for 
the determination of the insurance liabilities. 

Valuation of investments 
classified as Level 3 under IFRS 13

The valuation of Level 3 assets 
is based on either inputs into a 
valuation model or observable 
prices for proxy positions. This is 
inherently complex and requires 
the use of significant management 
judgement. Furthermore, the 
balances are material to the 
financial statements. 

The Committee has reviewed and approved the Group’s valuation policy. 
The Committee also receives and reviews a report from the finance 
function setting out the way in which all Level 3 assets have been valued 
and the range of plausible valuations. The Committee considered the 
impact of current economic environment on the assets, particularly on 
underlying property valuations. The Committee has also reviewed the way 
in which LPI linked derivatives are being valued (noting that a consistent 
approach to LPI for assets and liabilities means that this also impacts the 
valuation of insurance liabilities).

The Committee concluded that there are appropriate controls surrounding 
the valuation of Level 3 assets and that they are valued appropriately for 
inclusion in the financial statements.

Transition to IFRS 17

The transition to IFRS 17 requires 
the use of significant management 
judgement, particularly in relation 
to the way in which historic 
business is accounted for and the 
approach adopted to the run-off 
of the Contractual Service Margin 
(CSM).

The Committee agreed that, where consistent with the standard, the 
assumptions used under IFRS 17 should be aligned with those used 
under MCEV for determining the best estimate liabilities and IFRS 4 for 
determining the risk adjustment. 
 
The Committee considered the extent to which retrospective calculations 
were feasible and agreed that it was reasonable to use the fair value 
approach to transition for business written before 2016. The Committee 
then reviewed the assumptions underlying the fair value calculations. 
 
The Committee reviewed and approved the approach adopted to the 
run-off of the CSM and concluded that the overall approach adopted to 
transitioning to IFRS 17 is appropriate. 
 
The Committee reviewed and approved the appropriateness of the range 
disclosed of the potential impact of the introduction of IFRS 17. 
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Regulatory compliance
The Committee received regular compliance updates, 
including:
• from the Compliance function on compliance 

breaches by employees, on whistleblowing and the 
way in which Rothesay ensures compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations, including anti-money 
laundering and anti-bribery; 

• on compliance with the General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) including data subject  
access requests; 

• updates on Solvency II compliance including the 
operation of the matching adjustment fund and 
calculation of transitional capital relief; and

• the results of the reviews undertaken by the 
Compliance function.

The Committee also reviewed the work being 
undertaken to strengthen the robustness of the 
compliance control framework and the plans  
being made to ensure compliance with the new 
consumer duty.

Internal control and Internal Audit
The Board has overall responsibility for Rothesay’s 
risk management and internal control systems and 
alongside the Board Risk Committee, the Committee 
seeks to ensure that Rothesay operates within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls and 
that the Board and its committees receive reliable 
information. The Group’s internal controls are designed 
to manage rather than eliminate operational risks 
and can provide only reasonable assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

There is an ongoing process for identifying,  
evaluating and managing the principal risks faced  
by the Group, which has been in place throughout  
the period covered by this report and up to the date  
of approval of the annual report and accounts for  
2022. Where any significant weaknesses were 
identified, corrective actions have been taken,  
or are being taken and monitored by management  
and the relevant Committees.

The Committee received reports from the Operational 
Risk function on the robustness of Rothesay’s internal 
controls and from the Information Security function on 
the IT security framework. It also received reports from 
the Business Controls Committee, which is chaired by 
the CFO and focuses on the control environment within 
Rothesay, the management of third parties and the 
risks arising from new activities.

During 2022, the Committee particularly  
considered the robustness of the controls over 
Rothesay’s Compliance function. The Committee  
also oversaw work undertaken to improve Rothesay’s 
operational resilience.

The Committee is supported in its oversight of the 
control framework by regular reports from the Internal 
Audit function. The Internal Audit Charter sets out the 
objectives, scope and responsibilities of the Internal 
Audit function and how it maintains independence 
from the first and second line management of 
Rothesay. The Committee reviews, and approves, the 
Internal Audit Charter annually.

The Chief Auditor reports directly to the Chair of the 
Committee and her remuneration is approved by the 
Remuneration Committee. Rothesay is supported in 
delivery of internal audits by use of external advisers to 
supplement the in-house Internal Audit team. During 
2022, Rothesay re-tendered these services with the 
result that Deloitte was appointed. 

The internal audit plan for 2022 was reviewed and 
approved by the Committee, with internal audits 
being planned and prioritised following a risk-based 
assessment of the business. The Committee also 
reviewed the combined assurance plan which also 
considered the activity of compliance and operational 
risk. Audits undertaken in 2022 included audits of:
• strategic outsourcing partners;
• operational resilience;
• HR operations;
• software development and cloud computing;
• ESG reporting;
• client onboarding and KYC;
• counterparty payments;
• non-standard processes in relation to commercial 

real estate lending;
• vendor management; and
• tax governance.

Internal Audit also closely monitored the project to 
develop Rothesay’s technology platform. 

The Committee received regular reports from Internal 
Audit on the audits that have been carried out, 
management’s response to findings and progress 
in addressing identified issues. Internal Audit 
also provided its annual report on Rothesay’s risk 
management and internal control systems to the Audit 
Committee, concluding that governance, risk and 
control systems are satisfactory. 
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Through its close interaction with Internal Audit and 
feedback from management, the Committee is able to 
assess the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function. 
On this basis, the Committee concluded that the 
function has access to appropriate resources and that 
it was effective.

The Committee was pleased with the outcome of the 
independent external review of Rothesay’s Internal 
Audit function undertaken in 2022. The review made 
only very minor recommendations for improvement and 
concluded that the function was operating effectively.

External audit
The Committee ran a competitive tender process 
during 2016 and reappointed PwC as its auditors 
from the 2017 year end. The external audit contract is 
required to be put out for tender again no later than 
for 2027 year end, at which time Rothesay will not be 
permitted to reappoint PwC.

The Committee has approved an External Auditor 
Policy (which was reviewed during the year) which  
aims to:
• preserve the independence and objectivity of the 

external auditors in performing the statutory audits;
• ensure the effectiveness of the external auditors; and
• avoid any conflict of interest by outlining both the 

types of services that the external auditors can and 
cannot undertake and the considerations that should 
be applied in assessing potential conflicts of interest.

During 2022, the Committee performed its annual 
review of the independence, effectiveness and 
objectivity of the auditor. Management and Directors 
each completed a questionnaire which sought to 
evaluate the auditor against a range of criteria. The 
Committee then reviewed the results and concluded 
that PwC remains independent and effective. 

The fees paid to PwC for the year ended 31 December 
2022 are summarised in the table below: 

2022
£000s

2021
£000s

Audit of the financial statements 2,874 1,646

Total audit 2,874 1,646

Required by regulation 251 228

Audit-related assurance services 239 217

Other assurance services 51 119

Non-audit services — —

Total fees 3,415 2,210

Fees for the audit of the financial statements includes 
some non-recurring work in relation to the transition 
to IFRS 17. Other assurance services provided in 2022 
relate to work associated with the Euro Medium Term 
Note programme. These services are in compliance with 
applicable independence rules and Rothesay felt that 
the external auditor was best placed to provide these 
services because of their understanding of Rothesay.

Committee performance and effectiveness
The independent external review of Board 
effectiveness also considered the effectiveness of the 
Audit Committee, concluding that it worked effectively. 

Audit Committee report continued
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Customer Conduct Committee report

The Customer Conduct 
Committee is responsible 
for ensuring good 
outcomes for customers 
and that clients and 
counterparties are 
treated fairly by us,  
as well as overseeing 
Rothesay’s approach  
to regulatory conduct.
Terry Miller 
Chair of the Customer Conduct Committee

Committee membership

Terry Miller (Chair)

Angela Darlington

Heather Jackson

Charles Pickup

Bill Robertson

I am pleased to present the Customer 
Conduct Committee’s report for the year 
ended 31 December 2022.
 
The Customer Conduct Committee was established 
as a Board Level Committee in 2022. A new executive 
level committee was established at the same time 
with a remit similar to the previous hybrid committee. 
This restructuring is intended to enhance our strong 
governance model, maintaining focus on providing 
excellent customer service as an essential element of 
our business model, brand and reputation.

Following the establishment of the Committee, I 
worked with the Chairs of the Board Risk Committee 
and Audit Committees to co-ordinate and formalise the 
customer and compliance-related accountabilities of 
the three committees to ensure appropriate coverage 
and to reduce duplication.

Committee membership and attendance
The Committee is composed solely of independent 
Non-Executive Directors with an appropriate mix 
of expertise and experience. The Chairman of the 
Board, CFO, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Auditor, 
Chief Compliance Officer and General Counsel also 
regularly attended Committee meetings. Other 
members of management were also invited to attend 
as appropriate to present reports.

The Committee met formally on six occasions in 2022 
(including one meeting of its predecessor hybrid 
committee) in addition to reviewing customer conduct 
issues and data via email.

A number of Committee members are also members 
of the Audit Committee and Board Risk Committee. 
This ensures effective coordination across the  
three committees.
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Committee activities during 2022
The Committee generally considers the following 
regular items:
a. a report from the Executive Customer Committee;
b. a report from the Compliance function on regulatory 

conduct;
c. a report from the Operations team on customer 

satisfaction, complaints and the performance of 
Rothesay’s third party administrators on their 
operations;

d. a report on customer initiatives; 
e. a report from the mortgages team on complaints 

and on progress being made on long-outstanding 
cases; and

f. a report from Internal Audit on customer-related 
audits.

In 2022, customer initiatives included the Pensions 
Dashboards, treatment of vulnerable customers and 
the ‘small-pots’ initiative.

The Committee also reviewed and approved:
a. the decision to re-start the ‘small-pots’ initiative 

under which pensioners with relatively small 
annuities are offered a one-off opportunity to take a 
lump sum payment;

b. Rothesay’s data protection policy;
c. policyholder documentation in relation to 

non-standard retirement options; and
d. non-standard member options.

During 2022, the Committee received regular reports 
on the preparations for migrating the administration 
of the Prudential annuities from Diligenta, Prudential’s 
administrators, to our preferred administration 
partner, Capita. This is now expected to take place 
early in 2023.

The Committee also reviewed and recommended for 
approval management’s plans for complying with 
the new Consumer Duty including the appointment 
of Terry Miller as the Board-level Consumer Duty 
champion. The Committee will monitor progress 
against plan over the coming months. 

Committee performance and effectiveness
The independent external review of Board 
effectiveness also considered the effectiveness of 
the Customer Conduct Committee, concluding that it 
worked effectively.

Customer Conduct Committee report continued
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Board Risk Committee report

The Board Risk 
Committee is 
responsible for the 
operation of Rothesay’s 
risk management 
framework.
Ed Giera 
Chair of the Board Risk Committee

Committee membership

Ed Giera (Chair)

Stan Beckers

Angela Darlington

Naguib Kheraj

Charles Pickup

Bill Robertson

I am pleased to present the Board Risk 
Committee’s report for the year ended 
31 December 2022. 

The Committee’s primary responsibilities are the 
ongoing monitoring and control of all risks associated 
with the activities of Rothesay, within the parameters 
set by the Board and as set out in the risk and 
investment policies of Rothesay. 

The Committee is also responsible for the oversight 
of the Executive Risk Committee (ERC) and its sub-
committees, which are responsible for the ongoing 
monitoring and control of all financial risks, insurance 
risks and operational risks associated with the activities 
of Rothesay. The ERC has 18 members and is chaired 
by the CRO. 

Committee membership and attendance
The Committee is composed of only independent 
Non-Executive Directors with an appropriate mix of 
expertise and experience. 

The Committee met for five scheduled and two ad hoc 
meetings during 2022 in addition to reviewing risk limit 
changes by circulation.

The CEO, CRO, CFO, Head of Asset and Liability 
Management, Chief Investment Officer, General 
Counsel, Chief Actuary, Non-Executive Directors 
and shareholder representatives regularly attended 
Committee meetings. Other members of senior 
management were also invited to attend as 
appropriate to present reports.

I would like to thank Stan Beckers for his stewardship 
of the Committee as Chairman prior to July 2022.
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Committee activities during 2022
Risk appetite monitoring
The Committee received regular, detailed reports  
on key risk exposures and the drivers of risk 
throughout Rothesay.

The Committee monitored Rothesay’s exposure against 
Rothesay’s overall risk appetite.

Risk management and governance
The Committee received regular reports from the ERC 
and the CRO. This allowed the Committee to monitor 
the way in which risk was being managed by Rothesay. 
Regular reporting includes:
• planned investment activity; 
• compliance with risk limits, including in relation  

to liquidity;
• changes to credit ratings;
• climate change and ESG risk;
• changes in the risk register;
• stress testing and potential impact of emerging risks; 
• market risk exposures;
• operational risk events;
• assessment and monitoring of cyber risk; and
• economic capital coverage.

The Committee received progress updates on Rothesay’s 
climate change-related initiatives, as well as in-depth 
reports on the environmental impact of specific sectors.

The Committee spent a considerable amount of time 
considering the impact on Rothesay’s financial and 
liquidity position of the conflict in Ukraine and the 
impact on Rothesay of the market turbulence in the 
second half of 2022. 

During 2022, the Committee reviewed Rothesay’s 
investment strategy, Rothesay’s risk appetite 
statement, a number of risk-related policies, Rothesay’s 
risk management framework and Rothesay’s ORSA. 
The Committee also considered the potential impact 
of the reform of leasehold on Rothesay’s loans secured 
on ground rents.

The Committee reviewed the work being done  
by Rothesay to improve operational resilience  
and considered Rothesay’s approach to cyber  
risk management. 

New transactions
The Committee reviewed the underwriting 
assumptions made in relation to the large bulk annuity 
transactions undertaken and proposed. This included 
consideration of any associated reinsurance and 
the asset investment approach. The Committee also 
reviewed and approved the reinsurance transactions 
entered into during 2022.

The Committee reviewed and approved limits in 
respect of investment in rate reduction bonds, two 
commercial real estate loans as well as a number of 
other illiquid investments.

The Committee reviewed and approved management’s 
recommendations regarding changes to certain  
risk limits. 

Internal model
The Committee oversaw the operation of the PIM, 
including review of minor model changes and of 
ongoing validation work. The work being undertaken 
to construct Rothesay’s FIM is being overseen by  
the Board.

Committee performance and effectiveness
The external review of Board effectiveness also 
considered the effectiveness of the Board Risk 
Committee, concluding that it worked effectively. 

Board Risk Committee report continued
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Remuneration Committee report

Setting 
remuneration 
policy
The Remuneration 
Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that 
Rothesay’s remuneration 
policy appropriately 
rewards and incentivises 
our people.
Naguib Kheraj 
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Committee membership

Naguib Kheraj (Chair)

Stan Beckers

Tim Corbett

Jackie Hunt

Robin Jarratt

Terry Miller

I am pleased to present the Remuneration 
Committee’s report for the year ended 
31 December 2022. 

Committee membership and attendance
The Committee is composed solely of Non-Executive 
Directors with an appropriate mix of expertise and 
experience. Membership includes representation from 
Rothesay’s shareholders facilitating the alignment of 
long-term interests. The independent Non-Executive 
Directors form a majority. 

The Committee met formally on four occasions in 
2022 in addition to reviewing remuneration issues 
via email and ad hoc telephone calls. The CEO, CFO 
and Chief People Officer (following her appointment) 
also regularly attended part of Committee meetings 
as appropriate and relevant. The Committee has 
also retained an independent expert adviser from 
FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP to provide 
benchmarking, independent input and industry 
insights and he generally attends meetings.

Committee responsibilities
The Committee is responsible for reviewing and 
making recommendations to the Board regarding the 
remuneration policy of Rothesay and for reviewing 
compliance with the policy in so far as it relates to 
senior managers and other employees. Within the 
context of the policy the Committee is specifically 
responsible for making recommendations for the 
remuneration packages of the independent Non-
Executive Directors, Executive Directors and other 
senior managers of Rothesay. The Committee is 
further responsible for monitoring the overall level and 
structure of remuneration for the wider population.
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Rothesay’s remuneration policy is intended to:
• promote sound and effective risk management;
• align individuals’ incentives with multi-year 

performance;
• discourage excessive or concentrated risk-taking;
• allow Rothesay to attract and retain proven talent; 

and
• align aggregate remuneration with the performance 

of Rothesay as a whole and encourage teamwork.

This is achieved by ensuring that variable remuneration 
is linked to performance across a range of financial 
and non-financial metrics. The CRO provides input to 
the annual appraisal process and financial metrics are 
ignored when evaluating the performance of second 
and third-line staff. Considerable attention is paid 
to non-financial matters in assessing performance, 
including policyholder experience, contribution to 
ESG goals, operational risk management, compliance, 
conduct and teamwork. Remuneration packages 
combine a base salary, cash bonuses, a deferred equity 
award plan and a long-term share appreciation rights 
plan (the SARs plan). 

A summary of the components of remuneration of 
Executive Directors and senior management can be 
found in the table on the next page.

Committee activities during 2022
The Committee reviewed the Group’s Remuneration 
Policy with a particular focus on ensuring that the 
importance of non-financial KPIs, including those 
relating to ESG factors, is reflected in variable pay. 

The Committee reviewed and approved 
recommendations for the remuneration packages 
of senior managers of Rothesay, the Founder 
Director and the new CEO and also reviewed the 
recommendations of management in relation to the 
compensation for employees of the wider Group and in 
relation to leavers. In 2022, the Committee requested 
more work to be done on external benchmarking. 
Given the significant increase in inflation in 2022, the 
Committee was particularly focused on proposed 
increases to salaries across the Group, particularly 
for employees on lower salaries. In considering 
remuneration packages, the Committee was also 
mindful of the pressure on employee retention and 
challenges of recruitment.

The Committee reviewed the remuneration of the 
independent Non-Executive Directors in relation to 
the new Board-level Customer Conduct Committee. 
The Committee also conducted a detailed review of 
the package of benefits being offered by Rothesay 
and approved a number of changes, including an 
increase to the employer contribution to the defined 
contribution pension scheme, Rothesay’s fertility 
support policy and offering the Headspace App, an app 
which provides access to meditation and mindfulness 
tools to help focus on habits to support mental health. 

The Committee again approved the award of shares 
to all employees under the Schedule 2 Share Incentive 
Plan in order that all employees benefit from the 
success of Rothesay. The Committee also approved  
the offer by Rothesay to acquire vested shares  
from employees.

The Committee reviewed Rothesay’s gender pay gap 
data for 2020 to 2022 and discussed the actions that 
were being taken to reduce the gap. 

The Committee also reviewed the composition of  
the material risk-taker population regularly this  
year and their individual performance was discussed  
at year end. 

Committee performance and effectiveness
The annual review of Board effectiveness also 
considered the effectiveness of the Remuneration 
Committee, concluding that it worked effectively.

Remuneration Committee report continued
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Components of remuneration

Component Rationale

Salary Salaries are set at a level which is intended to reflect the individual’s 
responsibility, skill, competence and contribution to Rothesay’s objectives, 
whilst at the same time taking note of the external value placed on the job in 
the market generally.

Bonus The annual bonus rewards the achievement of strategic objectives and 
is linked to Rothesay’s KPIs, adjusted for current and future risks. Part of 
the cash bonus may be deferred. Bonuses are intended to both reward 
achievement and improve staff retention.

Long-term share-based 
incentives

Part of the annual bonus may be awarded as equity (through the deferred 
equity award plan) or stock appreciation rights (the SARs plan). The deferred 
equity award plan ensures that stock vests and is delivered over several 
years. It is anticipated that when stock vests, a cash alternative will be 
offered. The new SARs plan pays out at the end of three years, assuming 
performance triggers are met. Both plans ensure that the interests of 
shareholders and senior management are aligned. 
 
Under the Schedule 2 Share Incentive Plan, all eligible UK employees were 
offered shares in 2020, 2021 and 2022 which will not vest for at least three 
years. Further shares will be issued under this plan in 2023. 

Benefits Executive Directors and senior management are entitled to benefits in line 
with those provided to all employees.

Pension Rothesay operates a defined contribution scheme. Executive Directors and 
senior management are entitled to membership of the scheme and receive 
contributions in line with those paid for all employees. Employees on lower 
salaries are entitled to an additional matched contribution of up to 2%.

Equity Directors and senior management hold equity as a result of historic awards 
and annual vestings.

Shareholding guidelines As the Company is not quoted, Directors and senior management are unable 
to sell shares except as approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Malus and clawback Any bonus that has been deferred is capable of a downward adjustment or 
forfeiture and the rules of the deferred equity award plan ensure that equity 
can be clawed back even after vesting.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their annual report and the 
audited consolidated financial statements for Rothesay 
Limited, registered number 08668809, (the Company) 
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
 
Comparative information has been presented for the 
year ended 31 December 2021.

1. General information
Rothesay Limited is the ultimate holding company of 
the Rothesay group of companies. Rothesay Limited 
is a registered limited company incorporated and 
domiciled in the United Kingdom. 

All accounting policies, where relevant, have been 
included within the specific note disclosures.

2. Results
The consolidated results for Rothesay and its 
subsidiaries (the Group or Rothesay) for the year 
are set out in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on page 128. All likely future 
developments and material assessments of the 
Group's performance is discussed in the Strategic 
Report. There were no post balance sheet events.

3. Registered office
Details of the Company and its subsidiaries, including 
registered offices, can be found in note H.2.

Copies of the annual accounts of subsidiary 
undertakings are publicly available on the Companies 
House website or can be obtained from the Company 
Secretary, The Post Building, 100 Museum Street, 
London WC1A 1PB.

4. Directors
The membership of the Board of Directors of the 
Company is given within the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 94 to 97, which is incorporated by 
reference in this report.

During 2022 and up to the date of this report, the 
following changes to the Board took place:
• Jane Hanson CBE and Ray King stood down from the 

Board on 30 June 2022; 
• Jackie Hunt and Angela Darlington were appointed 

to the Board on 12 July 2022 and 1 August 2022 
respectively;

• Geoff Craddock and Arjun Gupta were appointed to 
the Board on 20 January 2023; and

• Addy Loudiadis retired as CEO from September. 
Addy will continue to serve on Rothesay’s Board as 
Founder Director.

5. Qualifying third party indemnities
The Articles of Association of the Company provide 
for the Directors and Officers of the Company to be 
indemnified in respect of liabilities incurred as a
result of their office. The Company also provides 
certain protections for Group Directors and senior 
management against personal financial exposure that 
they may have incurred in their capacity as such. These 
include qualifying third party indemnity provisions (as 
defined under Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) 
in force for the benefit of the Directors of the Group 
during the year and at the date of approval of the 
financial statements.

6. Disclosure of information to auditors
In the case of each Director in office at the date the 
Directors’ report is approved: 
• so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant 

audit information of which the Group’s and 
Company’s auditors are unaware; and 

• they have taken all the steps they ought to have 
taken as a Director in order to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Group’s and Company’s auditors 
are aware of that information.

7. Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will continue in office as 
auditors of the Company pursuant to Section 487(2) 
of the Companies Act 2006. Resolutions to reappoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the Group 
and to authorise the Directors to determine their 
remuneration are proposed.
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8. Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual 
report and accounts and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulation. 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Directors have prepared the Group and 
the Company financial statements in accordance with 
UK-adopted international accounting standards. Under 
company law, Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for 
that period. In preparing the financial statements, the 
Directors are required to: 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 

them consistently; 
• state whether applicable UK-adopted international 

accounting standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group and Company will continue  
in business. 

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the Group’s and Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Group and 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in 
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

9. Internal control and  
 risk management systems
Rothesay has established internal control and risk 
management systems in relation to the process for 
preparing consolidated financial statements. The key 
features of these internal control and risk management 
systems include: 
• management ensures that processes are 

appropriately followed, documented and controlled;
• the Risk function and management conduct checks 

on internal controls at least half yearly;
• the Internal Audit function reviews and assesses 

controls on an ongoing basis; 
• management regularly monitors and considers 

developments in accounting regulations and best 
practice in financial reporting and, where appropriate, 
reflects developments in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Audit Committee is kept appraised of 
such developments; and 

• the Group’s results are subject to various levels of 
review by management; and the Audit Committee 
and the Board review the draft consolidated financial 
statements, Strategic Report and report of the 
Directors. The Remuneration Committee reviews 
the remuneration disclosures. The Audit Committee 
receives reports from management and the external 
auditors on significant judgements, changes 
in accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and other pertinent matters relating to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

10. Date of authorisation of issue
The financial statements were authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 10 February 2023.

On behalf of the board
Tom Pearce
Chief Executive Officer
10 February 2023
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Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited
Report on the audit of the 
financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Rothesay Limited’s Group financial 
statements and Company financial statements (the 
“financial statements”):
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 

and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 
2022 and of the Group’s profit and the Group’s and 
Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
UK-adopted international accounting standards as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included 
within the Annual report and accounts 2022 (the 
“Annual Report”), which comprise: Consolidated 
and Company statements of financial position as 
at 31 December 2022; the Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the Consolidated and 
Company cash flow statements, and the Consolidated 
and Company statements of changes in equity for 
the year then ended; and the notes to the financial 
statements, which include a description of the 
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the 
Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), 
International Standards on Auditing issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (“ISAs”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under ISAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the 
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which 
includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to 
listed public interest entities, and the International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare 
that non-audit services prohibited by either the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard or Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 
537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in note B.7 Auditors' 
remuneration, we have provided no non-audit services 
to the Company or its controlled undertakings in the 
period under audit.

Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope
• Our audit scope has been determined to provide 

coverage of all material consolidated Group and 
Company financial statement line items.

Key audit matters
• Valuation of insurance contract liabilities – Longevity 

Methodology and Assumptions (Group).
• Valuation of insurance contract liabilities – Credit 

Default Risk Methodology and Assumptions (Group).
• Valuation of investments classified as Level 3 under 

IFRS 13 (Group).
• Disclosure of the expected impact of initial 

application of IFRS 17 in accordance with IAS 8 
(Group).

• Recoverability of the Company’s investments in 
Group undertakings (parent).
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Materiality
• Overall Group materiality: £79,000,000 (2021: £78,500,000) based on a materiality value that is an equivalent of 

1.3% of Total Equity.
• Overall Company materiality: £25,500,000 (2021: £25,473,000) based on 1.0% of Total Assets.
• Performance materiality: £59,250,000 (2021: £58,875,000) (Group) and £19,125,000 (2021: £19,104,000) 

(Company).

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest 
effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Disclosure of the expected impact of initial application of IFRS 17 in accordance with IAS 8 (Group) and 
Recoverability of the Company’s investments in Group undertakings (Parent) are new key audit matters this year. 
Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with last year.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities – 
Longevity Methodology and Assumptions (Group)

As disclosed in note E.2 Reinsurance assets/liabilities 
and E.3 Insurance contract liabilities

The procedures to assess the appropriateness of 
the longevity assumptions used in the valuation of 
insurance contract liabilities includes the following:

Annuitant mortality and specifically longevity 
improvement is inherently uncertain and continues to 
be an area of judgement. The potential impact of the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on longevity also involves 
significant expert judgement.

• Understood and tested the governance process 
and relevant key controls in place to determine the 
longevity assumptions;

Management utilises the Group's own historic 
experience and available market data in the 
calculation of the appropriate assumptions. For the 
rate of mortality improvement, this includes the latest 
model and datasets from the Continuous Mortality 
Investigation (CMI) bureau, CMI 2021.

• Assessed the methodologies used to derive the 
mortality assumptions and the appropriateness of 
expert judgements used. For example, the derivation 
of the mortality assumptions, appropriateness of 
experience data, the selection and parameterisation 
of the CMI model including the calibration of 
parameters (e.g. smoothing parameter, long-term 
rate) and choice of base mortality table, and the 
determination of the prudential margin applied;
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Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited continued

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Whilst the Group manages the extent of its exposure 
to longevity risk through reinsurance, we consider 
the longevity assumptions underpinning insurance 
contract liabilities to be a key audit matter, especially 
given the mono-line nature of the Group’s insurance 
business.

• Compared the longevity assumptions selected by the 
Group against those used by their peers;

• Considered management's assessment of the 
potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
longevity assumptions; and

• Assessed the disclosure of the longevity assumptions 
and the associated financial impact on the liabilities 
arising from changes in these assumptions over 
2022.

Based on the audit procedures performed and 
evidence obtained, we consider the longevity 
assumptions used in the valuation of Insurance 
contract liabilities to be appropriate.

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities – Credit 
Default Risk Methodology and Assumptions 
(Group)

As disclosed in note E.3 Insurance contract liabilities The procedures to assess the appropriateness of the 
credit default assumptions used in the valuation of 
insurance contract liabilities included the following:

The Group has significant holdings in complex and 
illiquid investments. The deduction from the valuation 
rate of interest for credit default risk for these assets 
is judgemental and is generally lower than the 
corresponding credit default risk deduction on a typical 
unsecured credit portfolio.

• Assessed the methodologies used to derive the 
assumptions (including prudential margin) for both 
liquid and illiquid asset classes with reference to 
relevant rules and actuarial guidance and by applying 
our industry knowledge and experience;

This reflects the Group's view of the security held 
against the asset class which in itself is an area of 
judgement. The challenging economic environment 
has also increased the uncertainty in relation to the 
credit default assumptions made.

For 2022 year end, adjustments have been made 
to calibrations to the credit default modelling 
assumptions for the illiquid asset classes to reflect the 
most up to date information available.

• Tested controls performed by management over 
the approval and implementation of credit default 
assumptions (to the extent available);

• Validated significant assumptions used by 
management against market observable data (to the 
extent available and relevant) and our experience of 
market practices;

• Compared the assumptions selected against those 
adopted by peers (to the extent available);

• Tested the analysis of the movement in credit default 
risk assumption prepared by management for 
each asset class based on current market data and 
developments in the asset portfolio; and

• Assessed the disclosure of the credit default risk 
assumptions and the associated financial impact on 
the liabilities from changes in these assumptions 
over 2022.

Based on the audit procedures performed and 
evidence obtained we consider the methodology and 
assumptions for Credit Default used in the valuation of 
Insurance contract liabilities to be appropriate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments classified as Level 3 
under IFRS 13 (Group)

As disclosed in notes D.2 Financial Investments, D.3 
Derivatives, and D.7 Payables and financial liabilities

The procedures to assess the appropriateness of the 
valuation of investments classified as Level 3 included 
the following:

Financial investments classified as Level 3 under the 
IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy is a material balance and 
comprise investments in Loans secured on property 
which include commercial real estate loans, loans 
secured on ground rents, Dutch residential mortgages 
(DRM), investments in lifetime mortgages, and Limited 
Price Indexation (LPI) derivatives.

• Understood and validated the design adequacy and 
operating effectiveness of management’s controls, 
including the monthly price verification process and 
controls over the accuracy of significant data inputs;

The lifetime mortgage portfolio has continued to 
increase significantly in the current year following the 
acquisition of one new lifetime mortgage back book 
portfolios as well as continued new originations.

• Reviewed management's methodology and 
assumptions, including yield curves, discounted cash 
flows, property growth rates, longevity assumptions 
and liquidity premiums relevant to each asset class;

The valuations of Level 3 investments are typically 
based on either inputs into a valuation model 
or observable prices for proxy positions. This is 
inherently complex and requires the use of significant 
management judgement.

• Understood the valuation models used by 
management and obtained evidence to support the 
model’s operation is in line with methodology;

• Engaged our relevant experts to assess the 
appropriateness of management’s methodology and 
internal credit rating methodology;

• Independently revalued a sample of investments, 
including revaluation of the lifetime mortgage 
portfolio at year end using an independent model;

• Tested significant inputs into the valuation of Level 
3 financial investments to external sources, where 
possible. This included consideration of possible 
external factors on these inputs such as those 
related to climate change or the wider economic 
environment;

• Considered the appropriateness of the spreads that 
represent the unobservable input to the valuation of 
the LPI derivative portfolio; and

• Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

Based on the procedures performed and evidence 
obtained, we consider the valuation of Level 3 financial 
investments to be appropriate.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited continued

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Disclosure of the expected impact of initial 
application of IFRS 17 in accordance with IAS 8 
(Group)

Refer to Note A.4 Accounting policies and change in 
accounting policies.

We performed the following procedures to assess the 
reasonableness of the disclosure of estimated impact 
of the initial adoption of IFRS 17:

International Accounting Standard 8: Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
(IAS 8), requires the disclosure of reasonably estimable 
information relevant to assessing the possible impact 
of new accounting standards issued but not yet 
effective. International Financial Reporting Standard 
17, Insurance Contracts, (IFRS 17 or the standard) 
became effective for periods beginning on or after 1st 
January 2023. The related IAS 8 disclosures in these 
financial statements are intended to provide users 
with an understanding of the estimated impact of the 
new standard, and as a result, are more limited than 
the disclosures which will be required within the 2023 
interim and annual reports.

• Considered whether the accounting policies chosen 
were in accordance with the standard, and the 
models developed were in line with those policies;

We have determined the disclosure of the impact of IFRS 
17 to be a key audit matter because of the significant 
changes introduced under the new standard, and 
subjectivity in the level of IAS 8 disclosure of information 
relevant for the estimated impact.

• Understood the relevant controls and governance 
process for the determination and approval of 
accounting policies, including the key methodologies, 
judgments and assumptions;

IFRS 17 adoption is expected to significantly reduce the 
Group's total equity as at the transition date. This is due 
to the slower release of profits under IFRS 17 compared 
to IFRS 4 under the mechanism by which profits are 
deferred within the Contractual Service Margin (CSM) 
and amortised over the duration of a contract.

• Obtained an understanding of and challenged the 
key methodologies, judgements and assumptions 
used to develop and calculate the IFRS 17 estimate 
impacts. We involved PwC actuarial specialists to 
evaluate the key actuarial judgments made including 
the approach to the fair value CSM calculation, the 
calculation of the fully retrospective CSM at inception, 
and an estimation of the amortisation of the CSM at 
the transition date;
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The implementation of IFRS 17 requires the Group 
to interpret the requirements of the new standard 
and make significant judgments and assumptions to 
develop its accounting policies. Key judgments made 
include the determination of the date before which 
it is impracticable to apply the fully retrospective 
approach, the approach for how the fair value and 
fully retrospective CSM have been determined for both 
insurance and reinsurance contracts, and the CSM 
amortisation approach for deferred annuities.

• Performed controls and substantive testing, including 
the involvement of actuarial specialists, over the 
calculation that has been developed to determine 
the disclosed range of impacts to Group equity on 
transition; and

New models and processes are required in order to 
calculate the key components of the transition impact.

An estimated range of the impact as at 1st January 
2022 has been disclosed, alongside the key estimation 
uncertainties used in determining the range.

• Reviewed the IAS 8 quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures. This included the consideration of 
whether the valuation of the range disclosed is 
appropriate, and whether the quantitative and 
qualitative disclosure is in line with IAS 8.

Based on the audit procedures performed and 
evidence obtained, we consider the disclosures related 
to the initial impact of IFRS 17, and key judgments and 
assumptions to be appropriate.

Recoverability of the Company’s investments in 
Group undertakings (parent)

Refer to Financial statements of the Company and Note 
H.2 – Investments in subsidiaries and associates 

In respect to the carrying value of investments in 
subsidiaries we:

In the Company's statement of financial position, 
investments in subsidiaries are reported at cost less 
impairment.

• Verify that the accounting policies are in compliance 
with the applicable financial reporting framework 
and evaluate whether they are appropriate based on 
our understanding of the nature of Rothesay's assets, 
business and industry;

• Assessed investments in subsidiaries for indication 
of impairment considering our understanding of the 
business; and

• Assessed the disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the work performed and the evidence 
obtained, we consider the carrying value of 
investments in subsidiaries to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we 
performed enough work to be able to give an opinion 
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into 
account the structure of the Group and the Company, 
the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which they operate.

The Group consists of 11 subsidiary companies and the 
parent Company, Rothesay Limited. Of the companies 
within the Group, the most significant component is 
Rothesay Life Plc, which conducts all of the insurance 
business of the Group. PwC UK is the Group and 
Company auditors for components requiring  
statutory audits.

Based on the output of our risk assessment, along 
with our understanding of the Group structure, 
we performed full scope audits over the following 
components: Rothesay Limited (Company) and 
Rothesay Life Plc.

We have identified the following components where 
specific account balances were considered significant 
in relation to the Group, and scoped our audit to 
include detailed testing of those account balances: 
Rothesay Pensions Management Limited and Rothesay 
Employee Share Trust.

We completed review procedures over the other 
components not subject to full scope audits.

The impact of climate risk on our audit
As part of our audit we made enquiries of 
management to understand the process adopted to 
assess the extent of the potential impact of climate 
risk on the Group’s Annual Report and Accounts and 
support the disclosures made.

Management have made disclosures in the Group’s 
Environment, Social and Governance Report section of 
the Annual Report and Accounts in relation to climate 
change (including the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD)). Management have made 
commitments to achieving net zero emissions by 
2050 and to transitioning their investment portfolio 
to net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, 
aligned with a maximum temperature rise of 1.5°C 
above pre-industrial levels as outlined in the Paris 
Agreement. Detailed disclosure relating to this is 
included within Rothesay’s Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report 2021 which is published separately. 
We have considered these disclosures as part of 
our consideration of other Information disclosed in 
the Annual Report and Accounts as set out in the 
‘Reporting on other information’ section of this report.

The key area of the financial statements where 
management evaluated that climate risk has a 
potential impact is in the valuation of financial 
investments. We agree that this is the key area of 
potential impact and that the relevant disclosures  
that have been made within the financial statements 
are appropriate.

Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited continued
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Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements – Group Financial statements – Company

Overall materiality £79,000,000 (2021: £78,500,000). £25,500,000 (2021: £25,473,000).

How we 
determined it

a materiality value that is an equivalent of 1.3% of 
Total Equity

1.0% of Total Assets

Rationale for 
benchmark 
applied

We determine a materiality value that reflects the 
context of business performance and benchmarks 
which represent the key performance indicators 
considered important to the users of the financial 
statements. Based on the benchmarks used in the 
financial statements, we consider Total Equity to be 
the most appropriate benchmark as it represents the 
residual interest that can be ascribed to shareholders 
after policyholder assets and corresponding 
liabilities have been accounted for, and the financial 
strength of the Group for the holders of listed debt 
issued. We have presented the materiality value as a 
percentage of Total Equity, but have also compared 
the materiality value against other relevant 
benchmarks, such as total assets, total revenue and 
profit before tax, to ensure the materiality selected 
was appropriate for our audit.

We consider that total assets is 
the primary measure used by the 
shareholders in assessing the 
performance of the entity and 
is a generally accepted auditing 
benchmark for the purpose of the 
Company financial statements.

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, 
we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall 
Group materiality. The range of materiality allocated 
across components was between £2,521,000 and 
£75,000,000. Certain components were audited to a 
local statutory audit materiality that was also less than 
our overall Group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that 
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, 
we use performance materiality in determining the 
scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our 
testing of account balances, classes of transactions 
and disclosures, for example in determining sample 
sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2021: 
75%) of overall materiality, amounting to £59,250,000 

(2021: £58,875,000) for the Group financial statements 
and £19,125,000 (2021: £19,104,000) for the Company 
financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we 
considered a number of factors – the history of 
misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation  
risk and the effectiveness of controls – and concluded 
that an amount at the upper end of our normal range 
was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would 
report to them misstatements identified during 
our audit above £3,950,000 (Group audit) (2021: 
£3,925,000) and £1,275,000 (Company audit) (2021: 
£1,273,000) as well as misstatements below those 
amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our 
application of materiality. We set certain quantitative 
thresholds for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 

scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures on the individual financial 
statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the 
Group's and the Company’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting included:
• obtaining management’s updated going concern 

assessment and material assumptions made using 
our knowledge of Group and Company's business 
performance, review of regulatory correspondence 
and obtaining further corroborating evidence;

• considering management's assessment of the 
regulatory solvency coverage and liquidity position 
in the forward looking scenarios considered, which 
have been driven by the Group's ORSA;

• considering information obtained during the 
course of the audit and publicly available market 
information to identify any evidence that would 
contradict management’s assessment of going 
concern; and

• inquiring and understanding the actions taken 
by management to mitigate the identified risks, 
including review of Board Risk Committee minutes 
and attendance of all Audit Committees.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the Group's and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period 
of at least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions 
can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as 
to the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as 
a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
Directors with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information 
in the Annual Report other than the financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The 
Directors are responsible for the other information. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, accordingly, we do 
not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of 
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or 
material misstatement, we are required to perform 
procedures to conclude whether there is a material 
misstatement of the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic Report and Report of the 
Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures 
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been 
included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of  
the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us  
also to report certain opinions and matters as 
described below.

Strategic Report and Report of the Directors
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of the audit, the information given in the 
Strategic Report and Report of the Directors for the 
year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with 
the financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
Group and Company and their environment obtained 
in the course of the audit, we did not identify any 
material misstatements in the Strategic Report and 
Report of the Directors.

Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited continued



123Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 2022

Auditors report

Responsibilities for the financial 
statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the Directors for the  
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' 
responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. The Directors are 
also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined 
above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which 
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group and 
industry, we identified that the principal risks of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations related to 
breaches of UK regulatory principles, such as those 
governed by the Prudential Regulation Authority and 
the Financial Conduct Authority, and we considered the 
extent to which non-compliance might have a material 
effect on the financial statements. We also considered 
those laws and regulations that have a direct impact 
on the financial statements such as Companies Act 
2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements (including the risk of override of 
controls), and determined that the principal risks were 
related to posting inappropriate journal entries, such 
as increasing revenue or the capital position of the 
Group and Company, management bias in accounting 
estimates and judgemental areas of the financial 
statements such as the valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities and the valuation of investments classified as 
Level 3 under IFRS 13. Audit procedures performed by 
the engagement team included:

• Discussions with the Board, management, Internal 
Audit, senior management involved in the Risk and 
Compliance functions and the Group’s legal function, 
including consideration of known or suspected 
instance of non-compliance with laws and regulation 
and fraud;

• Assessment of any matters reported on the 
Group’s whistleblowing register and the results of 
management’s investigation of such matters;

• Reading key correspondence with the Prudential 
Regulation Authority and the Financial Conduct 
Authority in relation to compliance with laws and 
regulations;

• Reviewing relevant meeting minutes including 
those of the Risk Committee and attending all Audit 
Committees;

• Reviewing data regarding policyholder complaints, 
the Group’s register of litigation and claims, Internal 
Audit reports, and Compliance reports in so far 
as they related to non-compliance with laws and 
regulations and fraud;

• Procedures relating to the valuation of life 
insurance contract liabilities, in particular longevity, 
credit default risk assumptions; the valuation of 
investments classified as Level 3 under IFRS 13 
described in the related key audit matters; as well 
as considering whether there are indications of 
management bias;
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• Identifying risk criteria relating to the posting of 
journals that is susceptible to fraud and analysing 
the entire population of journals to assess those that 
meet this criteria; and

• Designing audit procedures that incorporated 
unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent 
of our testing to material and immaterial financial 
statement line items, as well as validating the 
accuracy of member data from outsourced service 
providers to underlying evidence.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures 
described above. We are less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations 
that are not closely related to events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, 
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, 
or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete 
populations of certain transactions and balances, 
possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it 
typically involves selecting a limited number of items 
for testing, rather than testing complete populations. 
We will often seek to target particular items for testing 
based on their size or risk characteristics. In other 
cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw 
a conclusion about the population from which the 
sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) is located on the FRC’s website 
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditors’ report.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and Company’s  
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting  
policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates and related disclosures  
made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group and Company 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group and 
Company audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Rothesay Limited continued
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From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 
for and only for the Company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in 
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom 
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent  
in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not obtained all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by 
the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

• the Company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.

Appointment
We were appointed by the members on 26 February 
2007 to audit the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 November 2007 and subsequent financial 
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement 
is 16 years, covering the years ended 30 November 
2007 to 31 December 2022.

Sue Morling (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

10 February 2023
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The financial statements set out the 
consolidated results for Rothesay 

Limited and its subsidiaries for the 
year ended 31 December 2022.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Income

Gross premiums written B.1 3,579 3,205

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (2,175) (1,636)

Net premiums written 1,404 1,569

Investment return B.2 (15,376) 48

Total revenue (13,972) 1,617

Expenses

Policyholder claims (2,913) (2,901)

Less: reinsurance recoveries 2,051 1,521

Change in insurance contract liabilities E.3 15,918 1,216

Change in the reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities E.1 (485) (198)

Net claims and change in insurance liabilities 14,571 (362)

Acquisition and administration expenses B.3 (232) (225)

Finance costs B.4 (197) (117)

Total expenses 14,142 (704)

Profit before tax 170 913

Income tax expense B.8 (27) (174)

Profit for the financial year 143 739

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Profit for the financial year 143 739

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss: – –

Cash flow hedges:

Fair value gains during the year C.4 3 1

Total comprehensive income for the year 146 740

All income and expenses are related to continuing operations. 

Notes A–I form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Assets
Property, plant and equipment D.1 18 11

Lease – right of use asset I.5 31 30

Financial investments D.2 90,929 83,845

Deferred tax asset G.1 13 3

Reinsurance assets E.1 185 641

Accrued interest and prepayments D.4 806 641

Receivables D.5 2,353 463

Cash and cash equivalents D.6 270 353

Total assets 94,605 85,987

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital C.1 3 3

Share premium C.4 507 1,545

Tier 1 notes C.3 793 793

Employee scheme treasury shares and share-based payment reserve C.2 (143) (146)

Other reserves C.4 137 133

Profit and loss reserve C.4 4,879 3,721

Total equity 6,176 6,049

Liabilities
Reinsurance liabilities E.1 1,245 1,217

Insurance contract liabilities E.3 38,112 54,030

Payables and financial investment liabilities D.7 47,166 22,853

Leasehold liabilities I.5 44 42

Borrowings D.8 1,764 1,725

Accruals D.9 98 71

Total liabilities 88,429 79,938

Total equity and liabilities 94,605 85,987

Note that we have amended the presentation of a number of the equity lines in the consolidated statement of 
financial position to simplify and improve the disclosure. We have updated the presentation for 2021 accordingly 
(please see the consolidated statement of changes in equity for further details).

Notes A–I form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 February 2023 and signed on its behalf by:
 

Tom Pearce
Chief Executive Officer 
10 February 2023
Company number 08668809 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
 

Note

Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Tier 1 
notes

£m

Employee 
scheme 

treasury 
shares and 

share-based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Other 
reserves

£m

Profit and 
loss reserve

£m

Total 
equity

£m

As at 1 January 2022 3 1,545 793 (146) 133 3,721 6,049

Profit for the financial year C.4 – – – – – 143 143

Capital reorganisation C.4 – (1,038) – – – 1,038 –

Currency translation C.4 – – – – 1 – 1

Tier 1 note coupon C.3, C.4 – – – – – (34) (34)

Tier 1 coupon tax relief C.3, C.4 – – – – – 7 7

Other comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 3 – 3

Share-based payments C.2 – – – 3 – 4 7

As at 31 December 2022 3 507 793 (143) 137 4,879 6,176

Other reserves as at 31 December 2022 includes a hedging reserve of £4m, currency translation of £1m and the 
reorganisation reserve of £132m (which reflects the impact of Rothesay's reorganisation in 2013, specifically the 
excess of consolidated net assets to the historical cost of investment in subsidiary entities).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Note

Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Tier 1 
notes

£m

Employee 
scheme 

treasury 
shares and 

share-based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Other 
reserves

£m

Profit and 
loss reserve

£m

Total 
equity

£m

As at 1 January 2021 3 1,545 347 (123) 132 2,971 4,875

Profit for the financial year C.4 – – – – – 739 739

IFRS 2 adjustment – – – – – 2 2

Other comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 1 – 1

Issuance of RT1 notes C.3 – – 446 – – – 446

Share-based payments C.2 – – – (23) – 9 (14)

As at 31 December 2021 3 1,545 793 (146) 133 3,721 6,049

Other reserves as at 31 December 2021 includes a hedging reserve of £1m, currency translation of £0.2m and the 
reorganisation reserve of £132m.

Note that we have amended the presentation of the consolidated statement of changes in equity to simplify and 
improve the disclosure. We have combined the capital contribution reserve and employee scheme treasury shares 
together and presented this as the share based payment reserve (see note C.2 for further detail). We have also 
combined the hedging, currency translation and reorganisation reserves together as other reserves (see note C.4 
for further detail). We have updated the presentation for 2021 accordingly.
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1 Tax paid consists of UK corporation tax paid £81m (2021: £229m) and overseas tax paid £0.3m (2021: £0.2m).

Consolidated cash flow statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the financial year 143 739
Adjustments for non-cash movements in net profit for the financial year
Hedging reserve C.4 3 1
Currency translation C.4 1 –
Exchange rate movement on USD borrowings 35 –
IFRS 2 adjustment – 2
Depreciation D.1 2 2
Amortisation of debt costs B.4 4 8
Leasehold depreciation I.5 4 4
Financing charge on leasehold I.5 1 1
Employee benefit trust 9 (14)
Interest income B.2 (1,789) (1,445)
Interest expense B.4 189 106
Income tax expense B.8 38 172
Net (increase)/decrease in operational assets
Financial investments D.2 (7,084) 9,867
Deferred tax G.1 (10) 2
Reinsurance asset E.1 456 (25)
Receivables D.5 (1,848) 465
Prepayment D.4 (24) 6
Net (decrease)/increase in operational liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities E.1 (15,918) (1,217)
Reinsurance liabilities E.1 28 224
Financial investment liabilities D.7 20,635 (10,151)
Other payables D.7 3,683 (542)
Accruals D.9 2 (8)
Cash flows used in operating activities (1,440) (1,803)
Interest paid (163) (99)
Interest received 1,648 1,460
Tax paid1 (81) (229)
Net cash flows generated (used in)/generated from operating activities (36) (671)
Cash flows used in financing activities
Interest payment on Tier 1 notes C.3 (34) –
Cash flow on leasehold I.5 (4) –
Proceeds from issuance of Tier 1 notes (net of issuance costs) C.3 – 446
Proceeds from issuance of debt (net of issuance costs) D.8 – 290
Net cash flows used in financing activities (38) 736
Net cash outflows used in investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment D.1 (9) (5)
Net cash outflows used in investing activities (9) (5)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (83) 60
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January D.6 353 293
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December D.6 270 353
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Company statement of financial position
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Assets

Investment in subsidiaries H.2 2,475 2,469

Receivables D.5 98 78

Total assets 2,573 2,547

Equity and liabilities

Share capital C.1 3 3

Share premium C.4 507 1,545

Share-based payment reserve C.2 (46) (43)

Profit and loss reserve 1,959 928

Total equity 2,423 2,433

Liabilities

Other payables D.7 149 114

Accruals 1 –

Total liabilities 150 114

Total equity and liabilities 2,573 2,547

Notes A–I form an integral part of these financial statements.

The loss of the Company for the financial year was £7m (2021: loss of £6m). As permitted by section 408  
of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s statement of comprehensive income has not been included in these 
financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 February 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Tom Pearce
Chief Executive Officer 
10 February 2023 

Company number 08668809 
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Company statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Profit and 
loss reserve

£m

Total 
equity

£m

As at 1 January 2022 3 1,545 (43) 928 2,433

Capital reorganisation – (1,038) – 1,038 –

Loss for the financial year – – – (7) (7)

Share-based payment reserve – – (3) – (3)

As at 31 December 2022 3 507 (46) 1,959 2,423

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 

Share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium

£m

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
£m

Profit and 
loss reserve

£m

Total 
equity

£m

As at 1 January 2021 3 1,545 (31) 934 2,451

Loss for the financial year – – – (6) (6)

Share-based payment reserve – – (12) – (12)

As at 31 December 2021 3 1,545 (43) 928 2,433

Note that we have renamed the capital contribution reserve as a share-based payment reserve to better reflect 
the nature of the reserve.
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Company cash flow statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

Note
2022

£m
2021

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the year I.1 (7) (6)

Adjustments for non-cash movements in net loss for the year

Share based payments and vesting (3) –

Interest expense – 1

Net increase in operational assets

Receivables D.5 (20) (11)

Net increase in operational liabilities

Other payables D.7 35 17

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 5 1

Interest paid – (1)

Cash flows generated from operating activities 5 –

Cash flows used in investing activities

Investment in subsidiaries H.2 (5) –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (5) –

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents – –

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January – –

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December – –
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Note A – Significant accounting policies
A.1 Basis of preparation and consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of Rothesay and those of the Company have been prepared and approved 
by the Directors in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 and UK-adopted International Accounting Standards. The accounting policies have been 
applied consistently. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The Directors have considered the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. The Board has considered forward-looking scenarios intended to 
test the impact of stresses and scenarios that may impact Rothesay’s ability to execute its business plan. The 
results demonstrate the robustness of Rothesay’s solvency. Management and the Board believe Rothesay is well 
capitalised on both a regulatory and economic capital basis and therefore the Board believes it is appropriate to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting (see viability and going concern section).

The consolidated and separate financial statements of the Company are presented in sterling (£) rounded to the 
nearest million (£m) except where otherwise stated. The separate Company statement of financial position is 
presented on page 132.

Rothesay presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding recovery 
or settlement more than 12 months after the year end is presented in the notes. 

Assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the income 
statement unless required or permitted by IFRS. 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which Rothesay obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from 
the date Rothesay gains control until the date Rothesay ceases to control the subsidiary. The financial statements 
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting 
policies. The notes to the financial statements reflect the Rothesay Group position unless otherwise stated.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses, and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions and dividends, are eliminated in full.

Control is achieved when Rothesay is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, Rothesay 
controls an investee if and only if Rothesay has:
• power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of  

the investee);
• exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Rothesay reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

Notes to the financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Note A – Significant accounting policies (continued)
A.1 Basis of preparation and consolidation (continued)
During the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, Rothesay selects accounting policies and 
makes estimates and assumptions that impact on the items reported and their presentation. The Audit 
Committee reviews the reasonableness of these judgements and assumptions as well as the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies applied. Judgements are decisions which management has made in the process of 
applying Rothesay’s accounting policies. Matters of significant judgement are considered to be: 
• The assessment of whether Rothesay controls underlying entities and investments (see note H.1).
• Assessment of the significance of insurance risk transferred to Rothesay in determining whether a contract 

should be accounted for as an insurance or investment contract (see note A.2).
• Assessment as to whether there is sufficient reasonable and supportable information available for the fully 

retrospective approach to be used for the transition to IFRS 17 (see note A.4). 

Estimates are based on evidence available at the accounting date and opinions provided by subject matter 
experts. Actual results may vary from the estimates provided. As new facts become available estimates will be 
updated. Items considered particularly susceptible to changes in estimates are noted below: 
• Fair value of financial investments where quoted market prices are not available (see note D.2).
• Measurement of net insurance contract liabilities (see notes E.2 and E.3).
• The impact of the adoption of IFRS 17 in relation to the measurement of the fulfilment cash flows and the 

contractual service margin for all historical business (see note A.4).

In accordance with IAS 1 and published FRC guidance, within each of the relevant notes Rothesay has included the 
following information: 
• the assumptions made and the uncertainties around these;
• how sensitive the assets and liabilities are to these assumptions; 
• expected resolution of the uncertainty and the range of possible outcomes for the financial year ending 

31 December 2023; and 
• explanation of any changes made to past assumptions if the uncertainty is unresolved.

A.2 Contract classification
Using judgement, Rothesay has classified all of its policyholder contracts as insurance contracts in accordance 
with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracts’. Insurance contracts are contracts which transfer significant insurance risk to the 
insurer at the inception of the contract. 

As permitted by IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracts’, the liabilities of Rothesay’s insurance contracts are accounted for 
using generally accepted accounting principles within the UK industry. Rothesay applies the modified historic 
statutory solvency basis (MSSB) of reporting as set out in the revised Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
issued by the Association of British Insurers (ABI) in November 2005 (amended in December 2006). The SORP was 
withdrawn with effect for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 but Rothesay continues to 
apply the principles.

A.3 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates of exchange ruling on the 
date the transaction occurred. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling at rates of exchange ruling at the financial statement date. Gains and losses on exchange are 
recognised in operating expenses. The results and financial position of all Group companies that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
• asset and liabilities are translated at the closing rate; 
• income, expenses and cash flows denominated in foreign currency are translated at average exchange rates; 

and
• all resulting exchange differences are recognised through the statement of consolidated comprehensive income 

and taken to the currency transaction reserve within equity. 
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A.4 Accounting policies and change in accounting policies
Accounting policies have been consistently applied in these consolidated financial statements. Where accounting 
policies can be directly attributed to a specific note, the policy is presented in that note.

Historically, interest on the RT1 notes classified as equity has been incorrectly included in interest payable on third 
party borrowings. From 1 January 2022, this interest has been accounted for as an appropriation of equity, net of 
tax, consistent with the relevant accounting standard (see note B.4). This matter is considered to be immaterial 
and therefore a prior year reclassification has not been made. Rothesay has not adopted any new standards or 
any changes to existing standards, including matters of significant judgement and use of estimates.

The following standards and amendments were issued before 30 September 2022 with effective date for 
accounting periods ending on or after 1 October 2022.

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’: 
The amendment updates a reference in IFRS 3 to the conceptual framework for financial reporting without 
changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. The amendment has no impact on Rothesay.

Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’:
The amendments prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts 
received from selling items produced while the Company is preparing the assets of its intended use. Instead, a 
company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. The amendment has no impact on 
Rothesay.

Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’:
The amendment specifies which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. 
The amendment has no impact on Rothesay.

Annual improvements: 
Make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS ‘, IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, 
‘Agriculture’ and the illustrative examples accompanying IFRS 16, ‘Leases’. These amendments are not expected to 
have any impact on Rothesay. 

The following standards are effective for annual periods on or after 1 January 2023:

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, as amended in June 2020:
IFRS 17, the accounting standard for insurance contracts, is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2023. The standard will have a significant impact on the way Rothesay’s results are reported because 
the standard rebuilds performance measurement in areas ranging from a new definition of insurance revenue 
to the elimination of upfront profits and spreading of profit across the lifetime of the contract retrospectively for 
all business. As a result, IFRS profits that have been declared in the past (and up to 31 December 2022) will be 
recalculated and the opening balance sheet adjusted accordingly.

During 2022, we have made significant progress in refining our approaches, models, business operations and 
systems in readiness for transition to IFRS 17. At this stage, we are refining our IFRS 17 methodologies, however 
we are able to set out our key accounting policies and approaches below.

Under IFRS 17, we will use the General Measurement Model (GMM) for the derivation of all our insurance 
liabilities. Under the GMM, our liabilities will comprise the following building blocks:
• Best estimate liability (BEL): An explicit and unbiased estimate of future cash flows that will arise as Rothesay 

fulfils the contracts discounted using an approach that reflects the characteristics of the liability. 
• Risk adjustment (RA): This reflects the compensation that Rothesay requires for bearing the non-financial 

uncertainty in the liabilities.
• Contractual Service Margin (CSM): This represents the unearned profit that Rothesay will recognise over time 

as it provides services in the future of the insurance contract.

Note A – Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Best estimate liabilities (BEL)
In determining the BEL, we will use best estimate assumptions based on available market data in an unbiased 
way. Where possible, we will use assumptions which are consistent with those used for deriving the best estimate 
liabilities under other financial reporting metrics such as MCEV and Solvency II.

Risk adjustment (RA)
In determining the RA, we will use the provision for adverse deviation approach (the PAD approach) under which 
we will apply margins to the best estimates for demographic and expense risk. Allowance will also be made for 
operational risk. These allowances will reflect Rothesay’s compensation for bearing the uncertainty around these 
risks. A consistent technique will be applied to both insurance and reinsurance contracts, with the RA related to 
reinsurance reflecting the amount of RA ceded as a result of transacting reinsurance contracts. 

Contractual service margin (CSM)
The CSM is calculated at the inception of the contract and is released as profit as the liability is discharged. 

We will calculate the CSM as the difference between the premium received by Rothesay and the fulfilment cash 
flows (the sum of BEL and RA). For reinsurance contracts, the CSM represents the net cost or gain on purchasing 
reinsurance based on the net outflow to the reinsurer and the associated reduction in RA. 

In determining the CSM amortisation, we consider the services delivered under the contract and define the 
coverage units that should be used to amortise the CSM over time. The services delivered include both the 
insurance service and the investment return service. We define the quantity of benefit provided as part of the 
insurance service as the expected payment due to the policyholder in each period contingent on the insured event 
occurring (i.e. survival until the payment date). The quantity of benefits provided as part of the investment return 
service includes both the value generated to the policyholder by investing the deferred policy premiums, and the 
value that Rothesay stands ready to pay the policyholder upon exercise of their member options before the in-
payment period. The blended coverage unit will be calculated by appropriately weighting the expected insurance 
and investment return service coverage units such that by the time a deferred annuitant reaches retirement, the 
CSM is in line with that of an equivalent annuitant. 

Discount rates
We are required to use discount rates to measure the BEL and RA and to determine the interest to accrete on the 
CSM, and measure the impact of adjustments to the CSM. We already use a number of methods to determine 
discount rates under current reporting bases and intend, where possible, to leverage existing methodologies for 
determining the appropriate discount rates under IFRS 17. The chosen discount rates will vary depending on the 
characteristics of the liabilities being valued. We will use separate discount rates to value our insurance contracts 
and our longevity only reinsurance contracts.
• For insurance contracts, we will use a top-down approach to deriving the discount curve based on the

market consistent rate of return on a reference portfolio of assets appropriate to back the liabilities. Such an 
approach is consistent with that used under MCEV.

• For collateralised longevity only reinsurance contracts, we will reflect the comparatively higher liquidity
of collateralised cash flows (namely the actual claims made and the premiums paid) by deriving a discount curve 
from the assets that can be posted as collateral under the relevant contracts.

The locked in rate used for the CSM calculations for insurance contracts will be in line with the discount rates used 
to discount the projected BEL and RA at initial recognition.

Transition
As part of the transition to IFRS 17, we will need to determine a CSM for all historic business. Where possible 
(in practice, for business written from 2016 onwards), we will use the fully retrospective approach for determining 
the CSM. Where this approach is not practicable as reasonable and supportable information is not readily 
available (determined to be business written before 2016), we will use the fair value approach under which the 
CSM is calculated as the fair value of the liabilities less the best estimate of the liabilities and risk adjustment as 
at transition date (1 January 2022). The fully retrospective approach is not practicable for business written prior to 
1 January 2016 due to data and system constraints which existed pre the introduction of Solvency II, particularly in 
relation to subsequent changes in assumptions and estimates.

Note A – Significant accounting policies (continued)
A.4 Accounting policies and change in accounting policies (continued)
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Under the fully retrospective approach, we will calculate the CSM on the date the business was written as 
described above. The CSM is then rolled forward, allowing for interest accretion, CSM adjustments at the locked in 
rate, and amortisation, to derive the CSM at the valuation date.

Under the fair value approach, the relevant fair value premiums will be derived by applying an appropriate 
discount rate to the best estimate cash flows. The appropriate discount rate will be determined using the rate of 
discount that would need to be applied to the best estimate cash flows to derive the premiums paid for business 
written at around the valuation date (based on business written by Rothesay and our competitors). We will use 
different discount rates for immediate and deferred annuitants to derive an overall premium for each trade. For 
reinsurance contracts, the CSM will reflect the net cost or gain on purchasing reinsurance at a fair value on the 
date of transition based on the net outflow to the reinsurer and the associated reduction in RA. 

Modification and de-recognition
Pension scheme de-risking is generally a two-step process starting with a pension buy-in contract between 
Rothesay and the pension scheme and followed by conversion from buy-in to buy-out at which point individual 
contracts are issued to pension scheme members. We do not consider conversion from buy-in to buy-out as a 
modification and de-recognition event given the terms and conditions of a buy-out are set out in the original buy-
in contract and the benefits provided are unchanged. As a result, such conversions have no impact on the results.

When Rothesay acquires books of annuities from other insurers this is usually achieved by entering into a 
reinsurance contract between Rothesay and the insurer selling the block, followed by a Part VII transfer where the 
individual annuity contracts transfer from the insurer to Rothesay along with any associated reinsurance. At the 
Part VII date, we will de-recognise the carrying amount of the CSM and set up a new CSM based on the fair value 
of the scheme or group at that date. 

Estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 17
We estimate that after allowing for a deferred tax asset of 25% of the transitional impact on 1 January 2022, the 
combined impact of the retrospective changes required under IFRS 17 will lead to a reduction in Group equity 
of between £1bn and £1.5bn as at 1 January 2022 compared to that published under IFRS 4. We have presented 
a range of outcomes to facilitate disclosure as there remains some uncertainty over the final impact of the 
introduction of the standard. The upper and lower bounds of the range have been determined on a top down basis 
by applying amortisation profiles based on cash flows (for the upper end) and linear run-off (for the lower end) to 
the known inception CSM positions and then adding an additional margin for prudence. Given the breadth of the 
range and the results from our more detailed modelling, we are confident that the final result will fall in this range.

We expect finalisation of the impact over the next few weeks as we complete our internal governance of the 
modelling of the CSM and amortisation under the fully retrospective approach. This includes for example the 
testing of the final controls over the end to end reporting under IFRS17. 

As Rothesay has grown very rapidly, with the majority of business being written in the last few years, the slower 
release of profits under IFRS 17 means that we expect materially lower operating profits for 2022 compared 
to IFRS 4. In addition, under IFRS 17, only part of the insurance liabilities (the best estimate liabilities and risk 
adjustment) is exposed to the impact of changes in economic conditions; the CSM is not impacted by such 
changes. As a result, the IFRS 17 balance sheet responds to changes in economic conditions in a way which is 
closer to MCEV than the IFRS 4 balance sheet. Given Rothesay’s approach to hedging interest rate and inflation 
risk is to hedge somewhere between MCEV and solvency, we are effectively over-hedged on an IFRS 17 basis and 
so the IFRS 17 balance sheet is much more sensitive to interest rate movements than the IFRS 4 balance sheet. 
Under IFRS 17, the impact of the very significant increase in interest rates combined with widening credit spreads 
is expected to more than offset operating profits under IFRS 17. Consequently, the restated comparative for 2022 
is expected to show material pre-tax losses under the new standard.

Note A – Significant accounting policies (continued)
A.4 Accounting policies and change in accounting policies (continued)
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Adoption of the new standard is not expected to materially impact Rothesay’s solvency position or the ultimate 
profitability of new business. As a result, changes to IFRS accounting are not expected to impact new business 
pricing or our business strategy. In addition, the rating agencies such as Fitch Ratings have indicated that they 
expect to treat CSM reserves as equity for the purposes of financial leverage ratios and so the implementation of 
IFRS 17 is not expected to impact our credit ratings.

Although the implementation of IFRS 17 is expected to lead to a significant impact on total equity and would have 
resulted in lower profits for 2022, we expect that our ability to pay dividends will continue to be driven by our 
solvency balance sheet. 

We will publish full results under IFRS 17 as part of our interim results for the six months to 30 June 2023 including 
comparatives for full year and half year 2022.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments:
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, sets out the principles for recognition (and derecognition), classification and 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, and supersedes IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. Rothesay has taken the deferral option in relation to IFRS 9 and will adopt the 
standard on the effective date of the new insurance contract standard. 

The initial recognition requirement under IFRS 9 is consistent with IAS 39. IFRS 9 divides financial assets into two 
classifications: amortised cost and fair value. Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses can be 
recognised through profit or loss (fair value through profit or loss, FVTPL) or recognised in other comprehensive 
income (fair value through other comprehensive income). 

Financial assets that meet the following two conditions must be measured at amortised cost, unless the asset is 
designated at FVTPL under the fair value option:
• Business model test: the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold the financial asset to collect

contractual cash flows (rather than to sell the asset prior to its contractual maturity); and 
• Cash flow characteristic test: the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Because Rothesay’s financial assets are held to meet liabilities, they are designated upon initial recognition at 
FVTPL in line with the matching exemption in IFRS 9, which allows financial assets to be held at fair value where 
they back financial liabilities at fair value. Rothesay’s financial investments are already fair valued under IAS 39 
and we do not expect re-measurement and re-designation between asset classes under IFRS 9. As a result, we 
expect immaterial to no impact to Rothesay’s balance sheet on transition to IFRS 9.

Receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and accrued interest will continue to be carried at amortised cost. This is 
the same classification and measurement under IFRS 9 and IAS 39. Rothesay will continue to apply IAS 39 Hedge 
accounting rules as permitted by the standards.

Note A – Significant accounting policies (continued)
A.4 Accounting policies and change in accounting policies (continued)
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Note B – Income statement notes 
B.1 Segmental analysis 

Segmental information is presented on the same basis as internal financial information used by Rothesay to evaluate 
operating performance. An operating segment is a component of Rothesay that engages in business activities from 
which it earns revenues and incurs expenses. Minor operating segments are combined to derive Rothesay reportable 
segments in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’. 

Rothesay writes both single and regular premium business. Single (single payment of premium which covers the 
life of the policy) and regular premiums (payments of premium made regularly over the duration of the policy) are 
recognised when they fall due.

All of Rothesay's business risks and returns are within one business segment (i.e. long-term insurance business). 
This includes the premiums generated on inwards reinsurance contracts. Rothesay's insurance operations are 
within the United Kingdom. The split between regular premiums and single premiums is shown below: 

Regular premiums Single premiums

2022
£m

2021
£m

2022
£m

2021
£m

Pension bulk annuities 255 253 3,324 2,952

Total gross premiums written 255 253 3,324 2,952

Regular premiums are paid over the term of the longevity-only insurance policies written by Rothesay. Single 
premiums are one-off payments relating to bulk annuity contracts and inwards reinsurance.

Rothesay conducts a relatively small number of individual transactions each year. These transactions are generally 
one-off in nature and Rothesay's business plans do not anticipate conducting a large amount of repeat business. 

B.2 Investment return

Investment return comprises all interest income on financial investments at fair value through profit and loss, realised 
investment gains and losses and movements in unrealised gains and losses, as well as expenses directly related to 
investments executed during the year. 

Dividends on money market securities held in collective investment schemes are included as investment income on the 
date the units are created. Interest is accounted for on an accruals basis. 

Realised gains and losses on investments carried at fair value are calculated as the difference between net sales 
proceeds and purchase price. Movements in unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference 
between the fair value of investments held at the statement of financial position date of each financial year and their 
purchase price or previous financial date.
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Note B – Income statement notes (continued)
B.2 Investment return (continued)
Investment (loss)/return includes fair value gains and losses. Interest is accounted for on an accrual basis.

2022
£m

2021
£m

Interest income on financial investments at fair value through profit and loss 1,789 1,445

Unrealised losses on financial investments (13,989) (1,564)

Realised (losses)/gains on financial investments (3,100) 237

Investment management expenses (76) (70)

Total investment (loss)/return (15,376) 48

Given the close duration matching of assets and insurance liabilities, the realised and unrealised losses on 
financial investments in the period were matched by similar movements in net insurance liabilities. The 
movements were driven by the increase in long-term interest rates over the period and credit spread widening. 

The increase in investment management expenses reflects the growth in Rothesay’s investment activity. 

B.3 Acquisition and administration expenses

The costs of acquiring new business are expensed during the financial year in which the premium is written and the 
costs incurred.

Acquisition and administration expenses can be broken down as follows: 
2022

£m
2021

£m

Acquisition and Group costs 151 141

Administration expenses – recurring 63 59

Administration expenses – project and other one-off expenses 18 25

Total operating expense 232 225

Acquisition and Group costs increased as a result of the growth in the business.

The following items have been included in operating expenses: 
2022

£m
2021

£m

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 2 2

Lease – right of use asset depreciation 4 5

6 7

Project and one-off expenses include reinsurance fees and charitable contributions. Projects include the 
development of Rothesay’s technology platform, the costs associated with the adoption of IFRS 17 and 
development activity by our third party administrators.
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Note B – Income statement notes (continued)
B.4 Finance costs

Finance costs consist of finance costs and interest payable on financial liabilities. Finance costs are accounted for on 
an accruals basis.

2022
£m

2021
£m

Interest payable on collateral 61 1

Interest payable on collateralised agreements and financing 38 1

Total interest payable on collateral and collateralised agreements 99 2

Interest payable on borrowings from related parties 19 19

Interest payable on third party borrowings 78 95

Financing charge on leasehold asset 1 1

Total borrowing costs 98 115

Net finance costs 197 117

Debt issuance expenses associated with the issue of subordinated loans are recognised over the term of the loan 
within interest payable.

For 2021, the interest payable on third party borrowings included interest of £29m paid on the sterling-denominated 
RT1 notes. From 1 January 2022, this is being treated as an appropriation of profit as and when the interest on the 
notes is paid, as shown in note C.4 (see note A.4).

B.5 Employee information
2022

No.
2021

No.

Average number of staff employed during the year 378 332

Employees by department at year end

Management 27 25

New business origination 27 25

Investments 57 50

Technology 90 72

Finance, legal and HR 74 67

Operations and project management 79 77

Risk and Internal Audit 42 43

396 359
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Rothesay staff costs during the financial year (including Directors’ salaries and other pension costs) are as follows:

2022
£m

2021
£m

Wages and salaries 112 117

Social security costs 17 17

Other pension costs 4 3

Total employee benefits expense 133 137

The increase in wages and salaries as a result of the increase in headcount was more than offset by the reduction 
in expenses in relation to share-based payments between 2021 and 2022. The key management personnel who 
have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Rothesay include its 
Directors. Further details of key management personnel transactions are included in note I.3. 

Directors’ emoluments in respect of qualifying services to Rothesay were as follows:

2022
£m

2021
£m

Directors’ remuneration
Aggregate emoluments 7 8
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes – –
Total Directors’ remuneration 7 8
Highest paid Director
Total amount of emoluments 3 3
Company pension contributions to money purchase schemes – –
Total highest paid Director 3 3

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, Directors’ emoluments above represent the proportion of total 
emoluments paid or payable in respect of qualifying services. This total does not include the value of equity 
awards in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 of SI 2008/410.  

During 2022, Directors received no emoluments for non-qualifying services which are required to be disclosed. 
Three Directors have been granted shares in Rothesay Limited (2021: three) in respect of long-term incentive 
schemes. No Directors have exercised options during the year. 

Note B – Income statement notes (continued)
B.5 Employee information (continued)
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B.6 Pension contributions

Rothesay operates a defined contribution pension scheme, sponsored by Rothesay Pensions Management Limited and 
contributions to the scheme are charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as they accrue.

The amount charged for the financial year was £4m (2021: £3m). There were no outstanding contributions as at 
31 December 2022 (2021: £Nil).

B.7 Auditors’ remuneration
Fees paid and payable to Rothesay's auditors are as follows:

2022
£000s

2021
£000s

Remuneration receivable by the Company’s auditors for the audit of the consolidated 
and Company financial statements 95 86

Remuneration receivable by the Company’s auditors for the audit of the financial 
statements of the Company’s subsidiaries 2,779 1,560

Total audit 2,874 1,646

Required by regulation 251 228

Audit-related assurance services 239 217

Other assurance services 51 119

Non-audit services – –

Total fees 3,415 2,210

Fees for the audit of the financial statements includes some non-recurring work in relation to the transition to 
IFRS 17. Other assurance services provided in 2022 relate to work associated with the establishment of the Euro 
Medium Term Note Programme. Other assurance services provided in 2021 relate to work associated with the 
issuance of the RT1 notes. These services are in compliance with applicable independence rules and Rothesay 
considered that the external auditor was best placed to provide these services because of their expertise and their 
understanding of Rothesay.

Note B – Income statement notes (continued)
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Note B – Income statement notes (continued)
B.8 Income tax expense 

Income tax assets and liabilities for the current year and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted by the financial statement date. Management uses previous experience and the 
advice of professional firms when assessing tax risks.

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are:

2022
£m

2021
£m

Current income tax:

UK corporation tax 38 172

Total current income tax 38 172

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (11) 2

Total deferred tax (11) 2

Total tax expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 27 174

The tax expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the financial year and the standard 
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%) is reconciled below: 

2022
£m

2021
£m

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 170 913

Tax calculated at UK standard rate of corporation tax of 19% (2021: 19%) 32 174

Disallowable expenditure – 1

Other adjustments (5) (1)

Total tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 27 174

In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate would 
increase from 19% to 25%. This was enacted into law on 10 June 2021. On 23 September 2022, The UK Chancellor 
of the Exchequer announced that the intended increase in the UK corporation tax rate referred to above would 
be cancelled. On 14 October Liz Truss, the then Prime Minister reversed that decision made as part of the 'Mini 
Budget' and confirmed that the corporation tax rate will increase to 25% from the current 19% rate as of 1 April 
2023. As a consequence, at balance sheet date deferred tax is still reflected at 25% in these financial statements.
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Note C – Equity
C.1 Share capital 
At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 the share capital of Rothesay Limited comprised:

2022 2021
No. £m No. £m

Ordinary share capital of £0.002 each 1,547,867,965 3.1 1,547,867,965 3.1

Ordinary share capital of £0.001 each 1 – 1 –

Authorised and issued share capital 1,547,867,966 3.1 1,547,867,966 3.1

No changes have been made to equity share capital in 2021 or in 2022.

The ordinary shares issued are analysed into the following categories:

2022 2021
No. £m No. £m

A £0.002 ordinary 1,513,673,632 3.0 1,513,673,632 3.0

B £0.002 ordinary 34,194,333 0.1 34,194,333 0.1

D £0.001 1 – 1 –

Total 1,547,867,966 3.1 1,547,867,966 3.1

The A and B shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends. All ordinary shares entitle the holder to share in 
the proceeds of the winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid on, the shares 
held. Only the A and D shares have full voting rights. The B ordinary shares have limited voting rights. All classes 
of shares have been fully paid.

C.2 Employee scheme treasury shares and share-based payment reserve
The Rothesay Employee Share Trust (the Trust) was established to purchase and hold shares of the Company 
for delivery of employee share schemes. Shares owned by the Trust are included at cost in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and are shown as a deduction from shareholders' equity. Gains and losses on sale 
of shares are charged or credited to the share-based payment reserve in equity. They are disclosed as employee 
scheme shares until they vest. The table below provides an analysis of the movement in the number of B ordinary 
shares held by the Trust.

Number of shares
2022

No.
2021

No.

At 1 January 23,574,764 23,309,516

Shares acquired from employees 3,008,574 531,648

Shares purchased by key management personnel (4,819,277) –

Shares transferred to the ESIP Trust (263,115) (266,400)

Shares issued to employees as RSUs vest (288,099) –

At financial statement date 21,212,847 23,574,764

During 2022, the Trust acquired 9,040 B ordinary shares from employees leaving employment. 

On 29 March 2022, the Trust purchased 2,999,534 B ordinary shares for consideration of £12.4m. On 31 March 
2022, the Trust sold 4,819,277 B ordinary shares to members of key management personnel and their families for 
consideration of £20m. 

During 2021, the Trust acquired 531,648 B ordinary shares from employees leaving employment.
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Note C – Equity (continued)
C.2 Employee scheme treasury shares and share-based payment reserve (continued)
During March 2020, the Company established a new employee share plan for all UK employees called the 
Rothesay Life UK Employee Share Incentive Plan (ESIP). The plan has been structured to operate within specific 
rules set by HM Revenue & Customs. A new employee benefit trust was established to support the ESIP (the ESIP 
Trust). The Trust transferred 263,115 shares to the ESIP Trust on 31 March 2022 (2021: 266,400 shares). These 
shares are held on trust for participating employees in accordance with the ESIP rules. Shares owned by the ESIP 
Trust are included at cost in the consolidated statement of financial position and are shown as a deduction from 
shareholders’ equity. They are disclosed as employee scheme shares until they are withdrawn. The table below 
provides an analysis of the movement in the number of B ordinary shares held by the ESIP Trust.

Number of shares
2022

No.
2021

No.

At 1 January 492,300 226,800

Shares forfeited by employees (5,334) (900)

Shares transferred from the Trust 263,115 266,400

At financial statement date 750,081 492,300

The table below details the movement in both the employee benefit trust and the share-based payment reserve.

Employee 
benefit trust

£m

Share-based 
payment reserve

£m

1 January 2022 (72) (74)

Equity amortisation and fair value movement – (2)

Employee share purchase 20 (20)

Employee share buy back (13) 13

Equity vesting and transfers 2 3

31 December 2022 (63) (80)

Employee 
benefit trust

£m

Share-based 
payment reserve

£m

1 January 2021 (77) (46)

Employee share buy back (2) 2

Equity vesting and transfers 7 (30)

31 December 2021 (72) (74)

C.3 Restricted Tier 1 notes – sterling

Under IFRS, the sterling-denominated Restricted Tier 1 (RT1) notes meet the definition of equity and are therefore 
recognised as such. The USD-denominated RT1 notes do not meet this definition and are recognised as borrowings 
(see note D.8).
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Note C – Equity (continued)
C.3 Restricted Tier 1 notes – sterling (continued)
The table below provides a summary of Rothesay’s sterling-denominated RT1 notes:

Notional 
amount Issue date

Callable at par at the option 
of the Group from Coupon

Carrying amount

2022
£m

2021
£m

Loan notes issued through public debt markets

£350m 12 September 2018 12 September 2028 6.875% 347 347

£450m 13 October 2021 13 October 2031 5% 446 446

793 793

On 13 October 2021, Rothesay issued £450m of Restricted Tier 1 notes with a fixed 5% coupon payable semi-
annually in arrears. The notes were issued through the public debt markets. The notes were initially recognised at 
the fair value of the consideration received less transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance. 

The notes are callable on or after 13 October 2031. If the notes are not repaid by 13 April 2032, the fixed rate of 
interest per annum will be reset. The notes are direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the issuer. 

Rothesay has the option to cancel the coupon payment on all RT1 notes which becomes mandatory upon breach 
or non-compliance with RLP’s SCR, a breach of the minimum capital requirement (MCR) or where Rothesay has 
insufficient distributable reserves. 

The full principal amount of each note is irrevocably and automatically reduced to zero on a permanent basis if 
RLP determines at any time that: 
(i) eligible Own Fund items are less than or equal to 75% of the SCR; 
(ii) eligible Own Fund items are less than or equal to 100% of the MCR; or 
(iii) a breach of the SCR has occurred and has not been remedied within three months.

then either:
(i) in the case of the £350m of RT1 notes (issued on 5 September 2018), the full principal amount of each note 

issued is irrevocably and automatically reduced to zero on a permanent basis; or
(ii) in the case of the £450m of RT1 notes (issued on 13 October 2021) the notes convert into a new class B of 

non-voting ordinary shares of RLP.

C.4 Share premium account and reserves 

Group
Share premium

£m

Profit and loss 
reserve

£m

Hedging
reserve

£m

Translation 
reserve

£m

Reorganisation 
reserve 

£m

1 January 2022 1,545 3,721 1 – 132

Profit for the financial year – 143 – – –

Other comprehensive income for the year – – 3 – –

Capital reorganisation (1,038) 1,038 – – –

Currency translation – – – 1 –

Tier 1 note coupon – (34) – – –

Tier 1 coupon tax relief – 7 – – –

Share-based payments – 4 – – –

31 December 2022 507 4,879 4 1 132

Note that for 2021, the interest payable on the sterling-denominated RT1 notes was included in finance costs (see 
note B.4) rather than as an appropriation of profit (see note A.4).
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Note C – Equity (continued)
C.4 Share premium account and reserves (continued)
In 2022 and in anticipation of the impact of the introduction of IFRS 17 on Rothesay’s balance sheet, the Company 
undertook a capital reorganisation leading to a reduction in share premium of £1,038m and a corresponding 
increase in the profit and loss reserve. This increase in the profit and loss reserve is likely to be more than offset 
by the equity impact of the transition to IFRS 17 on the date of implementation of the standard.

Group
Share premium

£m

Profit and loss 
reserve

£m

Hedging
reserve

£m

Translation 
reserve

£m

Reorganisation 
reserve

£m

1 January 2021 1,545 2,971 – – 132

Profit for the financial year – 739 – – –

IFRS 2 adjustment – 2 – – –

Other comprehensive income for the year – – 1 – –

Share-based payment – 9 – – –

31 December 2021 1,545 3,721 1 – 132

Hedging reserve
A foreign currency exposure arises on the RT1 notes issued in USD and the associated coupon payments (see note 
D.8). The risk arises from the fluctuation in exchange rates, which would cause volatility in the biannual coupon 
payments and the principal repayment at the call date. 

A cash flow hedge has therefore been put in place to remove the volatility caused by exchange rate movements, 
using a bespoke fixed-for-fixed cross currency swap. The swap is designated as a hedge of a probable forecasted 
transaction, being the foreign currency sterling costs of the coupons and principal. As the hedging instrument is a 
bespoke derivative any ineffectiveness is expected to be immaterial.

We have not provided additional disclosures in relation to the cash flow hedges as the fair value of the hedges 
was only £48m as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £7m) which is not material in the context of Rothesay’s total 
derivative position. 

C.5 Dividends on ordinary shares
The Directors have recommended no payment of interim dividends during the year ended 31 December 2022 
(2021: £Nil). The Directors have recommended no final ordinary dividend in respect of the year ended 31 
December 2022 (2021: £Nil).
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities
D.1 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the following classes of assets:
• Computer equipment: 3 years
• Furniture and fittings: 5 years
• Software: 10 years

Development expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset only if Rothesay can demonstrate 
the technical feasibility to complete the development of the software, its intention and the availability of resources 
to complete the development and to use the software, and its ability to use the software to generate probable future 
economic benefits and to measure the expenditure reliably. Subsequent expenditure on internally developed software 
is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 
All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as it is incurred. Amortisation of the intangible asset begins when 
development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. 
During the period of development, the intangible asset is tested for impairment annually.

Group
Software

£m

Computer 
equipment

£m

Furniture and 
fittings

£m
Total

£m

Cost
As at 1 January 2022 4 – 10 14
Additions 9 – – 9
As at 31 December 2022 13 – 10 23
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2022 – – (3) (3)
Charge for the year – – (2) (2)
As at 31 December 2022 – – (5) (5)
Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 13 – 5 18
As at 31 December 2021 4 – 7 11

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, Rothesay conducted an impairment review of the software asset 
not yet available for use and found no impairment necessary. The software asset capitalised relates to assets 
which remain under development.
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments 

Financial investments are classified, at initial recognition, as financial investments at fair value through profit or 
loss, with the exception of receivables, cash and accrued interest, which are carried at amortised cost. Fair value is 
considered consistent with the risk management of the portfolio. 

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss are both financial investments held for trading and financial 
investments designated upon initial recognition at fair value. Such investments are carried in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value presented in investment income. 
Transaction costs, which are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a financial asset, 
are expensed. Financial investments include collective investment schemes, Government, sub sovereign and agency 
obligations, derivative assets, corporate bonds and other corporate debt, certificates of deposit, loans secured on 
property, mortgages and collateralised agreements and financing.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would be received on the sale of an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, i.e. the exit price. 
Financial investments are marked to bid prices and financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value gains or 
losses are included in investment income. 

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an active market. If listed prices or quotations are not available, 
fair value is determined by reference to prices for similar instruments, quoted prices or recent transactions in less 
active markets, or internally developed models that primarily use, as inputs, market-based or independently sourced 
parameters, including but not limited to interest rates, volatilities, equity or debt prices, foreign exchange rates, credit 
curves and funding rates. The fair value of certain financial investments and financial liabilities require valuation 
adjustments for counterparty credit quality, funding risk, transfer restrictions, illiquidity, property prices and bid/offer 
inputs based on market evidence. 

Financial instruments such as corporate debt securities, covered bonds, Government, sub sovereign and agency 
obligations, certificate of deposits and certain money market instruments are valued by verifying to quoted prices, 
recent trading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker or dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources 
with reasonable levels of price transparency. Consideration is given to the nature of the quotations (e.g. indicative or 
firm) and the relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources. Valuation 
adjustments are typically made if (i) the cash instrument is subject to regulatory or contractual transfer restrictions; 
and/or (ii) for other premiums and discounts that a market participant would require to arrive at fair value. 

Certain financial instruments, including collateralised agreements and financing, loans secured on property and 
mortgages, have one or more significant valuation inputs that are not observable. Absent evidence to the contrary, 
these instruments are initially valued at transaction price, which is considered to be the best initial estimate of fair 
value. When a pricing model is used, the model is adjusted so that the model value of the cash instrument at inception 
equals the transaction price. Subsequently, Rothesay uses other methodologies to determine fair value, which vary 
based on the type of instrument. Valuation inputs and assumptions are changed when corroborated by substantive 
observable evidence, including values realised on sales. 

Rothesay uses derivative contracts for the purposes of efficient portfolio management and to mitigate the risk of 
adverse market movements. Rothesay's derivative contracts consist primarily of over the counter (OTC) derivatives. 
Rothesay measures the derivative assets and liabilities on the basis of our net exposure to the relevant risk and the 
fair value is the price paid to transfer the net long or short position at the balance sheet date. OTC derivatives are 
generally valued using market transactions and other market evidence, including market-based inputs to models, 
calibration to market clearing transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other alternative pricing sources with 
reasonable levels of price transparency. Consideration is given to the nature of the quotations and the relationship of 
recent market activity to the prices provided from alternative pricing sources.

Where models are used, the selection of a particular model to value an OTC derivative depends on the contractual 
terms of, and specific risks inherent in, the instrument, as well as the availability of pricing information in the market. 
Valuation models require a variety of inputs, including contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, credit curves, 
measures of volatility, prepayment rates, loss severity rates and correlations of such inputs. For OTC derivatives that 
trade in liquid markets, model selection does not involve significant management judgement because outputs of 
models can be calibrated to market clearing levels. In circumstances where Rothesay cannot verify the model value by 
reference to market transactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could produce a materially different 
estimate of fair value.
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)

Hedge accounting
In 2021, Rothesay designated a certain derivative as a hedging instrument in order to effect cash flow hedges. At 
the inception of the hedge Rothesay documented the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item. In addition, Rothesay has and will continue to document whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedge item. Note C.4 provides further details.

Where a cash flow hedging relationship exists, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the 
heading of hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss, and is included in net investment income.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity will be reclassified to profit 
and loss in the accounting period when the hedged item affects profits or loss, in the same line as the hedged item. 
Hedge accounting will be discontinued when Rothesay cancels the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time is recycled to profit or loss over the 
period the hedged item impacts profits or loss.

Derecognition
A financial investment (or, where applicable, a part of a financial investment or part of a group of similar financial 
investments) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from Rothesay’s statement of financial position) when (i) the 
rights to receive cash flows from the investment have expired; or (ii) Rothesay has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) Rothesay has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) Rothesay has transferred control of the investment.

When Rothesay has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an investment or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 
neither transferred all of the risks and rewards of the investment nor transferred control of the investment, Rothesay 
continues to recognise the transferred investment to the extent of Rothesay’s continuing involvement. In that case, 
Rothesay also recognises an associated liability. The transferred investment and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that Rothesay has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the 
form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that Rothesay could be required to repay.

Collateralised agreements and financing 
Collateralised agreements (securities purchased under agreements to re-sell and deposits placed as collateral for 
stock borrowed) and collateralised financing (securities sold under agreements to repurchase and deposits received 
as collateral for stock loans) are treated as collateralised financing transactions and are carried at fair value through 
profit and loss under the fair value option, as the securities are managed on a fair value basis. The collateral can be in 
the form of cash or securities. 

Cash collateral is recognised/derecognised when received/paid. Collateral posted by Rothesay in the form of securities 
is not derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial position, whilst collateral received in the form of 
securities is not recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position. If collateral received is subsequently 
sold, the obligation to return the collateral and the cash received are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Rothesay's financial investments are grouped in a single category:

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Financial investments carried at fair value through profit and loss,  
designated at initial recognition 90,929 83,845
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
Rothesay uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique: 
• Level 1: inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets to which Rothesay had access at the 

measurement date for identical unrestricted assets and liabilities; 
• Level 2: inputs to valuation techniques are observable either directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3: one or more inputs to valuation techniques are significant and unobservable. 

The fair value of certain debt securities classified as Level 3 instruments is determined using inputs that are not 
based on observable market data. One of the most significant inputs is liquidity premiums. The valuation model 
discounts future cash flows using interest rate swap curves in addition to a spread to reflect the associated credit 
risk and liquidity premiums. 

When assessing the fair value of our Level 3 financial investments, we consider and allow for the extent to which 
the investments may be vulnerable to climate change, either because of vulnerability to physical climate risk or 
the risk of being stranded assets in the drive to net zero carbon emissions. The valuation of Level 1 and Level 2 
financial investments is also assumed to allow for climate change exposure. 

The following tables show an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 
hierarchy for 2022 and 2021 (please refer to note D.7 for financial liabilities):

Group
31 December 2022

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

Collective investment schemes 4,586 – – 4,586

Government sub sovereign and agency obligations 5,139 6,919 – 12,058

Corporate bonds and other corporate debt – 24,116 756 24,872

Derivative assets (see note D.3) – 35,993 1,817 37,810

Collateralised agreements and financing – 430 – 430

Loans secured on property – 111 5,846 5,957

Lifetime mortgages – – 5,086 5,086

Certificate of deposits – 130 – 130

Total financial investments at fair value 9,725 67,699 13,505 90,929

Group
31 December 2021

Level 1

£m

Level 2

£m

Level 3

£m

Total

£m

Collective investment schemes 5,405 – – 5,405

Government sub sovereign and agency obligations 8,356 9,773 – 18,129

Corporate bonds and other corporate debt – 25,265 1,092 26,357

Derivative assets – 17,048 3,721 20,769

Collateralised agreements and financing – 262 – 262

Loans secured on property – 107 7,304 7,411

Lifetime mortgages – – 5,329 5,329

Certificate of deposits – 183 – 183

Total financial investments at fair value 13,761 52,638 17,446 83,845
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Rothesay discloses offsetting derivative asset and derivative liability contracts separately in line with IAS 32 
requirements and the value of both has increased significantly in the period due to changes in economic 
conditions. However, the movement in the value of derivative assets is offset by the movement in the value of 
derivative liabilities such that on a net basis the value of derivatives fell by £70m in 2022 (2021: fell by £260m). 

Collective investment schemes represent money market funds with same-day liquidity. Rothesay utilise these 
funds as an additional form of financial investment to back insurance contract liabilities. 

Approximately 15% (2021: 21%) of the total financial assets recorded at fair value are valued based on estimates 
and recorded as Level 3 investments.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing recorded amounts in relation to the Level 
3 financial instruments recorded at fair value (excluding lifetime mortgages which are discussed in the lifetime 
mortgages section of note D.2 below):

Group

Corporate 
debt

£m

Loans secured 
on property

£m

Derivative 
assets

£m
Total

£m

At 1 January 2022 1,092 7,304 3,721 12,117

Total gains in the statement of comprehensive income:

Unrealised losses (139) (2,291) (1,909) (4,339)

Realised gains 7 6 – 13

Transfer into Level 3 36 – – 36

Transfer out of Level 3 – – – –

Net purchases/addition/(sales) (240) 827 5 592

At 31 December 2022 756 5,846 1,817 8,419

At 1 January 2021 1,186 6,523 3,555 11,264

Total gains in the statement of comprehensive income:

Unrealised (losses)/gains (42) 567 166 691

Realised gains – 21 – 21

Transfer out of Level 3 (55) – – (55)

Net purchases/additions 3 193 – 196

At 31 December 2021 1,092 7,304 3,721 12,117

Please see note D.7 for details of Level 3 derivative liabilities.

Rothesay's policy is to determine the relevant categorisation of financial assets and liabilities at least annually 
and, where availability of inputs has changed, transfers will be made between levels. £36m of corporate debt was 
transferred from Level 2 to Level 3 during the year (2021: £Nil). No corporate debts were transferred from Level 3 
to Level 2 in 2022 (2021: £55m). 

The unrealised losses on Level 3 financial investments were mainly driven by the increase in long-term interest 
rates. The loss observed in Level 3 derivative assets largely offsets with the gain from Level 3 derivative liabilities. 
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Lifetime mortgages
Lifetime mortgages allow the borrowers to take equity from their homes either as a lump sum or in smaller, 
regular amounts. The total amount, capital plus interest, is repaid when the borrower dies or moves into long-
term care. All lifetime mortgage loans provide a ‘no negative equity guarantee’ (NNEG), which means that the 
mortgage repayment amounts (loan principal plus interest on redemption) are subject to a maximum of the sale 
proceeds of the property on which the loan is secured. 

Lifetime mortgages are valued using a discounted cash flow model by projecting future net cash flows on a closed 
form basis allowing for demographic assumptions, consistent with those used for insurance contracts adjusted 
for transfer to long-term care, prepayment rates, future expenses and potential cost of providing the NNEG. Cash 
flows are then discounted at a risk-free rate plus liquidity premium inferred from market-observed levels.

The NNEG can be thought of as a series of options written by Rothesay which allow the lifetime mortgage holders 
to extinguish their loan by selling their property back to Rothesay at the current market value and at the 
point at which the mortgage must be redeemed (typically on death or transfer to long-term care), even when 
property values are lower than the outstanding loan balance.

Underlying house prices have been updated in line with the latest available data. Sensitivities to interest rates and 
house prices are shown later in this note as these are the most material assumptions given the way in which the 
potential cost of the no negative equity guarantee is derived. 

Given the various assumptions used in valuing the lifetime mortgages, the instruments are recorded as Level 3 
assets. The table below provides an analysis of the movement in the value of lifetime mortgages. New business 
includes both the acquisition of back books of lifetime mortgages and new origination through Rothesay’s 
strategic partners. The impact of the change in economic assumptions for 2022 is dominated by the significant 
increase in interest rates but also includes changes in property prices.

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Carrying amount at 1 January 5,329 4,222

Increase in respect of new business 1,675 1,377

Redemptions/repayments (310) (280)

Accrued interest for the financial year 249 179

Change in economic assumptions (1,859) (168)

Change in demographic assumptions 2 (1)

Closing balance at end of the year 5,086 5,329

The table below provides a summary of the cash flows arising from the lifetime mortgage portfolio based on the 
above assumptions:

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Less than one year 414 301

One to five years 1,210 1,117

Over five years 3,462 3,911

Total 5,086 5,329
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Collateralised agreements 
Assets are transferred under repurchase and securities lending agreements with other financial institutions. The 
nature and carrying amounts of the assets (all carried at fair value) subject to repurchase and securities lending 
agreements, as well as their related liabilities, are as follows: 

Group

2022 2021

Asset
£m

Related liability
£m

Asset
£m

Related liability
£m

Government and agency obligations 3,881 3,628 440 414

Total collateralised agreements 3,881 3,628 440 414

 
The asset collateral continues to be recognised in full and the related liability reflecting Rothesay's obligations to 
repurchase the transferred assets at a future date is recognised in other liabilities. Rothesay remains exposed to 
interest rate risk and credit risk on these pledged instruments. The counterparties’ recourse is not limited to the 
transferred assets. 

The net exposure to certain OTC derivatives is collateralised through cash. As at 31 December 2022, the total 
cash collateral received was £5,234m (2021: £1,537m). Other OTC contracts are collateralised with fixed income 
securities which are not recognised on the balance sheet of Rothesay.

Sensitivity of Level 3 financial investments measured at fair value to changes in key assumptions 
The following table shows the impact on the fair value (FV) of Level 3 instruments of using reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions by class of instrument. Changes are made in isolation so, for example, no change is made 
to property price inflation in the property price sensitivities. Since part of any spread movement is likely to be 
included in the derivation of the valuation rate of interest, changes in fair value of assets also impact liabilities. 
The following table also shows the potential impact on profit before tax (PBT) and equity of the same alternative 
assumptions, assuming that all other pricing inputs remain constant.
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Sensitivity of Level 3 financial investments measured at fair value to changes in key assumptions 
(continued)

Group
Impact on financial assets and PBT Main assumptions

Changes in 
assumptions

2022

Current FV
£m

(Decrease)/
increase 

in FV
£m

(Decrease)/
increase in 

PBT
£m

(Decrease)/
increase in 

equity
£m

Financial assets

Corporate bonds and other corporate debt Liquidity premium +25bps 756 (10) (1) (1)

-25bps 756 10 1 1

Loans secured on property Liquidity premium +25bps 5,846 (176) – –

-25bps 5,846 188 – –

Loans secured on property Property prices +10% 5,846 14 25 20

-10% 5,846 (18) (38) (31)

Lifetime mortgages Liquidity premium +25bps 5,086 (126) – –

-25bps 5,086 131 – –

Lifetime mortgages House prices +10% 5,086 48 46 37

-10% 5,086 (65) (62) (51)

Derivative assets LPI bid-mid spread +15bps 1,817 7 7 5

-15bps 1,817 (7) (7) (5)

Financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities LPI bid-mid spread +15bps 1,882 88 88 72

-15bps 1,882 (88) (88) (72)

Collateralised financing agreements Liquidity premium +25bps 113 6 6 5

-25bps 113 (6) (6) (5)
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.2 Financial investments (continued)
Sensitivity of Level 3 financial investments measured at fair value to changes in key assumptions 
(continued)

Group
Impact on financial assets and PBT Main assumptions

Changes in 
assumptions

2021

Current FV
£m

(Decrease)/
increase 

in FV
£m

(Decrease)/
increase in 

PBT
£m

(Decrease)/
Increase in 

Equity
£m

Financial assets

Corporate bonds and other corporate debt Liquidity premium +25bps 1,092 (16) (3) (2)

-25bps 1,092 17 3 2

Loans secured on property Liquidity premium +25bps 7,304 (310) – –

-25bps 7,304 335 – –

Loans secured on property Property prices +10% 7,304 19 28 23

-10% 7,304 (37) (63) (51)

Lifetime mortgages Liquidity premium +25bps 5,329 (161) – –

-25bps 5,329 169 – –

Lifetime mortgages House prices +10% 5,329 84 84 68

-10% 5,329 (107) (108) (88)

Derivative assets LPI bid-mid spread +15bps 3,721 6 6 5

-15bps 3,721 (6) (6) (5)

Financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities LPI bid-mid spread +15bps 4,035 158 158 128

-15bps 4,035 (158) (158) (128)

Collateralised financing agreements Liquidity premium +25bps 213 13 13 11

-25bps 213 (13) (13) (11)

D.3 Derivatives
Rothesay uses derivative financial instruments as part of its risk management strategy and to hedge its solvency 
position. Objectives include managing exposure to market, foreign currency, inflation and interest rate risks on 
assets and liabilities (see also note F.2.2). The large movement in the fair value of assets and liabilities has been 
driven by the change in economic conditions over the year. The total net fair value of Rothesay’s derivative assets 
and liabilities has moved by a smaller amount, from an asset of £81m as at 31 December 2021 to an asset of £11m 
as at 31 December 2022.
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.3 Derivatives (continued)

The following table shows the fair value of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, 
together with their notional amounts. 

Group

2022 2021

Assets
£m

Liabilities
£m

Notional 
amount

£m
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Notional 
amount

£m

Derivatives held for risk management

Interest rate swap 26,488 (27,046) 336,554 14,741 (15,006) 344,678

Inflation swap 4,276 (3,991) 78,332 3,729 (3,354) 69,076

Currency swap 5,133 (4,746) 120,174 1,660 (1,689) 96,920

Credit derivative 1,899 (1,831) 18,010 575 (602) 20,490

Forwards 14 (185) 3,819 64 (37) 3,773

Total 37,810 (37,799) 556,889 20,769 (20,688) 534,937

Derivatives are used solely for efficient portfolio and risk management purposes, allowing market risks to be 
hedged in line with our risk appetite. The notional amount shown reflects the gross notional amount of derivative 
contracts. Under IFRS certain restrictions apply in relation to the offset of assets and liabilities. Multiple derivative 
contracts which generate offsetting risk positions inflate the size of the notional amount reported, but do not 
increase our risk exposure. As such, the notional amount should not be considered as an indicator of the market 
risk exposure generated by the derivative portfolio. Derivatives where the fair value is positive are recognised as 
an asset, and where the fair value is negative they are recognised as a liability. 

Rothesay’s exposure under derivative contracts is closely monitored as part of the management of Rothesay’s 
market risk (see also note F.2.2). 

D.4 Accrued interest and prepayments
Group

2022
£m

2021
£m

Accrued interest 558 417

Prepaid expenses 248 224

Total accrued interest and prepayments 806 641

D.5 Receivables

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value of the amount recoverable. Receivables are subsequently stated at 
amortised cost.

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Deposits pledged as collateral to third parties 2,060 444

Tax receivable 42 –

Other receivables 251 19

Total receivables 2,353 463



161Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 2022

Financial statements

Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.5 Receivables (continued)
Other receivables includes deferred premiums and trade date adjustments.

Receivables of £2,244m (2021: £455m) are due within one year. The fair value of receivables is £2,353m (2021: 
£463m). At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, Rothesay conducted an impairment review of the 
receivables and found no impairment necessary.

The net exposure to certain OTC derivatives is collateralised through cash posted, as per the terms of the OTC 
contracts. At 31 December 2022, the total cash collateral posted was £2,060m (2021: £444m). Further details of 
the full extent of collateral usage can be found in the credit risk disclosure in note F.2.1.

The table below shows other receivables for the Company. Other receivables relates to a loan to the employee 
benefit trust.
Company

2022
£m

2021
£m

Other receivables 98 78

Total receivables 98 78

D.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with an original maturity term of three 
months or less at the date of placement held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

The cash at bank and in hand of Rothesay at the year end is as follows:

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 270 353

Total cash and cash equivalents 270 353

D.7 Payables and financial liabilities

Financial investment liabilities are recognised at fair value. Payables are recognised initially at fair value of the 
amount payable. Payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Derivative financial instruments 37,799 20,688

Government, sub sovereign and agency obligations 310 –

Collateralised financing agreements 3,628 414

Total financial investment liabilities 41,737 21,102

Deposits received as collateral from third parties 5,234 1,537

Current tax payable – 7

Employee payables 133 128

Other taxes and social security costs 14 14

Other payables 48 65

Total payables 5,429 1,751

Total payables and financial investment liabilities 47,166 22,853
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.7 Payables and financial liabilities (continued)
Employee payables include deferred cash of £47m (2021: £38m) and the fair value of share-based payments 
awarded to employees of £84m (2021: £89m). Other payables includes reinsurance fees and trade date 
adjustments. To improve reporting we have reclassified £85m which in 2021 was classified as other payables to 
employee payables to be consistent with 2022.

Financial liabilities are recorded at fair value, of which £1,995m are valued using Level 3 techniques 
(2021: £4,248m). The Level 3 financial liabilities are predominantly LPI linked derivatives. The remainder  
of the financial liabilities are valued using Level 1 and Level 2 techniques. 

No financial liabilities were transferred from Level 2 to Level 3 in 2022 (2021: £Nil), £2m financial liabilities were 
transferred from Level 3 to Level 2 (2021: £Nil). Level 3 financial liabilities have decreased in market value by 
£2,253m in the year as a result of changes in economic conditions (2021: £489m decrease).

The impact on the fair value of Level 3 financial liabilities of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions is 
included in note D.2. 

Payables and financial liabilities of £16,688m (2021: £7,779m) are all due within one year. Please note, that for 
financial liabilities the balance is calculated using undiscounted expected contractual cash flows consistent with 
note F.2.3.

The net exposures to certain OTC derivatives are collateralised through cash. As at 31 December 2022, the total 
cash collateral received was £5,234m (2021: £1,537m). Other OTC contracts are collateralised with fixed income 
securities which are not recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position for Rothesay.

The table below shows total payables for the Company. Other payables are amounts due to other Group 
undertakings and Company employee payables are share-based payments:

Company
2022

£m
2021

£m

Employee payables 47 43

Other payables 102 71

Total payables 149 114

D.8 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Transaction 
costs are amortised over the period of the borrowings.

Rothesay’s borrowings are as follows:
Group

2022
£m

2021
£m

Subordinated loans from related parties 299 299

Subordinated loan notes 1,135 1,131

US$400m contingent convertible RT1 notes 330 295

Total borrowed 1,764 1,725
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.8 Borrowings (continued) 
On 27 October 2021, Rothesay Life Plc (RLP) issued $400m of contingent convertible RT1 notes. The notes have 
no fixed maturity date and interest is payable at the sole discretion of RLP. A fixed 4.875% coupon is payable 
biannually in arrears. If an interest payment is not made it is cancelled and it does not accumulate or become 
payable at any time thereafter.

The notes are callable on or after 13 April 2027. If the notes are not repaid by 13 October 2027, the fixed rate of 
interest per annum will be reset. The notes are direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the issuer.

The notes contain a contingent settlement provision which is linked to the occurrence of a ‘Capital Disqualification 
Event’. Such an event is deemed to have taken place where, as a result of a change to the Solvency II regulations, 
the notes no longer qualify as Own Funds. On the occurrence of such an event and where RLP has chosen not 
to use its corresponding right to redeem the notes, RLP is no longer able to exercise its discretion to cancel any 
interest payments due. Accordingly, the notes are considered to meet the definition of a financial liability for 
financial reporting purposes.

The full principal amount of each note is irrevocably and automatically reduced to zero on a permanent basis if 
RLP determines at any time that: 
(i) eligible Own Fund items are less than or equal to 75% of the SCR; 
(ii) eligible Own Fund items are less than or equal to 100% of the MCR; or 
(iii) a breach of the SCR has occurred and has not been remedied within three months.

The notes then convert into a new class B of non-voting ordinary shares of RLP.

The £300m revolving credit facility entered into in March 2017 was renegotiated in July 2019 and increased to 
£420m. The facility has subsequently been extended to August 2025 and remains effective but undrawn. 

The carrying amounts, fair values and features of Rothesay’s borrowings are summarised in the table below:

Group
Notional 
amount Issue date Redemption date

Callable at par at the option 
of the Group from Coupon

Carrying amount Fair value

2022
£m

2021
£m

2022
£m

2021
£m

Subordinated loans from related parties

£300m 19 September 2017 19 September 2028 19 September 
2023 and annually 
thereafter

6.05% 299 299 294 308

Subordinated loans

£250m 30 October 2015 30 October 2025 No call option 8% 250 249 258 301

£500m 12 July 2019 12 July 2026 No call option 3.375% 490 487 450 522

£400m 17 September 2019 17 September 2029 17 September 2024 5.5% 395 395 390 432

$400m 27 October 2021 Perpetual 13 April 2027 4.875% 330 295 255 294

For the year ended 31 December 2022, an interest expense of £97m (2021: £85m) was recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in respect of these borrowings. For 2021, the interest payable 
on third party borrowings included interest of £29m paid on the sterling-denominated RT1 notes. From 1 January 
2022, this is being treated as an appropriation of profit as shown in note C.4. 
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Note D – Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
D.8 Borrowings (continued)
Reconciliation of borrowings
The table below provides a reconciliation between opening and closing balances in the consolidated statement of 
financial position for liabilities arising from financing activity:

Group

1 January 
2022

£m

Cash 
flows

£m

Non-cash 
flows

£m

31 December 
2022

£m

Subordinated loans from related parties 299 – – 299

Subordinated loan notes 1,131 – 4 1,135

US$400m contingent convertible RT1 notes 295 – 35 330

Total borrowings 1,725 – 39 1,764

Group

1 January 
2021

£m

Cash 
flows

£m

Non-cash 
flows

£m

31 December 
2021

£m

Subordinated loans from related parties 298 – 1 299

Subordinated loan notes 1,128 – 3 1,131

US$400m contingent convertible RT1 notes – 290 5 295

Total borrowings 1,426 290 9 1,725

D.9 Accruals

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Accrued interest 59 33

Accrued expenses 39 38

Total accruals 98 71
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Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance 
E.1 Insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance
The table below shows insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance. Insurance contract liabilities include 
reinsurance inwards, i.e. where the Group has reinsured a third party insurer. Where such contracts benefit from 
third party reinsurance, the insurance contract liabilities are shown net of those reinsurance arrangements.

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Insurance contract liabilities 38,112 54,030

Reinsurance assets (185) (641)

Reinsurance liabilities 1,245 1,217

Insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance 39,172 54,606

Rothesay’s reinsurance is presented as an asset on an IFRS basis where the present value of projected claims 
exceeds the present value of the regular premiums due on the longevity reinsurance contracts. The number of 
contracts classified as an asset decreased in 2022, i.e. some contracts switched from being a reinsurance asset to 
a reinsurance liability, due to the change in economic conditions and demographic assumption changes.

Net insurance contract liabilities fell by £15.4bn in 2022 largely as a result of the increase in the valuation interest 
rate used to discount the liabilities.

E.2 Reinsurance assets/liabilities 

Long-term business is ceded to reinsurers under contracts to transfer part of the insurance risk associated with the 
underlying insurance contracts. Such contracts are accounted for as insurance contracts provided the risk transfer is 
significant. Reinsurance inwards (i.e. where Rothesay is the reinsurer) is included in insurance contract liabilities. 

The amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers are estimated based upon the gross provisions, having due 
regard to collectability. The recoverability of reinsurance recoveries is assessed having regard to market data on the 
financial strength of the reinsurance company. The reinsurers’ share of claims incurred in the profit and loss account 
reflects the amounts received or receivable from reinsurers in respect of claims paid or incurred during the year. 
Reinsurance assets/liabilities represent the discounted value of the premiums payable under the reinsurance contracts 
less the discounted value of the reinsurance claims payable. Premiums are recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income as ‘Premiums ceded to reinsurers’ when due.

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, or more frequently when an indication of 
impairment arises during the financial reporting year. Impairment occurs when there is objective evidence as a 
result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset that Rothesay may not receive all 
outstanding amounts due under the terms of the contract and the event has a reliably measurable impact on the 
amounts that Rothesay will receive from the reinsurer. Any impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income.
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It is still unclear as to whether COVID-19 will materially impact long-term future mortality. In valuing our insurance 
and reinsurance assets and liabilities we have not made any changes to our long-term mortality assumptions to 
allow for the impact of COVID-19, as we believe it is still too early to know what this might be and scenario analysis 
suggests a wide range of possible outcomes.

Under the outward reinsurance contracts, Rothesay has committed to pay fixed cash flows to the reinsurer 
for each policy covered. In exchange, the reinsurers will pay cash flows that are linked to the actual longevity 
of the underlying policies. The contracts are generally collateralised for changes in longevity expectations and 
movements in market rates. Where a contract is collateralised, no additional reserves are held as part of the 
insurance contract liabilities, as the expected loss on default would be expected to be covered by the collateral. 
For the contracts where no collateral is held, an additional counterparty default allowance is held as part of the 
insurance contract liabilities to reflect the risk of loss on default. The calculation of the allowance considers the 
probability of default of the counterparty along with the expected level of collateral available to be reclaimed in 
the event of default. Longevity reinsurance contracts are valued as the net position comparing the discounted 
value of the fixed leg payable with the floating leg received from the reinsurer. Additional longevity reinsurance 
has been transacted over the year in respect of £2.1bn of new business written during the year and liabilities 
previously not reinsured.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 Rothesay conducted an impairment review of the reinsurance assets 
and found no impairment necessary. 

E.3 Insurance contract liabilities 

Insurance contract liabilities are determined by Rothesay’s actuaries using methods and assumptions recommended 
by the actuarial function of RLP and approved by the Board. They are calculated using the historic statutory solvency 
basis required to comply with the reporting requirements under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and in 
accordance with the SORP on Accounting for Insurance Business issued by the ABI in December 2005 and revised in 
December 2006. The SORP has been withdrawn with effect for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2015 but Rothesay continues to apply the principles. Rothesay seeks to make prudent assumptions relating to 
expected future experience based on current market conditions and recent experience. The assumptions used 
incorporate prudent margins to reflect the inherent uncertainty that actual experience may be less favourable than 
our best estimate. 

Insurance contract liabilities have been determined using the gross premium method of valuation. They are 
calculated as the discounted value of projected future claim payments (as determined by reference to the contractual 
arrangements with policyholders at an individual member level) adjusted for future administration costs and 
investment management expenses determined using prudent assumptions less the present value of future premiums 
(a schedule of agreed, guaranteed payments) under the longevity swap arrangements. Projected future claim 
payments allow for the effects of mortality. The administration costs are reflective of recent costs and expenses 
budgeted for the future.

In accordance with the previous solvency basis, where applicable, Rothesay recognises negative mathematical 
reserves on its regular premium longevity risk transfer arrangements.

Note that insurance contract liabilities include reinsurance inwards, i.e. where Rothesay has reinsured a third party 
insurer. Where such contracts benefit from third party reinsurance, the insurance contract liabilities are shown net of 
those reinsurance arrangements.

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.2 Reinsurance assets/liabilities (continued)
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Key valuation assumptions 
This note details the assumptions with the greatest impact on Rothesay’s insurance contract liability valuations.  

(a) Mortality assumptions
Best estimate mortality assumptions have been determined separately for each insurance contract. The resulting 
assumptions are equivalent to using the base mortality assumptions set out in the table below:

Group

2022 2021

Pensions originated Insurance originated Pensions originated Insurance originated

Males 105.7% S3PMA 102.1% S3PMA 104.9% S3PMA 99.5% S3PMA

Females 105.7% S3PFA 102.1% S3PFA 104.9% S3PFA 99.5% S3PFA

For pension scheme originated business, ultimate mortality has been used in all cases. For insurance originated 
business, the stated base mortality basis incorporates the effect of selection adjustments for relevant policies.  

Recent mortality experience is analysed annually for each pension scheme and for insurance originated business. 
The last review was carried out during 2022. The best estimate base mortality assumptions used in the valuation 
are based on this actual mortality experience. For 2022, mortality experience from 2020 and 2021 has been 
compared to expected levels with allowance for population level experience, hence heavy experience due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic has not been projected indefinitely. Mortality assumptions are generally set with reference 
to a Rothesay-specific suite of mortality tables. For the purpose of our reporting disclosures, these have been 
expressed as a single adjustment equivalent to the CMI S3 series of mortality tables drawn up by the Continuous 
Mortality Investigation (CMI) of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. The S3 tables are based on industry-wide 
experience. For the S3 tables, past mortality improvements are applied assuming the base mortality rates are as 
at 2013.

The changes to the single equivalent rates over 2022 reflect the inclusion of new business, differences from 
expected mortality in recent years and the impact of updating the mortality improvements used to roll the base 
tables forward to the current date. 

Mortality improvements used to roll base tables forward to the current date use an advanced calibration of the 
CMI 2021 model with limited period smoothing and including 2020 and 2021 experience in order to represent 
realised population mortality improvements. This is allowed for in the base table and mortality improvement 
equivalents shown in the preceding/proceeding tables.

Allowance is made for future improvements in annuitant mortality with reference to statistical analysis of 
historical rates of mortality improvements, expert judgement of future changes in mortality improvements, 
industry benchmarking and reinsurance pricing. During 2022 mortality improvement assumptions were updated 
to reflect recent mortality improvements, including adoption of the CMI 2021 improvement model. The CMI 
2021 model places no weight on 2020 or 2021 data, removing the impact of COVID-19 from our improvement 
projections. For both 2021 and 2022, an advanced calibration of the model has been used.

The chosen long-term improvement rate assumption varies by age using a bespoke calibration that tapers non-
linearly from age 70 to 0% at age 120. The long-term rates in the table below are expressed as core CMI model 
long-term rates and are equivalent on a present value basis to the actual long-term rate adopted. The best 
estimate long-term improvement rates remain unchanged from 2021. The assumed initial rates of improvements 
as at 31 December 2022 remain consistent with those used at 31 December 2021. The initial adjustment 
parameter has not been adopted, with adjustment to the initial rate of mortality improvements continuing to be 
made through the Sk parameter.

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
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Best estimate improvements are equivalent to those shown in the table below: 

Group

Future mortality improvements (excluding margins)

2022 2021

Males CMI_2021*_M[1.7%; Sĸ=7.5] CMI_2020*_M[1.7%; Sĸ=7.5]

Females CMI_2021*_F[1.7%; Sĸ=7.5] CMI_2020*_F[1.7%; Sĸ=7.5]
* Calibration ages 20-90

Prudent margins are then applied to both the base mortality assumptions and improvements to reflect the fact 
that future experience may differ from that assumed. The impact of the margins applied leads to an increase in 
assumed life expectancy for a 65-year-old of 1.5 years (2021: 1.6 years). No changes have been made to prudent 
margins during 2022. 

(b) Economic assumptions including valuation rate of interest
The valuation rate of interest used to discount the cash flows for the purpose of valuing insurance contract 
liabilities is based on the risk-adjusted yield obtainable on the basket of assets matching the applicable insurance 
contract liabilities at 31 December 2022. For the purposes of this calculation, any assets held by LT Mortgage 
Financing Limited, Rothesay MA No.1 Limited and Rothesay MA No.3 Limited are treated as if they were held 
directly and inter-company arrangements ignored. Where assets are assumed to be reinvested, we assume that 
they achieve a yield of SONIA (2021: a yield of SONIA).  
A 2.5% prudential margin is then applied to the risk-adjusted internal rate of return obtained on the basket of 
matching assets and an allowance made for investment management expenses of 3bps p.a. (2021: 3bps p.a.). 

The result is equivalent to using the valuation rate of interest set out in the table below:
Group 2022 2021

Equivalent rate of interest 4.91% p.a. 1.77% p.a.

In determining the risk-adjusted yield on assets, a deduction is made to reflect credit default risk, where 
applicable adjusted for the prudent expected recoveries in the event of default and, for some asset classes, the 
cost of rebalancing the portfolio following a downgrade. This deduction in yield is determined separately for each 
individual asset, reflecting the risk to the return being achieved on the asset.  

The table below shows the average yield deduction by asset class before the application of the 2.5% prudential 
margin at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. 

Group
Asset class 

Average yield deduction

2022 2021

UK Government approved securities 0 bps 0 bps

Secured lending 25 bps 29 bps

Supranational/other sovereign 23 bps 21 bps

Secured residential lending 37 bps 28 bps

Corporate bonds (without covering credit default swaps) 71 bps 61 bps

Infrastructure 79 bps 65 bps

Lifetime mortgages 38 bps 74 bps

Other 57 bps 41 bps

Overall yield deduction 43 bps 33 bps

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
(a) Mortality assumptions (continued)
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Since the end of 2021, the average yield deduction has increased in aggregate. The aggregate increase in default 
allowances is mainly due to changes in market conditions during the year, most notably the widening of credit 
spreads. The yield deduction for lifetime mortgages has reduced as explained in the following paragraph.

Allowance is made for the risks associated with lifetime mortgages through the valuation of the NNEG and this 
is included in the overall yield deduction above. The calculation of the NNEG is described in note D.2 and for 
the valuation rate of interest is calculated on a prudent basis allowing for future property price growth at a rate 
equivalent to 2.74% net of dilapidation costs and cost of sale (2021: 1.36%) and house price volatility equivalent 
to 13% (2021: 13%). The house prices used in the valuation of the NNEG are based on the latest available market 
prices with no allowance made for potential near term falls in house prices. The increase in the future property 
price growth reflects the increase in interest rates and this reduces the likelihood future mortgage balances will 
exceed property values, lowering the deduction in yield required for the NNEG.

An important actuarial assumption relates to the future rate of escalation of certain annuity benefits. Where 
possible such rates are derived from inflation swap markets. Whilst that is still the case for more liquid inflation 
rates, there is not a sufficiently deep, liquid market to support setting the rate of limited price indexation (LPI). We 
have therefore projected these rates using LPI models based on realised LPI and other market inputs. 

(c) Expense assumption
The allowance made for future maintenance expenses was updated at the end of 2022 following an investigation 
into the total costs incurred by Rothesay during 2022 and projected 2023 expenses. As part of this investigation, 
costs have been split between acquisition and maintenance expenses.

The insurance contract liabilities include both the projected expenses payable under the third party administration 
agreements and the long-term business overhead expenses expressed as an amount per policy. The average per 
policy allowance is £44 per policy per annum (2021: £38 per policy per annum). Additional allowances are then 
made for short-term project costs and investment management expenses. 

Within these expense provisions, an allowance for future expense inflation has been made to cover the impact of 
both salary and price inflation. The future rate of expense inflation is assumed to be RPI (as implied by the RPI 
swap curve) plus an addition at each duration of 0.25% p.a. for all expenses (2021: 0.25% p.a.).

(d) Member option and dependants assumptions and provisions for data risk 
A number of other, less financially significant, actuarial assumptions are made in determining the provisions. 
These assumptions include, inter alia, the proportion of deferred and immediate annuitants assumed to have a 
dependant eligible for contingent benefits, the dependant’s age difference, the proportion of deferred annuitants 
opting to take a proportion or all of their benefit as a lump sum and the provision required to cover data risk. 

The modelling of member options allows for the probability that deferred annuitants choose to transfer their 
benefits each year. The cash flow profile resulting from the assumed take-up of member options impacts the 
composition of the basket of assets used to derive the valuation rate of interest (see note E.3(b) on the  
previous page).

When deferred annuitants have passed the scheme’s normal retirement date and have been subject to an 
in-depth tracing exercise and yet remain untraced, a prudent allowance has been made for the probability of 
them taking their benefits in the future. All other individuals who have passed the scheme’s normal retirement 
date are assumed to start receiving pension payments immediately.

As part of pension de-risking Rothesay sometimes provides insurance against residual data risk. Examples of 
such risks include the risk that there are beneficiaries of a pension scheme missing from the data, the risk that a 
policyholder’s data is inaccurate or the risk that scheme rules have been inaccurately interpreted. Appropriately 
prudent provisions are established following detailed due diligence.

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
(b) Economic assumptions including valuation rate of interest (continued)
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(e) Movement in insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance
The table below details the change in insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance, over the year. The release 
of liabilities line reflects claims paid, release of prudent margins and unwind of discounting over the year.

Group
2022

£m
2021

£m

Carrying amount at 1 January 54,606 55,624

Increase in respect of new business 2,941 2,927

Release of liabilities (1,531) (2,435)

Effect of assumption changes and model refinement (16,844) (1,510)

Other – –

Closing balance at financial statement date 39,172 54,606

The following table shows the impact on the insurance contract liabilities, net of reinsurance, of changes in the 
assumptions used:

Group
Net decrease in liabilities

2022
£m

2021
£m

Change in assumptions used

Valuation rate of interest (17,923) (3,611)

Inflation 1,061 2,243

Effect of economic assumption changes (16,862) (1,368)

Demographics (14) (71)

Member options – –

Expenses 32 (32)

Model refinement – (39)

Effect of non-economic assumption changes and model refinement 18 (142)

Total effect of assumption changes (16,844) (1,510)

As shown previously, the valuation rate of interest increased by 314bps over the year, which led to the £17.9bn 
decrease in the net liability shown. The effect of rising interest rates was partially offset by the impact of the rise in 
near-term future inflation rates.

(f) Sensitivity analysis
The schedule below provides an analysis of the reasonably possible movements in key assumptions that would 
have a material impact on liabilities (net of reinsurance), profit before tax (PBT) and equity. The analysis is based 
on a change in a single assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant. The analysis assumes an 
instantaneous shock to the assumptions other than for the interest rate and inflation sensitivities where the 
impact of dynamic hedging is allowed for as market conditions change. 

The impacts of many of the sensitivities have reduced in absolute terms due to the increase in discount rate over 
the year reducing the size of the balance sheet. Given the significant volatility in interest rates during 2022 a 
200bp sensitivity is also disclosed for 2022, along with 100bps used historically.

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
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Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
(f) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Group
2022

Change in 
assumptions

(Decrease)/
increase in net 

liabilities
£m

Increase/ 
(decrease) in PBT

£m

Impact on 
equity

£m

Annuitant mortality +5% qx (76) 88 72

Annuitant mortality -5% qx 83 (96) (78)

Interest rate +100bps (3,894) (10) (8)

Interest rate -100bps 4,754 10 8

Interest rate +200bps (7,097) (73) (59)

Interest rate -200bps 10,609 141 114

Inflation +100bps 2,109 (74) (60)

Inflation -100bps (1,963) 149 121

Credit spread widening +50bps (930) (358) (290)

Change in property prices +10% (8) 70 57

Change in property prices -10% 17 (100) (81)

Expenses  +10% 103 (103) (84)

Group
2021

Change in 
assumptions

(Decrease)/
increase in net 

liabilities
£m

Increase/ 
(decrease) in PBT

£m

Impact on 
equity

£m

Annuitant mortality +5% qx (186) 180 146

Annuitant mortality -5% qx 201 (195) (158)

Interest rate +100bps (6,932) (280) (227)

Interest rate -100bps 8,664 489 396

Inflation +100bps 3,401 159 129

Inflation -100bps (3,177) 19 15

Credit spread widening +50bps (1,208) (386) (313)

Change in property prices +10% (9) 112 91

Change in property prices -10% 27 (171) (139)

Expenses +10% 140 (140) (114)

The sensitivities shown capture non-linearity effects, which may be significant following large market movements. 
The risk management strategy adopted can result in Rothesay being immunised to market movements in either 
direction. Given the increase in interest rates in 2022, the -100bps and -200bps interest rate sensitivities result in 
interest rates remaining positive at all durations (2021: fell below zero at some durations). 



Rothesay Limited
Annual report and accounts 2022172
Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

Note E – Insurance contracts and reinsurance (continued)
E.3 Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Key valuation assumptions (continued)
(f) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The impact of reinsurance on the sensitivity to mortality risk is a reduction of 89% (2021: 84%). In 2022 the impact 
of reinsurance has changed due to additional reinsurance transacted through the year, new business and changes 
in economic conditions. 

The annuitant mortality sensitivity is defined in terms of a qx stress, where qx represents the probability of a life 
dying during the period. As such, in the annuitant mortality stress it is assumed that in each year 5% more or 
fewer people survive to the end of each year than had previously been assumed.

(g) Timing of cash flows
The table below shows the discounted value of insurance liability cash flows, net of reinsurance, which are 
expected to arise during each year:

Group

2022

Less than 1 year
£m

1 to 5 years
£m

Over 5 years
£m

Total
£m

Insurance contract cash flows net of reinsurance 2,761 9,522 26,889 39,172

Group

2021

Less than 1 year
£m

1 to 5 years
£m

Over 5 years
£m

Total
£m

Insurance contract cash flows net of reinsurance 2,624 10,310 41,672 54,606
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Note F – Risk and capital management  
F.1 Capital management
Rothesay’s capital resources are of critical importance. Rothesay’s capital management framework is designed to 
meet the following objectives: 
• to maintain financial strength in adverse conditions;  
• to give customers long-term confidence in Rothesay;  
• to satisfy its regulatory obligations;  
• to match the profile of its assets and liabilities, taking account of the risk inherent in the business;  
• to allocate capital efficiently to support new business growth;  
• to retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity; and  
• to provide an appropriate return to shareholders.  

Rothesay operates under the Solvency II regime. Rothesay had sufficient capital available to meet its regulatory 
capital requirements at all times during the year ended 31 December 2022. 

Under the Solvency II regime, Rothesay is required to hold sufficient assets to meet: 
• Rothesay’s technical provisions, being: 

– the liabilities of Rothesay calculated on a best estimate basis (the BEL); plus 
– the risk margin; less 
– available transitional solvency relief. 

• The capital required to meet a 1-in-200-year stress (known as the solvency capital requirement or SCR).
 
Transitional solvency relief has been recalculated as at 31 December 2022 and amortises by 1/16th each year 
from 1 January 2017. As at 31 December 2022, solvency estimates allow for amortisation of 6/16ths of transitional 
solvency relief (2021: 5/16ths). The 31 December 2022 recalculation is in response to the significant change in 
economic conditions since the last time transitional relief was recalculated.

Rothesay received approval to use a PIM from 31 December 2018, so from that date the SCR relating to credit 
and counterparty risk is calculated using the Rothesay’s bespoke models. An application to use a full internal 
model, extending the PIM to cover other risk components, was submitted to the PRA in October 2022 but for now 
the standard formula is used to calculate the SCR for all other risk components and for aggregation across risk 
components. 

Capital in excess of that required to meet the technical provisions is known as Own Funds. As at 31 December 
2022, Own Funds for Rothesay were £8,066m (2021: £8,269m) made up as follows: 

2022
£m

2021
£m

Total IFRS equity 6,176 6,049

Liability valuation differences and other regulatory adjustments 607 784

Total Tier 1 6,783 6,833

Tier 2 debt valuation 849 948

Tier 3 debt valuation 434 488

Own Funds 8,066 8,269

Rothesay holds both debt and equity to optimise its capital structure and improve shareholder return. During 
2021, £450m of Tier 1 GBP RT1 notes and $400m of USD Tier 1 RT1 notes were issued by Rothesay.

The capital position is sensitive to changes in market conditions, due to changes in the value of the assets and the 
effect that changes in investment conditions may have on the value of the liabilities. Rothesay seeks to mitigate 
these risks through the close matching of asset and liability cash flows, and through the use of derivative hedges 
and reinsurance. Management monitors market conditions and emerging longevity experience on a regular basis. 
As these conditions change, management will take remedial action such as adjustment of hedging strategies and 
reinvestment of assets as appropriate. 
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F.2 Risk management and analysis
Rothesay is exposed to credit, market and liquidity risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. 
Rothesay is exposed to insurance risk through its insurance liabilities and to operational risk as a result of its 
activities. These risks are described below and are managed in accordance with risk management policies and 
procedures established by Rothesay.

Climate change risk is considered within the relevant risk type, for example credit risk includes the potential 
impact of climate change on the creditworthiness of counterparties. 

Please see pages 43 to 52 of the strategic review report for further detail on risk management arrangements and 
the governance framework within Rothesay. Please refer to Rothesay’s latest ESG report for further detail on our 
commitments and progress towards net zero. 

F.2.1 Credit risk
Credit risk represents the potential for loss, or solvency deterioration, due to the default or deterioration in credit 
quality of a counterparty or an investment we hold. In some instances this risk may arise as a result of climate 
change, for example the risk of stranded assets, potential litigation exposure or the impact of climate change on a 
counterparty’s assets and/or liabilities. Credit risk also arises from cash placed with banks or money market funds, 
collateralised financing transactions (i.e. resale and repurchase agreements) and receivables from third parties. 

Management is responsible and accountable for managing credit risks within prescribed limits. Effective 
management of credit risk requires disciplined underwriting, accurate and timely information, strong collateral 
management, a high level of communication and knowledge of customers, countries, industries and products. We 
continue to actively monitor and manage potential downgrade risk across the investment portfolio, particularly 
as continued sustained inflation and uncertain central bank monetary responses, may drive macro and individual 
counterparty weakness. 

The independent risk function, led by the CRO, has responsibility for ensuring an appropriate framework is in 
place for assessing and monitoring credit risk. All credit exposures are actively monitored by the risk function, 
including the use of regular sector and position reviews and a number of early warning indicators, resulting in 
regular reporting to the investment team and key governance bodies such as the Board Risk Committee.  

Risk mitigants 
Rothesay manages our investments in-house which allows us to pro-actively manage the composition of our 
investment portfolio. We are able to diversify exposures across and within sectors, controlling position sizes 
through limits, and regular monitoring and oversight of investments. For more liquid investments, we are able to 
actively reduce exposure where we have credit or other concerns.

When making new investments, Rothesay considers the potential exposure to climate change risk and other 
ESG factors. Where such risks are likely to be material over the life of the transaction then this will be considered 
during the internal credit rating assessment. Such considerations can also lead to investment in shorter duration 
assets and avoidance of risk exposure, for example when Rothesay funds the origination of residential mortgages, 
our lending criteria includes a specification of the type of properties that are acceptable including factors such as 
construction, location and environmental perils such as flood risk. 

To mitigate the credit exposures on derivatives and collateralised agreement transactions, Rothesay obtains 
collateral from counterparties on an upfront or contingent basis. Rothesay also enters into netting agreements 
with counterparties that permit it to offset receivables and payables with such counterparties for transaction 
settlements and upon a counterparty default. 

When Rothesay does not have sufficient visibility into a counterparty’s financial strength, or when it believes 
a counterparty requires support from its parent company, Rothesay may obtain third party guarantees of the 
counterparty’s obligations. Rothesay also mitigates its investment and counterparty credit risk using credit 
derivatives. 

Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
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Credit exposures
Rothesay is exposed to credit risk from its receivables from third parties. Receivables from counterparties are 
generally comprised of collateralised receivables related to derivatives or collateralised agreements transactions 
and have minimal credit risk due to the value of the collateral received. In addition, Rothesay invests in assets that 
are typically highly rated, or assets where there is underlying structural security in the event of a default. These 
assets include supranationals, sovereign bonds, sub sovereign bonds, covered bonds, higher education bonds, 
infrastructure assets, unsecured corporate bonds and secured residential lending.

Further information is provided below:

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include both interest bearing and non-interest bearing 
deposits and investment in money market funds. To mitigate the risk of credit loss, Rothesay diversifies its 
exposure and places its deposits with multiple banks.

Reinsurance Long-term business is ceded to reinsurers under collateralised contracts to transfer part of the 
insurance risk associated with the underlying insurance contracts. The amounts that will be recoverable from 
reinsurers are estimated based upon the gross provisions, having due regard to collectability. The recoverability 
of reinsurance recoveries is assessed having regard to market data on the financial strength of the reinsurance 
company. 

Collateralised agreements Collateralised agreements are reported at fair value or contractual value before 
consideration of collateral received on the balance sheet. Rothesay bears credit risk related to sale and repurchase 
agreements and securities borrowing only to the extent that cash advanced to the counterparty exceeds the 
value of the collateral received or charges over assets. Therefore, Rothesay’s credit exposure on the transactions 
is significantly lower than the amounts recorded on the balance sheet. Rothesay also has credit exposure on 
repurchase agreements and securities loaned, which are liabilities on its consolidated statement of financial 
position, to the extent that the collateral pledged for these transactions exceeds the amount of cash received. 

The following table identifies derivatives and collateralised agreements covered by enforceable netting 
arrangements (netting under master netting agreements, cash collateral and security collateral) which do not 
qualify for netting under IAS 32. 

Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the 
statement of 

financial position
£m

2022  
Related amounts not offset

Net credit 
exposures

£m

Netting under 
master netting 

agreements
£m

Cash 
collateral

£m

Security collateral 
and charges

£m

Derivative assets 37,810 (33,633) (2,399) (1,738) 40

Collateralised agreements and financing 430 – – (430) –

Total 38,240 (33,633) (2,399) (2,168) 40

Derivative liabilities (37,799) 33,633 1,346 2,793 (27)

Collateralised financing agreements (3,628) – – 3,628 –

Total (41,427) 33,633 1,346 6,421 (27)

Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.1 Credit risk (continued)
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Net amount of 
financial assets 

presented in the 
statement of 

financial position
£m

2021  
Related amounts not offset

Net credit 
exposures

£m

Netting under 
master netting 

agreements
£m

Cash 
collateral

£m

Security collateral 
and charges

£m

Derivative assets 20,769 (16,326) (654) (3,743) 46

Collateralised agreements and financing 262 – (88) (174) –

Total 21,031 (16,326) (742) (3,917) 46

Derivative liabilities (20,688) 16,326 208 4,087 (67)

Collateralised financing agreements (414) – – 414 –

Total (21,102) 16,326 208 4,501 (67)

Credit default swaps have been purchased to protect Rothesay from the default of some of its counterparties. 
The table above does not reflect the protection provided. Rothesay calls margins, receivable in cash and gilt 
instruments, against this exposure and other derivative positions. Bilateral derivative transactions have benefitted 
from additional collateral security in the form of Initial Margin since 1 September 2021. 

In a distressed situation the value of collateral may vary depending on credit quality and interest rates. The 
effectiveness of collateral as a credit risk mitigant will depend on the operational expertise of the collateral 
manager and the ability to seize, value and sell the collateral in a distressed scenario. 

Rothesay has the right of offset for certain financial assets and liabilities. Netting under master netting 
agreements of £33,633m (2021: £16,326m) reflects the offsetting of derivative assets with liabilities for which 
Rothesay has a right to set off in the event of default. Cash and security collateral have been offset to the extent 
there are credit exposures on the balance sheet. 

Credit ratings
The table below shows Rothesay’s credit exposure from financial investments (excluding derivatives), receivables 
and cash based on external and internal ratings, consistent with management's view of credit risk. The external 
rating is generally based on the median of the ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. For the 
purpose of Solvency II, unrated assets are internally rated by Rothesay’s independent credit risk function under a 
framework which has been externally validated.

AAA
£m

AA
£m

A
£m

BBB
£m

BB
£m

B
£m

Unrated
£m

Total
£m

2022 12,582 12,369 16,803 7,404 148 1 6,435 55,742

2021 14,692 18,505 17,073 6,883 310 – 6,429 63,892

We have excluded derivatives and other assets in the table as the derivatives are collateralised and we feel the 
presentation above increases clarity of the disclosure and corresponds more closely to the way in which we 
measure the credit risk. The difference between the total assets shown in the table above and the assets under 
management (APM) is:
• derivative assets of £37,810m (2021: £20,769m); and
• other assets of £868m (2021: £685m); less
• payables and financial liabilities of £47,166m (2021: £22,853m).

Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.1 Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)
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AAA rated assets include Government bonds, supranational bonds, sub sovereigns, covered bonds, US not-for-
profit private universities, rate reduction bonds and certificates of deposit. AA rated assets include gilts and 
corporate bonds. Other net credit exposures rated A and BBB include investments in regulated infrastructure 
assets and commercial real estate loans, as well as unsecured corporate bonds.

Unrated assets are UK and Dutch residential mortgages that are not individually rated. 

Other than a small number of residential mortgages, as of the current and prior year end there were no financial 
assets past due.

F.2.2 Market risk
Market risk is the risk of changes in the value of Rothesay’s net financial position due to changes in market prices. 
Financial investments are accounted for at fair value and, therefore, fluctuate on a daily basis. Certain liabilities 
are also exposed to market risk. Categories of market risk include the following: 
• Interest rate risk arises from discounting cash flow mismatches across all future dates. Profits and losses are 

generated through changes in the level, slope and curvature of interest rate curves. The risk is hedged closely 
by matching assets and liabilities and by using interest rate swaps. Consideration is given to Rothesay’s IFRS, 
MCEV and solvency risk positions when determining the appropriate hedging strategy. 

• Inflation rate risk results from mismatches in the index linkage of liabilities and assets. Profits and losses are 
generated through changes to the level, slope and curvature of inflation curves. The risk is hedged by closely 
matching assets and liabilities and by using inflation swaps.  

• Currency rate risk results from mismatches in the denomination of liabilities and assets. Profits and losses are 
generated due to changes in the level of foreign exchange rates. The risk is hedged using spot foreign exchange 
and cross-currency swaps. 

• Property risk results from investments that are secured on commercial or residential properties. In some 
instances, this risk may arise from the potential impact of climate change on properties (including the need to 
improve the carbon efficiency of buildings). Profits and losses may be generated by material movements in spot 
or forward property prices. This risk is mitigated through strict underwriting criteria, aggregate risk monitoring, 
consideration of ESG risks and low loan-to-value limits. Where the property risk becomes more material then 
prudent allowance is made for this within the credit risk adjustment. 

Rothesay manages market risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes through limits and regular 
stress and scenario testing and establishing economic hedges in related securities, derivatives and insurance 
liabilities. 

Sensitivities to market risk are shown in note E.3 (f).

Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.1 Credit risk (continued)
Credit ratings (continued) 
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Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises where timing differences and/or uncertainties occur between cash inflows and cash 
outflows. The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that Rothesay is capable of honouring all cash flow 
commitments on both an ongoing basis and in highly stressed scenarios, without incurring significant cost or 
business disruption. 

Rothesay's liquidity policy is designed to ensure the availability of sufficient funds to meet cash flow requirements 
on a timely basis via: 
• Maintenance of substantial excess liquidity. Rothesay seeks to enter into long-term, illiquid investments that 

match its liabilities in order to maximise the value of the illiquidity premium. To mitigate residual liquidity risk, 
Rothesay maintains substantial excess liquidity to meet a broad range of potential cash outflows in a stressed 
environment including collateral outflows and financing obligations.

• Entering into repurchase agreements and derivative and reinsurance agreements that allow Rothesay to post 
corporate bonds as collateral rather than just cash and gilts. 

• Conservative asset/liability management. Rothesay seeks to maintain funding sources that are sufficiently long 
term in order to withstand a prolonged or severe liquidity-stressed environment. Only the most liquid assets 
held on Rothesay’s balance sheet are assumed to be available to meet potential stressed liquidity requirements.

• Maintenance of a comprehensive liquidity contingency plan.

The liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that a prudent level of liquidity is maintained 
on a spot basis, but also under stressed market conditions, at which time liquidity may leave Rothesay 
through collateral outflows and ongoing business obligations such as expenses and undrawn investments. 
A comprehensive analysis of all sources of liquidity risk to which the Group is exposed is maintained. Based 
upon this analysis, an extensive suite of stresses is considered as part of the liquidity management framework, 
including onerous market shocks, against which limits are applied by the Board. 

Management is responsible and accountable for managing liquidity risks within prescribed limits that are set 
by the Board and are overseen by the Board Risk Committee. The second line Risk function ensures that an 
appropriate framework is in place for assessing, monitoring and managing liquidity risk. Liquidity is managed for 
Rothesay as a whole, in addition to at a Solvency II fund level. Risks are monitored and controlled through strong 
oversight, and independent control and support functions across the business.

Action was taken throughout the year to ensure that the Group’s liquidity position remained robust during 2022, 
particularly when markets were at their most volatile. 

The following table details Rothesay’s financial liabilities and assets by maturity. Cash flows arising from financial 
investments and liabilities have been disclosed using undiscounted expected contractual cash flows. The cash 
flows have been adjusted for credit risk as this is the best estimation of the flows used to back the liabilities. 
Further details of the probability of default are included in note E.3(b). The table excludes insurance liability and 
insurance cash flows, totals of which are included in note E.3. The table also excludes lifetime mortgage cash flows 
which are included in note D.2 and leasehold cash flows which are included in note I.5. Prior year comparatives 
have been re-presented to remove prepayments which have already been paid as these do not meet the 
definition of a financial asset.
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Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

2022

Less than 1 year
£m

1 to 5 years
£m

Over 5 years
£m

Total
£m

Financial assets

Financial investments 18,775 26,704 88,574 134,053

Accrued interest 558 – – 558

Receivables 2,244 109 – 2,353

Cash and cash equivalents 270 – – 270

21,847 26,813 88,574 137,234

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (11,259) (15,305) (30,146) (56,710)

Payables (5,429) – – (5,429)

Borrowings – (743) (1,021) (1,764)

Accruals (89) (9) – (98)

(16,777) (16,057) (31,167) (64,001)

Net 5,070 10,756 57,407 73,233

2021 restated

Less than 1 year
£m

1 to 5 years
£m

Over 5 years
£m

Total
£m

Financial assets

Financial investments 14,290 13,167 69,182 96,639

Accrued interest 417 – – 417

Receivables 455 8 – 463

Cash and cash equivalents 353 – – 353

15,515 13,175 69,182 97,872

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (6,028) (2,717) (14,907) (23,652)

Payables (1,751) – – (1,751)

Borrowings – (742) (983) (1,725)

Accruals (71) – – (71)

(7,850) (3,459) (15,890) (27,199)

Net 7,665 9,716 53,292 70,673
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Note F – Risk and capital management (continued)
F.2 Risk management and analysis (continued)
F.2.4 Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events. Operational risk includes project risk and cyber risk. Rothesay manages operational risk 
through the development and maintenance of an effective risk management framework which ensures that 
a comprehensive internal control environment is in place. This is supported by regular risk and control self-
assessments coordinated, challenged and reported by the second line, which allow risk levels to be measured and 
control enhancements to be developed in line with Rothesay’s risk appetite. 

Rothesay also uses scenario analysis to explore key areas of operational risk, ensuring that the implications of 
adverse operational risk events crystallising are well understood and that, where appropriate, additional controls 
or contingency plans are introduced to improve operational resilience. 

Rothesay has important outsourcing arrangements in place, which are subject to extensive due diligence at 
the point of entering into them, but also to ongoing review, with oversight provided by the Business Controls 
Committee. Oversight of these arrangements considers the information security risk that Rothesay is exposed 
to, the performance of the third party with respect to service level agreements, and other relevant information 
(e.g. their ongoing creditworthiness, and where relevant, their readiness to accommodate Rothesay’s growth). 
Strategic projects are monitored by Rothesay’s change management function and relevant committees and are 
required to operate according to our project management framework.

Rothesay seeks to mitigate cyber risk through robust processes and controls including data protection, 
penetration testing and staff training, and maintains ISO 27001 and ISO 22301 accreditation. Operational risk 
also includes the risk of conduct failure – a risk that is managed by the business and overseen by the Compliance 
function and the Customer Conduct Committee.

F.2.5 Insurance risk
Insurance risk is the risk of changes in the value of Rothesay’s net position due to changes in the insurance 
contract liabilities. Insurance risk may occur either through changes in actual demographic experience or revised 
expectations of future experience. The main categories of insurance risk include the following: 
• Demographic risk arises from current mortality or spouse/dependant experience being lighter than that assumed. 

The risk is hedged by external reinsurance. 
• Longevity improvement risk represents the risk of future mortality rates improving at a faster rate than 

assumed. The risk is hedged by external reinsurance. 
• Expense risk results from future expenses required to maintain the business being higher than expected. This 

risk is managed through budgeting and robust expense management.
• Data risk arises from the risk that the cost of correcting residual data errors exceeds the provisions held against 

this risk. This risk is managed through detailed due diligence, exclusion of known data issues and prudence in 
quantifying appropriate provisions. 

As at 31 December 2022, 89% of longevity risk was reinsured (2021: 84%). Risks are monitored and controlled by 
the actuarial function and overseen by the Chief Actuary and the risk function.
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Note G – Other statement of consolidated financial position notes 
G.1 Deferred tax assets 

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the financial statement date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets/liabilities is reviewed at each financial reporting date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each financial reporting 
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the financial reporting date. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax relates to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

Deferred tax balances comprise:

2022
£m

2021
£m

Other temporary differences 13 3

Total temporary differences 13 3

The movements in the deferred tax balances were as follows:

2022
£m

2021
£m

At 1 January 3 5

Deferred tax credited to equity (1) –

Current year income statement charge 11 (2)

At 31 December 13 3

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that, based on management’s assessment, they are 
regarded as recoverable. Management considers it appropriate to recognise a deferred tax asset in light of 
forecast future profits and the history of profits within the Group.

Other temporary differences are the results of differences between the accounting and tax basis which will 
reverse over time.

In the Spring Budget 2021, the Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate would 
increase from 19% to 25%. This was enacted into law on 10 June 2021. On 23 September 2022, The UK Chancellor 
of the Exchequer announced that the intended increase in the UK corporation tax rate referred to above would 
be cancelled. On 14 October Liz Truss, the then Prime Minister reversed that decision made as part of the 'Mini 
Budget' and confirmed that the corporation tax rate will increase to 25% from the current 19% rate as of 1 April 
2023. As a consequence, at balance sheet date deferred tax is still reflected at 25% in these financial statements.
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Note H – Interests in subsidiaries and associates
H.1 Investment in unconsolidated structured entities

Rothesay has interests in investments which are classified under IFRS as unconsolidated structured entities. A 
structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominating factor in 
deciding who controls the entity, such as when voting rights might relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant 
activities are directed by means of contractual arrangement. Structured entities include those entities that have 
restricted activities or a narrow and well-defined objective. These structured entities have not been consolidated as 
Rothesay does not have the power to affect their returns. 

Rothesay has interests in unconsolidated structured entities as described below: 
• investment in collective investment schemes which allows Rothesay to receive profit or income from the

underlying assets held in the schemes. These are all large established money market funds of which the total 
asset value of the funds was £353bn (2021: £282bn);

• loans granted to and notes issued by special purpose vehicles (SPVs) secured by the assets held by the 
SPV such as commercial or residential real estate; 

• debt securities issued by SPVs secured by financial receivables; and 
• loans granted to SPVs secured by financial receivables

The value of Rothesay’s interests is included within financial investments (see note D.2).

As at 31 December 2022, our total interest in such entities, reflected on Rothesay’s statement of financial position 
and classified as financial investments held at fair value through profit or loss, was £11,472m (2021: £13,271m). 
The recorded fair value represents Rothesay’s maximum loss exposure to these unconsolidated structured 
entities. The £2bn decrease in the balance was predominantly driven by the mark-to-market decrease in the value 
of loans secured on property. 

The interest income recognised in relation to these investments was £281m (2021: £193m).

A summary of Rothesay’s interest in unconsolidated structured entities is provided below and has been 
recognised on the balance sheet:

2022
£m

2021
£m

Collective investment schemes 4,586 5,405

Government sub sovereign and agency obligations 40 50

Corporate bonds and other corporate debt 2,057 1,556

Loans secured on property 4,789 6,260

Total 11,472 13,271
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Note H – Interests in subsidiaries and associates (continued)
H.2 Investments in subsidiaries
The financial statements include the financial statements of Rothesay Limited and the subsidiaries listed in the 
following table:

Group undertakings
Country of 
incorporation

Primary business 
operation

2022
£m

2021
£m

2022
% equity 
interest

2021
% equity 
interest

Rothesay Pensions Management Limited UK Service company 1 1 100% 100%

Rothesay Life Plc UK Life insurance 2,464 2,464 100% 100%

LT Mortgage Financing Limited UK Service company 6 6 100% 100%

Rothesay Property Partnership 1 LLP UK Service company – – 100% 100%

Rothesay MA No.1 Limited UK Service company 5 5 100% 100%

Rothesay Mortgages Limited (formerly known as 
Rothesay MA No.2 Limited)

UK Service company – – 100% 100%

Rothesay MA No.3 Limited UK Service company 2 2 100% 100%

Rothesay MA No.4 Limited UK Service company – – 100% 100%

Rothesay Asset Management UK Limited UK Service company 10 5 100% 100%

Rothesay Asset Management Australia Pty AUS Service company 5 – 100% 100%

Rothesay Asset Management North America LLC 
(formerly known as Rothesay Asset Management 
US LLC).

US Service company 5 5 100% 100%

Subsidiaries are held at cost less impairment.

The above subsidiary undertakings, with the exception of Rothesay Asset Management North America LLC 
and Rothesay Asset Management Australia Pty Ltd, are registered in the United Kingdom. The registered office 
and principal place of business for all UK subsidiary undertakings is The Post Building, 100 Museum Street, 
London WC1A 1PB. 

Rothesay Asset Management North America LLC (formerly known as Rothesay Asset Management US LLC) is 
registered in Delaware, United States of America. The registered office is Corporate Trust Center, 1209 Orange 
Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, New Castle County, USA.

Rothesay Asset Management Australia Pty Ltd was incorporated during July 2021 and is registered in New South 
Wales, Australia. The registered office is Level 4, Deutsche Bank Place, 126 Phillip Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, 
Australia. 

Rothesay Property Partnership 1 LLP was incorporated during March 2021 and has not commenced trading.

Rothesay Mortgages Limited (formerly known as Rothesay MA No.2 Limited) was incorporated during March 2019 
and underwent a name change in September 2022.

Rothesay MA No.4 Limited (RMA4) was incorporated during November 2019, RMA4 remains dormant.

During October 2019, Rothesay established a charitable foundation, the Rothesay Foundation; this entity is not 
incorporated into the consolidated financial statements as the charity is controlled by its trustees rather than 
Rothesay Limited or the Group.
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Note I – Other notes
I.1 Company loss
The loss for the financial year of the Company was £7m (2021: loss of £6m). As permitted by Section 408 of the 
Companies Act 2006, the Company’s statement of comprehensive income has not been included in these financial 
statements.

I.2 Share-based payments

Historically, the cost of equity-based transactions with employees has been measured based on grant-date sale value. 

The fair value was determined at grant date and expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period in profit 
and loss. At each reporting date Rothesay revised its estimate of the number of shares that were expected to be issued 
and recognised the impact of the revision of original estimates.

During December 2020, Rothesay amended its remuneration policy in relation to the deferred equity award plan 
(previously known as the Long Term Stock Incentive Plan) to give employees the choice of receiving cash or equity for 
vestings from December 2021 onwards. For these awards, the fair value of the grant will now be reassessed at each 
reporting period and any change charged to profit and loss.

Share-based employee awards that require future services are amortised over the relevant service period. Expected 
forfeitures are included in determining share-based employee compensation expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Rothesay created a stock incentive plan, now known as the deferred 
equity award plan which provided for grants of restricted stock units (RSUs). 

Rothesay issues RSUs to the employees under the deferred equity award plan, primarily in connection with year-
end compensation. These RSUs vest and deliver as outlined in the applicable RSU agreements. Vesting is subject 
to the recipient not having left employment or having left employment as a result of death, permanent illness, 
redundancy or retirement (subject to Remuneration Committee approval). Delivery of the RSUs is in the form of 
shares or an equivalent amount of cash (subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee). All RSUs have 
a future service requirement. Note that we have provided an estimate for the number of RSUs granted during the 
year because, although the awards have been approved in principle by the Remuneration Committee, the actual 
number will not be finalised until after the financial statements have been approved.

The activity related to the deferred equity award plan RSUs is set out below:

2022
No. of RSUs

2021
No. of RSUs

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 11,503,926 14,046,916

Forfeited during the year (102,461) (238,851)

Vested during the year (5,813,603) (6,587,517)

Granted during the year 5,227,239 4,283,378

Outstanding at the end of the year 10,815,101 11,503,926

On 3 March 2020, the Company established a new HMRC-approved employee share plan known as the Employee 
Share Incentive Plan (ESIP). Under the ESIP, Rothesay offered shares to all eligible UK employees as part of year-end 
compensation. The rules governing withdrawal of the shares from the ESIP Trust and subsequent tax treatment 
are set by HMRC. They are disclosed as employee scheme shares until they are withdrawn. The ability to withdraw 
shares is generally subject to the recipient not having left employment before three years from grant date.
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Note I – Other notes (continued)
I.2 Share-based payments (continued)
The activity related to the ESIP RSUs is set out below:

2022
No. of RSUs

2021
No. of RSUs

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 492,300 223,200

Forfeited during the year (56,973) (35,100)

Granted during the year 269,382 304,200

Outstanding at the end of the year 704,709 492,300

The methodology for calculating the fair value of the RSUs is intended to give a price consistent with the price 
paid by MassMutual and GIC for Blackstone’s shareholding at the end of 2020. The weighted average fair value of 
the RSUs at 31 December 2022 was £3.86 (31 December 2021: £4.15).
 
Share appreciation plan
During December 2020, a new long-term share appreciation plan (the SARs plan) was created which provides 
for grants of cash-settled share appreciation rights (SARs). The SARs provide the right to receive the upside on a 
fixed proportion of an agreed value of Rothesay shares over a defined time horizon, paid out in cash, subject to 
achievement of returns above an agreed hurdle. The SARs were awarded for the first time in 2021 and vest and 
deliver as outlined in the applicable agreement. Vesting is subject to the recipient not having left employment 
or having left employment as a result of death, permanent illness, redundancy or retirement (subject to 
Remuneration Committee approval). All SARs have a future service requirement. Share appreciation rights were 
granted in January 2021, December 2021 and December 2022.
 
The valuation of the SARs is based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model and uses the same methodology  
for valuing shares as is used for share-based payments but with adjustments for payment of dividends in the 
vesting period. The weighted average fair value and assumptions used to determine the fair value of the SARs  
are as follows:
• Weighted average fair value at grant date: £0.69
• Expected volatility: 30%
• Outstanding vesting period: three years from issue
• Risk free interest rate: nil
 
The number of SARs awarded is as follows:

2022
No. of SARs

2021
No. of SARs

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 50,726,066 –

Forfeited during the year – –

Vested during the year – –

Granted during the year 25,966,977 50,726,066

Outstanding at the end of the year 76,693,043 50,726,066

Expenses in relation to share-based payment schemes
Expenses of £20m (2021: £38m) have been charged to the profit and loss of Rothesay during the year in relation 
to the various share-based payment schemes. The year-on-year decrease has been driven in part by the reduction 
in share price. 
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Note I – Other notes (continued)
I.3 Related parties disclosures 
Ultimate holding companies
Based on the percentage of nominal share capital owned, the shareholdings of Rothesay’s institutional investors 
are as follows:
• GIC Private Limited: 49% 
• MassMutual Financial Group: 49% 

The remaining percentage is owned by the Directors, management, employees, the Trust and the ESIP Trust 
(see note C.2).

Related party transactions
Rothesay entered into various transactions with fellow participating interests which are subject to common 
control from the same source. 

2022
£m

2021
£m

Statement of comprehensive income

Change in the reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance 
recoveries (168) 40

Finance costs (18) (18)

Operating expenses (5) (7)

Statement of financial position

Financial investments 187 –

Reinsurance 31 199

Borrowings 299 299

Capital 1,548 1,548

Financial investments represent a loan secured on property which is subject to common control from one of our 
shareholders. We have written a number of reinsurance contracts with our shareholder MassMutual. All related 
party transactions were discussed and approved by the Board.

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel comprise the Directors of the Company, Directors of subsidiary undertakings and 
certain members of senior management.  

There are no material transactions between Rothesay and its key management personnel other than the 
transactions discussed below: 

2022
£m

2021
£m

Salaries, bonus and other employee benefits 24 21

Equity-based compensation payments 14 15

Pension costs 1 –

Total transactions 39 36

 
On 29 March 2022, members of key management personnel and their families sold 1,683,216 B ordinary shares 
to the employment benefit trust for consideration of £7m. On 31 March 2022 members of key management 
personnel and their families bought 4,819,277 B ordinary shares from the employment benefit trust for 
consideration of £20m.
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Note I – Other notes (continued)
I.3 Related parties disclosures (continued)
Transactions with key management personnel (continued)
The tables below represent transactions between Rothesay Limited and its subsidiaries RPML, RLP and Rothesay 
Asset Management UK (RAM UK).
Transactions with RPML

2022
£m

2021
£m

Statement of financial position 

Other payables 22 21

Capital 2 1

Transactions with RLP
2022

£m
2021

£m

Statement of comprehensive income

Finance costs (1) –

Cost transfer (5) (5)

Statement of financial position 

Other payables 80 49

Capital 2,464 2,464

Transactions with RAM UK
2022

£m
2021

£m

Capital 10 5

Transactions with LT Mortgage Financing Limited
Between 2018 and 2021, £4.1bn of lifetime mortgages were transferred from RLP to its subsidiary LT Mortgage 
Financing Limited (LTMF). In September 2022, a further £0.8bn of lifetime mortgages were transferred. Whenever 
lifetime mortgages were transferred, LTMF became the beneficial owner of the lifetime mortgages in exchange 
for the issue of loan notes. These transactions took place on an arm’s length basis using the fair value of the 
lifetime mortgages. Under IAS 39, the loans cannot be derecognised from the Company as RLP effectively 
maintains all the risk and rewards and control of the mortgages after the securitisations through the loan notes. 
For the purposes of determining the valuation rate of interest under IFRS 4, these securitisations are ignored.

Transactions with Rothesay MA No.1 Limited
During December 2018, £0.8bn of ground rent loans were transferred from RLP to its subsidiary Rothesay MA 
No.1 Limited (RMA1). RMA1 became the beneficial owner in the ground rent loans in exchange for the issue of 
loan notes. These transactions took place on an arm’s length basis using the fair value of the ground rent loans. 
Under IAS 39, the loans cannot be derecognised from the Company as RLP effectively maintains all the risk and 
rewards and control of the loans after the securitisations through the loan notes. For the purposes of determining 
the valuation rate of interest under IFRS 4, this securitisation is ignored.

Transactions with Rothesay MA No.3 Limited
During 2020 and 2021, €1.0bn of Dutch mortgage loans were transferred from RLP to its subsidiary Rothesay MA 
No.3 Limited (RMA3). In each case, RMA3 became the beneficial owner in the Dutch mortgage loans in exchange 
for the issue of loan notes. This transaction took place on an arm’s length basis using the fair value of the Dutch 
mortgages. Under IAS 39, the loans cannot be derecognised from the Company as RLP effectively maintains 
all the risk and rewards and control of the mortgages after the securitisations through the loan notes. For the 
purposes of determining the valuation rate of interest under IFRS 4, this securitisation is ignored.
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Note I – Other notes (continued)
I.4 Financial commitments and contingencies 
During previous years, Rothesay executed transactions to purchase partly funded bonds and forward settling 
bonds. Rothesay expects to pay a further £667m within the next five years (2021: £784m), £631m of this being due 
within 12 months of the financial reporting date (2021: £508m).

2022
£m

2021
£m

Not later than one year 631 508

Later than one year and no later than five years 36 276

Later than five years – –

Total other commitments 667 784

I.5 Leases
(a) Amounts included in the statement of financial position

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the 
net present value of the following lease payments:
• fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
• amounts expected to be payable by Rothesay under residual value guarantees; 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease; and
• lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options.

Lease payments are discounted using Rothesay’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate 
represents the cost of funding to Rothesay at the date that the lease was entered into.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the statement of 
income over the lease period so as to produce a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period.

Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
• amount of any initial measurement of lease liability; 
• leased payments made before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
• initial direct costs; and
• restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

Rothesay’s right-of-use assets include the lease on the UK office executed in May 2019. The lease for the UK office, 
The Post Building, has a duration of 17 years with a break clause at 12 years which we have assumed is exercised. 
The incremental borrowing rate for the Group was 3.37%. Rothesay’s right-of-use asset also includes the lease on 
the new US office executed in 2022. The lease has a duration of 12 years with breaks at years 7 and 10 which we 
have assumed are not exercised.

Rothesay was not a lessor during the period.
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Note I – Other notes (continued)
I.5 Leases (continued)
(a) Amounts included in the statement of financial position (continued)
Right-of-use assets

2022
£m

2021
£m

Right-of-use asset 31 30

Right-of-use asset – property

Balance at 1 January 30 34

Depreciation charge for the year (4) (4)

Additions 5 –

Closing balance at 31 December 31 30

Lease liabilities
2022

£m
2021

£m

Lease liability 44 42

Maturity analysis based on undiscounted liabilities

Current liabilities:

Less than one year 5 5

Non-current liabilities:

One to five years 28 21

More than five years 15 12

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 48 38

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
2022

£m
2021

£m

Leasehold depreciation 4 4

Financing charge on lease liabilities (included in note B.4 Finance costs) 1 1

(c) Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
2022

£m
2021

£m

Leasehold depreciation 4 4

Financing charge on lease liabilities 1 1

Total cash flows for leases 4 –
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As noted on page 32, throughout the financial statements Rothesay has used a variety of measures to provide 
stakeholders with the necessary information on the performance and financial position of Rothesay. Where it is 
possible to reconcile to the financial statements this is referenced; however, some of these measures are not on 
a consistent basis with IFRS and therefore the methodology is explained below. Where relevant, we have used 
accounting policies and assumptions that are consistent with the IFRS financial statements.

These measures are included in the monthly management information circulated and discussed by the Board.  

Assets under management
Assets under management can be derived by adjusting total assets for reinsurance, payables, derivatives and 
collateralised financing as shown in the table below. By netting down the derivative gross up, Rothesay provides a 
more meaningful value for the assets managed and a useful measure of the size of the business.

Assets under management (APM)
2022

£m
2021

£m

Total assets 94,605 85,987

Less reinsurance assets (185) (641)

Less payables and financial liabilities (47,166) (22,853)

Assets under management 47,254 62,493

Alternative presentation of IFRS profits
The alternative presentation of IFRS profits seeks to provide an explanation of the way in which profits have been 
generated by considering the movement in assets alongside the movement in liabilities. When taken together 
with the other items in the alternative analysis of profit generation, the items can be reconciled to the IFRS 
financial statements. See page 32.

Alternative Performance Measures
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Measure Reconciliation to IFRS

New business profit – IFRS new 
business profit projected to be 
realised (before release of IFRS 
margins)

New business premium (note B.1) less increase in net insurance liabilities as a 
result of new business assuming that the premiums are invested in line with 
the long-term investment strategy. This analysis has been prepared to reflect 
that as at 31 December 2022, premiums from new business have been fully 
invested into the intended target assets, with an overall risk-adjusted yield 
of 4.91% p.a. across all assets. At 31 December 2021 the future investment 
of new business premiums was expected to increase the risk-adjusted yield 
2bps, compared to a yield of 1.77% p.a.

Impact of temporary  
investment delay

The difference between the new business profit based on the actual assets 
held to back the liabilities at the reporting date and the new business profit 
above if applicable. Where there is such an impact, we anticipate that this 
will reverse as assets are invested according to the long-term investment 
strategy. The impact will be reduced to the extent that the investment mix  
on new business has changed between inception and the reporting date.  
No such delay was experienced in 2022. 

Investment profit from prior 
year – IFRS profits from 
investment of prior year 
premiums

The effect of economic assumption changes on net insurance liabilities due 
to change of investment mix in relation to business in force at the start of the 
period. Any profits made from investment in excess of those disclosed in prior 
years as the impact of temporary investment delay would offset the current 
year's impact of temporary investment delay (if applicable).

Performance of in-force book – 
Profits or losses generated on 
the in-force book of business

Investment return* expected on the assets held plus reinsurance recoveries 
and release of net insurance liabilities less premiums ceded to reinsurers and 
policyholder claims. This represents the profit that can be attributed to:
• the release of prudent margins as the business runs off (including credit 

default allowances and expense reserves) and as members exercise their 
options;

• the impact of actual demographic experience versus assumptions; and
• the investment return on surplus assets.
Note that for 2022, this also includes the benefit from investment activity not 
captured in new business profit and investment profit from prior year.

Non-economic assumption 
changes – profits or losses 
generated from non-economic 
assumption changes

Effect of non-economic assumption changes on net insurance liabilities 
(note E.3(c)).

Acquisition and Group costs Acquisition and Group costs from note B.3.
Maintenance expenses Administration expenses – recurring from note B.3.
Operating profit before tax – 
gross IFRS profit adjusted for the 
impact of market fluctuations, 
exceptional expenses and 
financing costs

Sum of the rows above.

Borrowing costs Interest payable on borrowings. This is a subset of the finance costs shown in 
note B.4.

Project and other one-off 
expenses

Administration expenses – project and other one-off expenses from note B.3.

Economic profits – profit or 
losses generated as a result of 
changes in economic conditions

Change in asset valuation due to changes in economic conditions less 
the effect of economic assumption changes on net insurance liabilities 
(note E.3(c)). Changes in economic conditions include movements in interest 
rates, inflation, exchange rates, credit spreads, credit default allowances, 
actual defaults and property prices. The release of credit default allowances 
over time is included in the performance of the inforce book.

Profit before tax Sum of the above and consistent with reported profit.

* Includes interest paid on collateral and collateralised agreements (note B.4).
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Market consistent embedded value (MCEV)
Embedded value reporting provides investors with a useful measure of the future profit streams of Rothesay’s 
long-term business. Rothesay therefore uses a number of APMs that are derived from MCEV measures in addition 
to those that are derived from IFRS-based measures.

Market consistent embedded 
value (APM)

2022
£m

2021
£m

Net worth of 
Rothesay Limited

7,940 7,774 Total IFRS equity of £6,176m (2021: £6,049m) and IFRS borrowings of 
£1,764m, (2021: £1,725m).

Value of in-force 
business

766 2,019 Value of emergence of prudent IFRS margins, allowing for the cost of 
capital.

Less: debt (2,275) (2,697) Value of debt using a market value approach rather than the amortised 
cost valuation under IFRS. However, most of the difference between 
the value of debt on an MCEV basis and IFRS borrowings arises from 
the treatment of all the Restricted Tier 1 notes as debt under MCEV.

MCEV 6,431 7,096

The movement analysis seeks to provide an explanation of the way in which MCEV has changed in the period. 
Acquisition expenses are allowed for in the MCEV value of new business and project, and other one-off expenses 
are included in other non-operating variances. Administration expenses are allowed for in the management of 
in-force business.

The MCEV value of new business is the risk-adjusted value of the business written in the period, allowing for the 
unwind of margins and cost of capital. It provides a measure of the profitability of new business once all margins 
have been released and cannot be reconciled to the IFRS financial statements.

The assumptions and methodology used in the calculation of the MCEV is subject to review and approval by  
the Board. 

Solvency measures
Rothesay is a regulated entity under the Solvency II regulatory framework and therefore uses a number of APMs 
that are derived from Solvency II measures in addition to those that are derived from IFRS-based measures. The 
assumptions and methodology used in the calculation of solvency is subject to review and approval by the Board. 

Own Funds represent the capital in excess of technical provisions and provide a measure of regulatory capital.  
A reconciliation of Own Funds to IFRS equity is provided in note F.1.

Under Solvency II, the capital required to withstand a 1-in-200-year event is known as the solvency capital 
requirement (SCR). SCR coverage is then Own Funds (capital in excess of technical provisions) divided by the SCR 
and expressed as a percentage. For 2022, an adjustment has been made to reflect the 14% impact on coverage of 
moving new liability trades to the Matching Adjustment fund. SCR coverage provides a measure of the financial 
strength of Rothesay. It is not possible to reconcile the SCR or the SCR coverage to the IFRS financial statements.

Alternative Performance Measures continued
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Other APMs
The longevity reinsurance percentage provides an indication of the extent to which Rothesay is protected from 
fluctuations in longevity through reinsurance. The percentage is derived by comparing the IFRS sensitivity of net 
insurance liabilities with the sensitivity of gross insurance liabilities to changes in assumed longevity (see note E.3(f)). 

For the following APMs, it is not possible to reconcile to the IFRS financial statements:

Measure Definition Why is this used

Customer satisfaction Policyholder feedback surveys are 
sent to all policyholders following 
interaction with them (apart from 
complaints and bereavements).

Rothesay prides itself on the quality 
of the service that it provides and 
this APM provides a measure of the 
quality of that service.

Complaints received and upheld The number of complaints received 
and upheld by Rothesay per 1,000 
policyholders.

Complaints provide a useful 
indication of customer  
(dis)satisfaction.

These metrics are regularly discussed by the Customer Conduct Committee.
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Acquisition costs Acquisition costs comprise the expenses associated with the origination of new 
business, including annual compensation for employees.

Administration expenses – 
recurring

Administration costs (shown in note B.3) represent the cost of administering the 
in-force book of business. They include both outsourcing costs and other costs 
incurred by Rothesay.

Alternative Performance 
Measure

Rothesay’s strategy is focused on protecting the security of policyholder benefits, 
growth through writing value-driven new business and, ultimately, delivering 
sustainable shareholder value. In the opinion of the Directors, the prescribed 
IFRS results and disclosures do not capture long-term value creation or changes 
to capital requirements and therefore do not fully reflect the performance, 
Rothesay therefore uses a number of Alternative Performance Measures which 
focus on value creation and capital strength.

Annuity A series of regular payments made to an individual until their death. Payments 
may be indexed.

Assets under management See Alternative Performance Measures.

Best estimate liability (BEL) The liabilities of Rothesay calculated on a best estimate basis under Solvency 
II and IFRS 17, i.e. where all the assumptions made in the calculation are best 
estimate.

Bid price A bid price is the price a buyer is willing to pay for a security.

Bulk annuity A bulk annuity, sometimes referred to as a bulk purchase annuity, is a contract 
between a defined benefit pension scheme and an insurance company, whereby 
an insurance company insures some or all of the annuities being paid by the 
pension scheme.

Buy-in Held as an asset of the pension scheme, a bulk annuity buy-in is a contract 
that covers all or some of the benefits for a subset of scheme members. The 
scheme retains responsibility for paying pensions to members but the contract 
protects the scheme against all risks relating to the insured benefits, for example 
longevity risk and inflation risk.

Buy-out The bulk annuity buy-out is a contract that covers all of the benefits for all or a 
subset of scheme members. The insurer issues individual policies to members 
under which pensions are paid. Once all benefits are covered, the pension 
scheme can be wound up.

Carbon intensity A measure of emissions that allows for comparison between entities of different 
size. It is measured in t CO2e/million USD of revenue annually.

Collateralised agreements/
investments

Loans secured on property or other collateral.

Collective investment 
schemes

A way of investing money alongside other investors.

Contractual Service Margin 
(CSM)

Defined within the IFRS 17 standard as unearned profit on a group of contracts 
that relate to future service to be provided. 

Corporate bonds and other 
corporate debt

These are debt securities issued by corporations which are not guaranteed by 
Governments.

Covered bonds Covered bonds are debt securities issued by a bank or mortgage institution and 
collateralised against a pool of assets.

Credit risk The risk of loss or of adverse change in the financial situation resulting from 
fluctuations in the credit standing of issuers of securities, counterparties and  
any debtors.
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Currency rate risk The risk that asset or liability values, cash flows, income or expenses will be 
affected by changes in exchange rates. Also referred to as foreign exchange risk.

Customer satisfaction See Alternative Performance Measures.

Currency translation Gains and losses incurred when translating the overseas subsidiaries into the 
sterling consolidated balance sheet.

Deferred annuities Annuities or pensions due to be paid from a future date or when the policyholder 
reaches a specified age.

Demographics Statistical data relating to the population and particular groups within it.

Distributable profits A company’s profits available for distribution are its accumulated realised profits.

Economic profits See Alternative Performance Measures.

Employee benefit trust 
(EBT)

A trust established to purchase and hold shares of the Company for delivery 
under employee share schemes.

Equity-based compensation Share-based transactions awarded under incentive plans.

Fair value Amount that would be received on sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Finance costs Represent interest payable on borrowings.

Fixed-for-term mortgages Residential mortgages where the interest rate payable is fixed at outset for the 
whole term of the mortgage.

Full internal model (FIM) Under Solvency II, insurer’s own model used to calculate the solvency capital 
requirement in relation to particular risks approved by the PRA.

Government, sub sovereign 
and agency obligations

A bond issued by a country’s government or corporate debt which is guaranteed 
by a Government to repay borrowed money at a specific time. 

Gross premiums written Premiums received by RLP on new business and generated through  
regular premiums.

In-force An insurance policy or contract reflected on records that has not expired, 
matured or otherwise been surrendered or terminated.

Infrastructure Investments in infrastructure such as water, energy and transportation.

Insurance risk The risk of loss or of adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities, due to 
inadequate pricing and provisioning assumptions.

International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Accounting standards that are applied in preparing Rothesay’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Investment profit from 
prior year

See Alternative Performance Measures.

Investment return Comprises all interest income on financial investments at fair value through 
profit and loss, realised investment gains and losses and movements in 
unrealised gains and losses, as well as expenses directly related to investments 
executed during the year.

Inwards reinsurance Reinsurance where Rothesay is acting as the reinsurer.

Lifetime mortgages Mortgages extended to older customers (aged 55 and over) against their 
residential property at low loan-to-value percentage. Unlike a typical residential 
mortgage, no interest is paid monthly by the customer. Instead, the interest is 
simply added to the principal loan amount with the loan only repayable on death 
or entry into long-term care of the last remaining homeowner.

Limited Price Indexation 
(LPI)

LPI is a pricing index used to calculate increases in components of scheme 
pension payments in the UK. 
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Liquidity premium An addition to the risk-free rate used when projecting investment returns and 
discounting cash flows on certain types of contracts where the liabilities are 
illiquid and have cash flows that are predictable.

Liquidity premium 
adjustment

In calculating the MCEV, liabilities are discounted using the risk-free rate plus a 
liquidity premium adjustment, designed to capture the component of yield on a 
portfolio of assets that is attributable to liquidity rather than credit risk.

Liquidity risk The risk of being unable to realise investments and other assets in order to settle 
financial obligations when they fall due.

Longevity reinsurance (%) See Alternative Performance Measures.

Longevity risk The risk that a company could be exposed to a higher payout as a result of 
increasing life expectancy.

Loss Absorbing Capacity of 
Deferred Taxes (LACDT)

The Loss Absorbing Capacity of Deferred Taxes adjustment reflects the fact that 
new deferred tax assets would be created in the event that Rothesay incurred 
unexpected losses, resulting in an increase of Own Funds. The LACDT reduces the 
SCR.

LTMF LT Mortgage Financing Limited.

Market consistent 
embedded value (MCEV)

See Alternative Performance Measures.

Market risk The risk of loss or of adverse change resulting, directly or indirectly, from 
fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market prices of assets, liabilities 
and financial instruments.

Matching adjustment The matching adjustment, a concept in Solvency II, is broadly equivalent to the 
illiquidity premium that can be earned on the illiquid assets held to back illiquid 
liabilities.

Matching adjustment fund A ring-fenced fund set up for Solvency II purposes. Liabilities written into the 
fund are discounted at risk free plus a matching adjustment derived from the 
assets in the fund. Such assets must meet eligibility criteria. 

Mortality tables A table which shows, for each age, what the probability is that a person of that 
age and gender will die before their next birthday. 

Net premiums Life insurance premiums, net of reinsurance premiums paid to third party 
reinsurers.

Net worth Under MCEV, the value of equity plus the value of borrowings on an IFRS basis.

New business New insurance contracts and reinsurance inwards sold during the period. 
Includes business acquired through purchase of companies.

New business premium Premiums paid on new business transacted during the period and adjustments 
to new business premiums from prior periods.

New business profit See Alternative Performance Measures.

No negative equity 
guarantee (NNEG)

Lifetime mortgages provide what is known as a NNEG, which means that the 
mortgage repayment amount (loan principal plus interest on redemption) cannot 
exceed the sale proceeds of the property on which the loan is secured.

Non-recurring and  
project expenditure

Administration – project and other one-off expenses (see note B.3).

NZAOA The UN-convened Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance is a group of global asset 
owners setting and reporting ambitious interim targets for net-zero emissions by 
2050.

Offer price Price at which a market maker is prepared to sell a specific security.
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Operating profit before tax See Alternative Performance Measures.

Operational risk The risk arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel or 
systems, or from external events.

Own Funds Assets in excess of those required to meet the Solvency II technical provisions. 
See also Alternative Performance Measures.

Own risk and solvency 
assessment (ORSA)

An assessment of the risk to which the business is exposed as well as solvency 
forecasting in a range of scenarios, including consideration of the stresses that 
could jeopardise Rothesay’s business plans.

Partial internal model (PIM) Under Solvency II, insurer’s own model used to calculate the solvency capital 
requirement in relation to particular risks approved by the PRA.

Performance of in-force 
book

See Alternative Performance Measures.

Pillar 1 Under Solvency II, represents the solvency capital requirement calculated using a 
standard formula or (partial) internal model.

Pillar 2 Under Solvency II, represents the required risk management principles and 
practices relating to the risk and capital estimates covered by Pillar 1.

Policyholders Rothesay generally uses the term policyholder to refer to the individual 
immediate and deferred annuitants whose benefits are insured by Rothesay 
regardless of whether the insurance is provided under a bulk annuity (where the 
contract is with the pension scheme) or a reinsurance policy (where the contract 
is with the insurance company).

Prudential Regulation 
Authority (PRA)

The PRA is the UK regulatory body responsible for prudential regulation and 
supervision of banks, building societies, credit unions, insurers and major 
investment firms.

qx qx is actuarial notation used to represent the probability of a life aged x dying 
during the year.

Rate reduction bonds A rate reduction bond is the securitisation of a stream of cash flows generated by 
a fee charged to utility consumers.

Regular premiums Payments of premium made regularly over the duration of the policy.

Reinsurance Protection sold to or purchased from another insurance company.

Reorganisation reserve Reflects the impact of Rothesay's reorganisation in 2013 which led to an increase 
in reserves of £132m, reflecting the excess of consolidated net assets to the 
historical cost of investment in subsidiary entities.

Risk adjustment Defined within IFRS 17 as the compensation that Rothesay requires for bearing 
the non-financial uncertainty in the liabilities.

Risk margin Under Solvency II, the cost of transferring non-hedgeable risks.

RL Rothesay Limited.

RLP Rothesay Life Plc, the Group’s regulated life company.

RMA1 Rothesay MA No.1 Limited.

RML Rothesay Mortgages Limited (formerly known as Rothesay MA No.2 Limited).

RMA3 Rothesay MA No.3 Limited.

RMA4 Rothesay MA No.4 Limited.

RPML Rothesay Pensions Management Limited, the Group’s service company.

RSUs Restricted share units.
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S2PMA/S2PFA S2PMA/S2PFA refer to mortality tables drawn up by the Continuous Mortality 
Investigation (CMI) of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. These represent 
version 2 of the industry standard tables derived from pensioner data from 
self-administered pension schemes. Separate tables are utilised for males and 
females. 

SCR coverage % See Alternative Performance Measures.

Secured investments Bespoke investments where very high levels of collateral have been negotiated 
and returns are generated through illiquidity premium.

Share-based payment 
reserve

The share-based payment reserve relates to equity-based compensation awards.

Single premiums Single premium policies of insurance are those that require only a single lump 
sum payment from the policyholder.

Sk Smoothing parameter in CMI longevity improvement model determining the 
weighting on recent experience. Given recent improvements, a higher Sk than 
adopted by RL will generally lead to a higher initial assumed rate of mortality 
improvement. 

Solvency capital 
requirement (SCR)

See Alternative Performance Measures.

Solvency II The solvency regime applicable from 1 January 2016. Under Solvency II, Rothesay 
is required to hold the greater of the capital required under the new Solvency II 
Pillar 1 framework and the capital required under Rothesay’s own economic 
capital models Solvency II Pillar 2.

SONIA The Sterling Overnight Index Average, abbreviated to SONIA, is the effective 
overnight interest rate paid by banks for unsecured transactions in the British 
sterling market.

Strategy risk The risk of loss in future earnings and capital arising from changes in the 
competitive, economic, legal or political environment, changing customer 
behaviour, or a failure to select appropriate strategic or long-term business plans.

Subordinated loan A fixed interest issue or debt that ranks below other debt in order of priority for 
repayment if the issuer is liquidated. Holders are compensated for added risk 
through higher rates of interest. Under Solvency II, subordinated debt is not 
treated as a liability and counts towards the coverage of the required minimum 
margin of solvency with limitations.

Surrender The termination of a life insurance policy or annuity contract at the request of the 
policyholder after which the policyholder receives the cash surrender value,  
if any, of the contract.

Third party administration 
(TPA) agreement

Contract with pensions administrator to process claims and payroll on behalf  
of Rothesay.

Value of new business  
on an MCEV basis

See Alternative Performance Measures.

Yield A measure of the income received from an investment compared to the price 
paid for the investment. Normally expressed as a percentage.

Glossary of terms continued
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